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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 16 OCTOBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Myburgh ,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   Thank you  

fo r  coming back to  the  commiss ion  even though v i r tua l l y  

bu t  I  th ink  you are  no t  tes t i f y ing  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Thank you Cha i rman.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  Thank you.   Okay Mr  Myburgh.   Yes 

thank you Cha i rperson.   As  you know our  next  w i tness i s  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  he  i s  go ing  to  be  g i v ing  ev idence v ia  Zoom.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes jus t  one second Mr  Myburgh.   Where  

is  th is  –  tha t  o ther  l igh t  tha t  i s  usua l l y  the re? I  th ink  the re  

wou ld  be  two.   I  do  no t  know I  see i t  i s  a  l i t t le  dark  bu t  

maybe I  shou ld  no t  be  concerned about  i t .   Bu t  –  ja  we l l  

the  techn ic ians –  the  peop le  who –  who dea l  w i th  i t  know 

what  I  am ta lk ing  about .   I  th ink  they w i l l  a t tend to  i t .   Okay 

Mr  Myburgh.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rpe rson as  you know Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i s  go ing  to  g ive  ev idence by  way o f  Zoom by 

agreement  w i th  the  par t ies  and w i th  your  d i rec t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps he  cou ld  be  sworn  in  as  a  
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w i tness and then  I  w i l l  take  h im to  h is  a f f idav i t  and tha t  

can then be admi t ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  have been asked to  enqu i re  whethe r  

you happy w i th  the  ar rangements?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  am happy  w i th  the  ar rangement  I  

am jus t  rea l i s ing  tha t  you w i l l  be  look ing  the re  –  I  w i l l  be  –  

I  wonder  whether  i t  was not  poss ib le  to  have th is  

somewhere  there  where  we cou ld  bo th  see h im.   But  i t  i s  

no t  a  b ig  dea l  i f  you  … 10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We have t r ied  tha t  there  was rea l l y  

o rgan ised chaos before  you ar r i ved.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh is  tha t  so .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson I  th ink  th is  i s  p robab ly  

the  best  tha t  we can do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay le t  us  s t i ck  to  th is  so  long ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And so  i f  I  m igh t  jus t  ment ion  I  th ink  

there  i s  absence o f  l igh t ing .   The l igh t ing  has been moved  

to  my le f t  so  tha t  i t  does not  sh ine  d i rec t l y  in  my face so  

tha t  I  can look a t  the  sc reen.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  i t  m igh t  appear  s l igh t l y  darker  to  

you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no tha t  i s  f ine .   That  i s  f ine .    

ADV MKH WANAZI :  I f  I  may good morn ing  Cha i r,  good 
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morn ing  Ph i l l i p .   Cha i r  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  take  the  oppor tun i ty  

to  p lace  myse l f  on  reco rd  ye t  aga in .   [00 :02 :43]  I  am a 

d i rec tor  a t  Mkhwanaz i  Incorpo ra ted  and I  [ ve ry  d is to r ted ]  

Mr  Maf ika  Mkhwanaz i  and once aga in  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.   I  th ink  the  recept ion  is  qu i te  

poor  I  cannot  hear  the  speaker.    

ADV MKHWANAZI :   Oh okay.   Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MKHWANAZI : :   I  am sor ry  about  tha t .   I  was say ing  a t  

the  –  f rom [00 :03:19]  on  record  aga in .   My name i s  10 

[ inaud ib le ] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh yes i t  i s  Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  lawyer?  

ADV MKHWANAZI :   Yes Cha i r  [ inaud ib le ] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No thank you very  much.   I  do  no t  

know what  i t  i s  bu t  when you speak i t  i s  no t  as  c lear  as  i t  

ought  to  be .   I  ment ion  tha t  so  tha t  when next  t ime there  is  

a  need fo r  you to  speak hopefu l l y  whatever  i t  i s  tha t  may  

need to  be  a t tended to  –  w i l l  he lp  be ing  a t tended to .  

ADV MKWANAZI :   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   I  hope Mr  Mkwanaz i  w i l l  be  c lear  20 

when he speaks.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  can you hear  me?  

MR MKWANAZI :   C lear ly  Cha i rman .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay i t  looks  l i ke  we can hear  h im.   

Okay Mr  Myburgh .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Oh –  admin is te r  the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion  

f i rs t .  

REGISTRAR:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  p lease  s tand up fo r  the  oa th .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Okay.   I  am s tand ing .   He is  w i tness ing  

oh  I  need to  go  back.   Wai t  I  need to  remove th is  cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   So.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Ja .   S tand ing .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Maf ika  Edmund Mkwanaz i .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you have any  ob jec t ions to  tak ing  the  10 

prescr ibed oath?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  cou ld  no t  have an ob jec t ion .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   Do  you swear  tha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  g ive  

w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e l se  bu t  the 

t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say,  so  he lp  

me God.  

MR MKWANAZI :   So  he lp  me God.  20 

REGISTRAR:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see  you took o f f  your  jacket  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i s  i t  too  ho t  where  you are?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  can  put  i t  on  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  I  th ink  pu t  i t  on  i f  you  do not  m ind.  
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MR MKWANAZI :   Okay.   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  was wonder ing  –  I  was wonder ing  

whethe r  you took your  jacket  o f f  because i t  was a l ready hot  

there  o r  whether  i t  was ant ic i  –  in  an t ic ipa t ion  o f  ea ts .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Mr  Cha i rman I  th ink  an t ic ipa t ion  o f  ea ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you Cha i rperson.   Good 

morn ing  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Good morn ing  Advocate .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You wou ld  have been p rov ided w i th  a  10 

bund le  o f  documents  I  re fe r  to  as  Bund le  4A.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cou ld  I  p lease ask  you to  tu rn  to  

page 1  in  tha t  bund le?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Okay i t  i s  4 .   Okay is  i t  wr i t ten  Exh ib i t  

BB18?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   What… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  you  go to… 

CHAIRPERSON:   What  –  I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh.   On the  20 

sp ine  the  f i r s t  wr i t ing  shou ld  be  Transnet  Bund le  04A.   I s  

tha t  cor rec t  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  and then be low tha t  i t  says  Exh ib i t  

BB18.   Have you got  the  co r rec t  one Mr  Mkwanaz i?  
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MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  have got  the  one Exh ib i t  BB18 and 

then on the  second page i t  i s  an  index BB18 then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  no ,  no  i t  i s  the  r igh t  one.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Then on the  next  page i t  i s  a  dec la ra t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  i t  i s  the  r igh t  one.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  Mr  Mkwanaz i  dur ing  the  course  o f  

your  tes t imony when I  re fe r  to  page numbers  I  am re fer r ing  

to  the  b lack  page numbers  here  on  th is  page –  page 3  on  

the  le f t  hand s ide ,  do  you see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   No I  see tha t  Advocate .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  wou ld  l i ke  jus t  to  s ta r t  o f f  by  ask ing  

you to  conf i rm.   I s  th is  your  dec la ra t ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t  Advocate .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  you  cou ld  then p lease tu rn  to  the  

end o f  your  dec la ra t ion  a t  page 20.    

MR MKWANAZI :   19 ,  20 .   Yes I  am a t  page 20.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And do you  conf i rm tha t  you  s igned 

th is  dec la ra t ion  on  the  31  August  th is  year?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  do  conf i rm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then I  wou ld  ask  you to  conf i rm 20 

a t tached to  your  a f f idav i t  where  a  ser ies  o f  annexures we  

have A ,  B  and C –  C was the  KPMG repor t .    

MR MKWANAZI :   Cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  you  then tu rn  a l l  the  way to  page – 

r igh t  a t  the  end o f  the  f lag  to  page  21.412.  Are  you there? 
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MR MKWANAZI :   Not  ye t  I  am a t  21 .412 yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We rece ived  the  annexures up  to  A ,  B 

and C we d id  no t  rece ive  D and E .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  see tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t  so  you conf i rm tha t  Annexures 

A ,  B  and C were  annexures to  your  a f f idav i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  w i l l  con f i rm yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   Thank you.   Now Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i f  you  cou ld  go  back then  p lease to  page 3 .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  I  am go ing  to  do  is  I  am go ing  

to  lead you th rough your  dec la ra t ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And I  am go ing  to  g ive  you the  

oppor tun i ty  o f  p resent ing  the  ev idence tha t  i s  se t  ou t  here  

and a f te r  tha t  I  w i l l  have a  se r ies  o f  quest ions fo r  you and  

obv ious ly  the  Cha i rperson wou ld  ask  quest ions whenever  

he  w ishes to .   You fo l low the  process.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay le t  us  s ta r t  o f f  then w i th  your  20 

persona l  de ta i l s  a t  paragraph 1 .    

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  t rue .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Were  you an Execut ive  D i rec to r  o f  

Transnet  f rom 1996 to  2001?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   You were  a lso  a  fo rmer  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i cer  o f  Transnet  and  you he ld  tha t  pos i t ion  

f rom 2001 to  2003?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then I  suppose impor tan t ly  fo r  

p resent  purposes  you say:  

“ I  am a lso  the  fo rmer  Cha i rman o f  the  board  

o f  Transnet  hav ing  he ld  tha t  pos i t ion  fo r  a  

per iod  o f  four  years  f rom December  2010 to  

December  2014. ”  10 

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You say tha t  you were  fu r thermore  

the  Cha i rman o f  the  Corpora te  Governance and Nominat ion  

Commi t tee  as  we l l  as  a  member  o f  the  Acqu is i t ions  and 

D isposa l  Commi t tee  dur ing  your  tenure  on  the  board .  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You then go on to  say a t  paragraph  

4 .1  tha t  you were  asked to  p rov ide  th is  dec la ra t ion  

essent ia l l y  dea l ing  w i th  the  dec is ion  to  en ter  in to  a 

se t t lement  w i th  Mr  Gama and re ins ta te  h im.   Is  tha t  20 

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you were  a lso  asked to  dea l  w i th  

the  Terms o f  tha t  se t t lement  agreement?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps I  cou ld  ask  you then to  p ick  

up  a t  parag raph 4 .2  and verba l i se  what  i s  conta ined there  

about  your  meet ing  w i th  Min i s te r  G igaba?  

MR MK WANAZI :   Yes I  th ink  paragraph 4 .2  conf i rms tha t  I  

was approached by  Min is te r  G igaba to  jo in  the  board  o f  

Transnet  somet ime in  December  fo r  a  per iod  o f  th ree  years  

and a lso  in  tha t  meet ing  w i th  the  –  Mr  G igaba he ind ica ted  

a  few areas o f  concern .    

One o f  those was a  lack  o f  t ransformat ion  as  there  

were  very  few sen ior  pos i t ions  he ld  by  A f r i can women.   The 10 

o ther  she was under  the  impress ion  tha t  the  procurement  

sys tems o f  Transnet  was open to  cor rup t ion  by  employees  

and o ther  s takeho lde rs .    

He emphas ised tha t  as  the  incoming Cha i r  o f  the  

board  th is  must  an  area o f  focus.   He a lso  somehow was 

aware  o f  p rob lems in  the  p rocu rement  o f  supp l ie rs  and  

serv i ces  fo r  mega  pro jec ts  in  Transnet .  

These wou ld  have inc luded  Durban Harbour  

Ent rance w iden ing ,  the  Cape Town Conta iner  Termina l ,  the  

new mul t ipurpose  p ipe l ine ,  the  Ngqura  Conta iner  Termina l ,  20 

the  coa l  l ine  expans ion ,  the  i ron  ore  expans ion  and the  

appo in tment  o f  [00 :13 :21]  fo r  eng ineer ing  procu rement  

const ruc t ion  and  management  and o ther  feas ib i l i t i es  and 

one or  the  o thers  done.    

He a lso  was under  the  impress ion  tha t  the  
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d isc ip l ina ry  mat te r  a t  Transnet  were  rac ia l l y  b iased and 

tha t  there  was a  condonat ion  p rocess a t  Transnet  t ha t  was 

genera l l y  used to  dea l  w i th  d iv i s ions w i th in  Transne t .   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   May I  jus t  ask  you to  conf i rm when  

d id  you ho ld  th is  meet ing  w i th  Min i s te r  G igaba? 

MR MK WANAZI :   I  th ink  somet ime in  October.   I  do  no t  

reca l l  the  da te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   October?  

MR MKWANAZI :   2010.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   2010?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :   2010 yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t  p lease ca r ry  on .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.   I s  there  a  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  you  

might  be  mis taken w i th  regard  to  the  month  and tha t  the  

month  m ight  be  November?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Sho I  thought  i t  was October  i t  i s  a  long  

t ime ago but  I  rea l l y  thought  i t  was October.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The reason I  am ra is ing  tha t  quest ion  is  

tha t  in  October  2010 Mr  G igaba was not  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  as  ye t  i t  was s t i l l  Ms Barbara  Hogan.   And she  20 

was d ropped f rom cab ine t  on  the  31  October  2010.   That  i s  

the  ev idence she gave.   And her  –  and Mr  G igaba ’s  

appo in tment  was announced –  wou ld  have been announced  

probab ly  on  the  31  October  o r  1  November.   So he –  he  

on ly  became M in is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Ente rpr i ses  f rom 1 
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November.  So I  am –  I  am wonder ing  whether  i t  m igh t  be  

October  o r  whether  i t  m igh t  be  November?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman your  observa t ion  i s  cor rec t  bu t  

my reco l lec t ion  i t  was somet ime in  October.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Somet ime in  October.  

MR MKWANAZI :   And –  yes –  and I  am not  su re  i f  the 

Min is te r  has pu t  in  h is  own a f f idav i t .   Maybe I  am wrong 

Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR MKWANAZI :   I t  i s  a  long t ime ago.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   He –  he  –  we l l  we have got  an  a f f idav i t  

f rom h im but  I  do  no t  th ink  i t  says  anyth ing  about  any da te  

o f  you r  meet ing .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Oh.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  I  may be mis taken.   But  o f  course  – 

o f  course  i t  i s  maybe poss ib le  tha t  maybe i f  he  had been 

in fo rmed a l ready before  the  end o f  October  maybe 

conf ident ia l l y  tha t  he  wou ld  be  tak ing  ove r.   Maybe he 

cou ld  s ta r t  look ing  a t  mat te rs  tha t  he  thought  they were  

urgent  I  am not  sure .   But  anyway  your  reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  20 

i t  was in  October?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  my reco l lec t ion  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson .   Mr  

Mkwanaz i  then cou ld  you dea l  w i th  the  next  head ing  p lease 
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–  Background to  dev ia t ions in  cont rac t s  a t  Transnet?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes Advocate  un for tunate ly  I  have to  

read f rom th is  t ranscr ip t .  

“Transnet  has a lways had a  de ta i led  

procu rement  p rocedure  manua l .   Even in  

1996 the re  wou ld  have been a  tender  

manua l  and tender  board  tha t  ge ts  amended  

f rom t ime to  t ime.   These gu ide  the  

organ isa t ion  on  how to  procure  goods and  

serv i ces  f rom t ime to  t ime.   Our  board  the  10 

December  2010  –  December  2014 board  

a lso  amended the  procurement  p rocedure  

manua l  in  2011 .   Transnet  a lso  has a  

de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y  f rameworks  fo r  –  

tha t  ge ts  rev iewed by  a  sub-commi t tee  and  

is  approved by  the  Transnet  board  f rom 

t ime to  t ime.   Th is  de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y  

f ramework  de f ines the  powers  o f  the  board ,  

a l l  sub-commi t tees and execut ives  

genera l l y  up  to  the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive .   20 

Then the  Group Ch ie f  Execu t ive  has  

au thor i t y  to  sub-de legate  to  h i s  o r  her  

execut ive  commi t tee .   And these  

de legat ions o f  au thor i t y  there  are  f inanc ia l  

l im i ts  and o the r  l im i ts  fo r  a l l  execut ives  
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inc lud ing  the  Transnet  board .   Some 

mat te rs  ge t  e leva ted to  the  shareho lde r  fo r  

approva l  fo l low ing the  gu ide l ines  in  a  

shareho lder  compact .   In  these  f inanc ia l  

l im i ts  execut ives  can increase ce r ta in  

cont rac t  va lues by  a  de f ined percentage or  

no t  exceed cont rac t s  by  a  predetermined  

amount .   There  are  f inanc ia l  l im i ts  on  

appo in tment  o f  consu l tan ts  and o ther  

serv i ce  prov iders .   Shou ld  these be  10 

exceeded dur ing  execut ion  the  respons ib le  

execut ive  must  repor t  to  h is  o r  he r  manager  

so  tha t  the  issue can be re fer red  back to  

the  d iv i s iona l  o r  Transnet  Acqu is i t ion ing  

Counc i l  o r  the  Transnet  board  i f  i t  was the  

or ig ina l  approva l .   In  most  cases the  

Transnet  in te rna l  aud i t  ge ts  invo l ved to  

de termine a  f ru i t less  and  waste fu l  

expend i tu re .   Th is  i s  how dev ia t ions in  

cont rac ts  a re  ident i f ied .   The s t ruc ture  tha t  20 

approved tha t  cont rac t  must  de termine i f  

the  condonat ion  is  g ran ted or  no t .   A l ine 

manager  o f  the  o f fender  must  take  

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  i f  war ran ted. ”  

Can I  cont inue?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes p lease.   So then in  the  next  par t  

o f  your  dec la ra t ion  under  head ing  6  you dea l  w i th  as  you 

put  i t  The h i s to ry  o f  dev ia t ions a t  Transnet .   And tha t  runs 

th rough pages 6 ,  7 ,  8 ,  9 ,  10 ,  11 ,  12  and then a t  13  you  

dea l  w i th  condonat ions a t  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l .   A t  14  

Dev ia t ions in  respect  o f  mega pro jec ts  and then one goes 

a l l  the  way to  17  be fore  you then dea l  w i th  Mr  Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  i s  i t  tha t  you want  to  say about  

the  h is to ry  o f  dev ia t ions a t  Transnet?  10 

MR MK WANAZI :   I  w i l l  no t  read the  submiss ion  l ine  by  l ine  

bu t  in  a  nu tshe l l  the  –  there  was a  s t range –  i t  i s  not  

s t range i t  i s  par t  o f  the  PPM by the  way wh ich  the  

Procurement  Procedure  Manua l  wh ich  does a l low fo r  

cer ta in  dev ia t ions bu t  they need to  be  approved fu r ther  up  

and a lso  i t  a l lows  fo r  condonat ions .  

 So what  I  was t ry ing  to  ske tch  here  and by  the  way 

the  th ings tha t  I  ment ioned in  my submiss ion  are  events  o f  

f rom 2005,  2006 ,  2007,  2008 and 2009.   I  ind ica te  tha t  

there  were  many dev ia t ions.   There  were  many 20 

condonat ions and there  is  th ree  tha t  comes to  m ind 

because they were  majo r.  

 There  is  one on the  appo in tment  o r  the  condonat ion  

o f  the  VAE con t rac t  wh ich  somehow became i r regu la r.   

Because when the  approva l  was done I  th ink  i t  was  done a t  
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R980 mi l l ion  and  by  the  t ime i t  reached my o f f i ce  as  an  

ac t ing  Group CEO to  –  to  fo r  condonat ion  the  amount  was  

R1.778 mi l l ion  wh ich  is  R1.8  b i l l i on  rough ly.  

 Now –  and funny enough tha t  par t i cu la r  cont rac t  

imp l ica ted  a  lo t  o f  peop le  in  some i r regu la r  behav iou r.   In  

tha t  those peop le  var ious teams in  TFR,  in  Group kept  on  

t ry ing  to  f i x  th is  p rob lem and they  de layed.   I  do  no t  know 

why i t  took  so  long fo r  them to  b r ing  th is  th ing  up  to  the 

board  fo r  condonat ion .  

 But  eventua l l y  i t  came to  the  Transnet  board  10 

th rough my o f f i ce  fo r  condonat ion  and I  then e levated the  

mat te r  to  the  board  and on e levat ing  i t  I  ind ica ted  tha t  

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  needs to  be  taken aga ins t  –  i t  was most  

p robab ly  p lus  or  m inus ten  to  twe lve  execut ives  who had  

been invo lved in  –  some o f  i t  was  wor r i some.   I t  bordered  

on do ing  th ings w i thout  au tho r i t y  e tce te ra ,  e tce te ra .  

 So yes i t  was  brought  to  the  board  and a  

condonat ion  was g iven by  the  board .   So tha t  i s  a  typ ica l  –  

bu t  tha t  i s  a  b ig  dev ia t ion .   And tha t  i s  why i t  needed  board  

approva l .  20 

 Another  one wh ich  comes to  m ind  bes ides the  VAE 

cont rac t  i s  the  HMG cont rac t  wh ich  the  execut i ves  –  i t  

s ta r ted  as  a  f low  cont rac t .   Then about  a  year  and  a  ha l f  

in to  a  f low cont rac t  they then changed i t  to  a  – a  HMG 

cont rac t .   But  the  processes fo l lowed were  f lawed and  
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there fo re  i t  became an i r regu lar  cont rac t .  

 And in  execut ing  tha t  cont rac t  ce r ta in  e lements  o f  

tha t  cont rac t  were  imp lemented i r regu lar l y  and there  is  

some e lement  o f  f ru i t less  and was te fu l  expend i tu re  in  tha t  

cont rac t .  

 I t  came f rom a  d iv is ion  ca l led  Transnet  Cap i ta l  

P ro jec ts  and the  CEO was Ms Moi ra  Moses.   And o f  course  

even th is  cont rac t  the  HMG had to  come th rough  cer ta in  

processes and be looked a t  and  a  condonat ion  sor t  o f  

requ i red .   A l though the  p ro jec t  i t se l f  was fa r  b igger  i t  i s  10 

jus t  the  i r regu lar i t y  o f  i t  tha t  requ i red  a  condonat ion .   And 

in  tha t  p rocess they –  the  Group  CEO Br ian  Mole fe  was 

ins t ruc ted  to  take  d isc ip l inary  ac t ions aga ins t  no t  on ly  Ms 

Moi ra  Moses bu t  maybe th ree  to  four  o ther  execut ives  

w i th in  Transnet  Cap i ta l  P ro jec ts .  

 Then another  b ig  one wh ich  needed –  now these 

condonat ions are  now done in  2011 and ye t  these cont rac ts  

were  s igned maybe in  2005/2006/2007.  

 Another  b ig  one  was in  AWP Arab Wal ly  Passes  

where  fo r  some reason they were  a lso  an  eng ineer ing  20 

procurement  cons t ruc t ion  management  se rv i ce  p rov ide r.  

 The cont rac t  there  increased f rom about  R1.7  b i l l i on  

to  over  R3 b i l l i on  and aga in  the  board  somet ime in  2011  

had to  take  a  dec i s ion  to  condone and a lso  spec i fy  tha t  

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  must  be  taken on those invo lved .  
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 Now I  jus t  ment ioned these th ree  but  there  were  

o thers .   Not  too  many because I  am focuss ing  on  the  b ig  

ones.   Smal l  ones in  the  KPMG repor t  a re  ment ioned in  –  I  

am not  su re  how many in  to ta l  there  were  bu t  yes  o thers  

condonat ion  was  granted o thers  condonat ion  was not  

g ran ted.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t  cou ld  I  perhaps jus t  take  you  

back to  the  beg inn ing .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  parag raph 6 .1  you say –  th is  i s  a t  10 

page 6 .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“On 22 December  and in  February  2011 –  

sor ry  22  December  2010 and in  February  

2011 the  Pub l ic  Pro tec to r  made cer ta in  

a l legat ions about  Transnet  Procurement  

Procedures and the  Gama mat te r. ”  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    20 

“The new board  appo in ted  th is  JV  o f  KPMG 

and  Nkonk i  to  invest iga te  a  number  o f  

i ssues around the  procu rement  a t  Transnet  

on  the  bas i s  o f  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec tor  

a l legat ions and  Gama’s  appea l  on  the  
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sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l . ”  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“The f i r s t  repor t  was done qu ick ly  on  the  

in fo rmat ion  –  as  the  in fo rmat ion  was  

h is to r i ca l .   I t  i s  tha t  f i rs t  repor t  tha t  was  

used by  the  board  in  i t s  de l ibera t ions.   A 

law f i rm Nor ton  Rose was consu l ted  by  

Transnet  and a  d i f fe ren t  law f i rm Webber  

Wentze l  was used by  KPMG and Nkonk i .   10 

The f ina l  repor t  was comple ted  in  November  

2011 as  there  was a  lo t  o f  res is tance f rom 

execut ives  in  coopera t ing  w i th  the  KMPG 

and Nkonk i  team. ”  

Would  you conf i rm tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  wou ld  con f i rm tha t  and maybe le t  

me add someth ing  tha t  i s  no t  c lea r ly  covered there .   There  

were  a  few board  meet ings tha t  were  –  happened in  

January.   And I  do  no t  have minutes  o f  those e tce tera .   But  

a l ready before  t he  end o f  January  Transnet  a t  the  t ime had 20 

a  funny env i ronment  where  peop le  were  coming w i th  

a l legat ions o f  th is  and the  o the r.   So yes the  mat te r  tha t  

Nkonk i  covered even though the  repor t  was pub l i shed – the  

f ina l  repor t  was  pub l i shed in  November.   The company 

knew a l ready o f  some o f  these  mat te rs  and I  am a l so  
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look ing  fo r  tha t  in fo rmat ion  because I  d id  p resent  some o f  

tha t  in fo rmat ion  to  the  board  or  a  board  sub-commi t tee  

even before  the  end o f  January  in  te rms o f  some o f  these.   

And funny enough some o f  these are  no t  even ment ioned 

even in  the  KPMG repor t .   But  I  am aware  o f  them because 

I  then fo rwarded typ ica l l y  there  was one wh ich  I  fo rwarded 

to  the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  an  i r regu lar  consu l t ing  

cont rac t  by  –  by  the  then Group Genera l  Manager.   And yes  

I  s t i l l  do  no t  have the  l i s t  o f  a l l  consu l t ing  cont rac ts  tha t  

were  en te red in to  by  –  I  s t i l l  do  no t  have i t  today.   But  a t  10 

the  t ime I  was fo rwarded w i th  wha t  looked l i ke  an  i r regu la r  

cont rac t  and I  handed i t  over  to  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  Mr  Mkwanaz i  what  you then do a t  

6 .2  i s  you s ta r t  l i s t ing  the  f ind ings o f  the  KPMG Nkonk i  

repor t .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   As  you say  wh ich  was f ina l i sed in  

November  2011.  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   And then over  the  page a t  20 

6 .4  you dea l  w i th  an  in te rna l  aud i t  repor t  da ted  May 2011.   

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then I  jus t  wanted to  make su re  

tha t  I  unders tand .   I  mean i t  seems to  me tha t  by  and la rge  
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then the  contents  o f  th is  seven or  e igh t  pages i s  rea l l y  

taken f rom the  KPMG repor t .   I s  tha t  –  i s  tha t  fa i r  enough?  

MR MK WANAZI :   Hundred percent  cor rec t  bu t  hav ing  sa id  

tha t  there  were  repor ts  l i ke  –  the re  was a  repor t  pub l i shed 

ca l led  by  Transne t  in te rna l  aud i t .   I t  was ca l led  Transnet  o r  

TFR Procurement  I r regu lar i t ies  I  th ink  i t  was done in  2008.   

I  had seen tha t  repor t .   But  now when I  ask  fo r  tha t  repor t  

i t  i s  no t  ava i lab le .   So the  fac t  tha t  I  am us ing  a  November  

KPMG f ina l  repor t  to  me rea l l y  i s  the  fac t  tha t  then KPMG 

had to  go  back and d ig  deeper  o f  what  happened as ear ly 10 

as 2005/06/07/08 and ’09.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Then Mr Mkwanazi ,  just  so 

that  I  conf i rm and understand your evidence.   You say:   

Look,  there was smal ler issues but  you have ident i f ied.   And 

I  suppose i t  is appropriate to look at  the b igger issue.   But  

you have ident i f ied three main examples.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  is the VAE contract  i f  I  understand 

you correct ly.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  that  is correct .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The HMG contract .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what was the thi rd one?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink AWP, Alan Wal ly Parson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    AWP cont ract .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  is contract .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  just  ask you to conf i rm.   As I  

understand your evidence.   You say that  condonat ion was 

granted in respect  of  a l l  of  those i rregular i t ies but  

discipl inary act ion was net  inst i tuted against  the managers 

involved.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Wait ,  wai t .   Condonat ion was granted on 

condi t ion that  the managers involved would be discipl ined.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Now, when an HMG condonat ion was 10 

granted,  Br ian Molefe was instructed to discipl ine Ms Mora 

Moses.   And I  am not  sure of  the dynamics of  those 

discussions but  Ms Mora Moses immediately resigned.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Just  to . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    A lso . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sorry.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Just  to summarise then.   In relat ion to  20 

each of  these three big cont racts . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .VAE, HMG and AWP.  Condonat ion 

was granted on condi t ion,  as you have put  i t ,  that  

discipl inary act ion be taken against  the relevant  member.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  could I  take you please to page 10 

of  your aff idavi t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And let  me d irect  your at tent ion to  

paragraph 6.5 where you deal  wi th the VAE contract .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then at  paragraph 6.5.1,  the 10 

second port ion of  i t ,  you say:  

“The VAE cont ract  of  R 960 mi l l ion in 2006,  was 

subsequent ly increased to R 1.775 mi l l ion. . .  

 Or bi l l ion actual ly.  

“Condonat ion for  cont ract  extension and payments 

wi thout  a signed cont ract  was only appl ied for in  

February 2011 and was granted by ME MKWANAZI  

in his capaci ty  as act ing GCCO, subject  to  

discipl inary act ion been taken against  those 

responsible.”  20 

 Is that  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  that  is correct  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So would . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    But  let  me.. .  I  might  have elevated that  

one to the board.   I  do not  recal l  now.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  would you conf i rm then that  

condonat ion was appl ied for?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  i t  was appl ied for.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   And then i f  you go to page 14 

of  your aff idavi t ,  paragraph 8.2 deals wi th HMG.  That  is the 

other big cont ract  that  you spoke of .   Is that  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Where do you deal  wi th  AWP?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is somewhere in the report .   I  cannot. . .  I  

am not  sure but  i t  is somewhere there.   I  wi l l  have to f ind i t  

mysel f .   Ja.   I t  is somewhere in there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you deal  wi th i t  in your  

declarat ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   I t  is actual ly in a board meet ing. . .  

minute as wel l  where. . .  I  th ink i t  was a June board meet ing 

where now this condonat ion was e levated to the board and 

the board did condone the expendi ture on AWP.  But  let  us 

come back to HMG.  Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   I  want  to then,  to take you to 

paragraph 9 and to focus then in. . .  on the discipl inary act ion 

taken against  Mr Gama.  Is there anything else that  you want  

to say in relat ion to deviat ions and condonat ion histor ical?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  real ly.   Let  us go to then paragraph 9.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Thank you.   So perhaps I  

could ask you to deal  wi th th is.   Could you start  wi th 

paragraph 9.1 and take the Chai rperson through your  

evidence in th is regard.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Should I  read i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  i t  would be bet ter i f  you 

verbal ise i t  but  of  course you are a l lowed to have regard to  

the text  of  the declarat ion.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Now, let  me f i rst . . .  let  me verbal ise i t .   

From the view of . . .  by the way,  even this verbal isat ion,  I  10 

think i t  maybe comes f rom the KPMG report ,  which was 

t ry ing to indicate that  on simi lar  matters l ike Gama, the 

company was consistent  in deal ing wi th certain issues.    

 But  then again,  on simi lar mat ters l ike Gama,  the 

company was not  consistent  in that  there are other. . .   Now 

these matters are not  ident ical ,  by the way.   We need to 

understand that .    

 Because i f  then you are looking for  detai l  into what are 

these matters.   They are not  the same.  They are not  the 

same.  Ja.   In a nutshel l ,  that  is i t .  20 

 Now in a nutshel l  as wel l .   What I  am trying to indicate 

and not  wi th certainty is that .   Had Gama been given the 

opportuni ty to go through the condonat ion process,  maybe 

the author i ty to condone might  have come with a di fferent  

sanct ion.    
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 I  do not  know.  Maybe demot ion.   Maybe dismissal .   I  

real ly do not  know.  But  there is that  possibi l i ty that  they are 

author is ing individual ,  would have come to a d i fferent  

conclusion.  

 Same as,  we had asked as a board that  those who were 

gui l ty of  certain i r regular and certain f rui t less and wasteful  

expendi ture contracts,  must  be discipl ined.   I  do not  know 

the outcome of  those disc ipl inary act ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Wel l ,  let  me take you to the 

text .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You say at  paragraph 9.2:  

“ I  submit  that  wi th regard to the Gama matter and a 

rev iew of  s imi lar  fact  matters.   The board was of  the 

view that  discip l inary act ion inst i tuted for the 

commit ted i rregular i t ies appeared rather to be an 

except ion rather than the rule.    

We further noted that  the discipl inary process was 

not  consistent ly appl ied to al l  t ransgressions but  

rather a process of  condonat ion is consistent ly  20 

appl ied wi th no discip l inary act ion being taken 

against  offenders.    

These observat ions are in l ine wi th Mr Gama’s view 

that  “he was doubtful ”  that  other  employees who 

acted in a way simi lar  to that  way he had,  had been 
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charged for tender i r regular i t ies and that  there was 

a select ive appl icat ion of  charges.”  

 You say then:  

“Gama was not  afforded the opportuni ty for  

condonement in h is matter,  based on the view that  

the t ransgressions were of  such a ser ious nature 

that  they warranted a discipl inary act ion.  

However,  evidence also suggests that  other senior  

employees had in certa in instances not  compl ied 

wi th the necessary procurement  procedures,  yet ,  10 

none of  them were subjected to  any discipl inary 

procedures as Mr Gama was.”  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  is what i t  states.   And then in 

two,  perhaps,  important  passages that  I  may ask you a 

number of  quest ions about.   You say:  

“ I  personal ly fu l ly agree wi th the disc ipl inary 

process and f ind ings of  the then Transnet Board  

The only di ff icul ty I  have,  is that  there was this 

common process in the Transnet ’s systems cal led 20 

condonat ion.  

Based on the context  of  TFR on condonat ions,  

Gama should have by vi r tue of  consistency of  i ts  

appl icat ion been afforded the opportuni ty to apply 

for condonat ion.    
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Gama was not  given the opportuni ty  to apply for th is  

by Transnet  Internal  Audi t  and the then GCEO, Ms 

Maria Ramos.  

The outcomes could have been di fferent  had he 

been afforded that  opportuni ty. ”  

 That  is what you have said,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Can I  comment? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  certainly.  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is why I  say the outcome could have 

been that  no company have been the same.  Even though i t  

would have gone through whatever. . .  . . . [ indist inct ]  

appl icat ion.   I t  could have been the same.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Just  incidental ly.   Did Mr Gama apply 

for condonat ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do not  know.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  real ly do not  know, ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then at  paragraph 9. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   Did you t ry and f ind out  

whether he had at  any stage appl ied for condonat ion? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, I  d id not  because,  as you could 
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imagine,  I  am deal ing wi th th is matter almost  seven months 

af ter Gama was dismissed.   And there,  I  was not  

communicat ing wi th him or  wi th  anybody else.   But  that  

would have been the duty of  KPMG in my interpretat ion to 

f ind out  i f  he did.   Ja,  I  do not  know.  Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now, is i t  not  the posi t ion that  an 

employee who seeks condonat ion must  request  condonat ion 

or apply for condonat ion? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now Mr Gama was a very senior employee 10 

in the company.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He,  f rom what I  understand and f rom what  

I  heard in the past  few days about TFR at  Transnet,  i t  seems 

that  TFR, i t  was the largest  div is ion at  Transnet.    

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  i t  is.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So we are talk ing here about somebody 

who was employed as CEO of  the largest  div is ion wi thin 20 

cabinet . . .  wi thin Transnet.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Within Transnet .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are talk ing about somebody who was 

leading his div is ion wi th a lot  of  people,  employees and 

other managerial  under him, who is supposed to have. . .  to 
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have had knowledge of  these pol ic ies and processes we are 

talk ing about.   Is that  not  so? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because he would be needed.. .  h is job 

needed him to even guide those under him about. . .  on these 

pol ic ies,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Therefore,  you are deal ing wi th  somebody 

whom you are supposed to expect  to have known of  the 

existence of  th is condonat ion process and that  an employee 10 

can apply for i t  i f  the employee wishes i t  to be evoked.  Is 

that  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    He should have known, yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And i f  he did not  apply for i t ,  there may be 

no reason why you or the board should bother to come to his 

assistance when he elected not  to use i t  when he knew 

about i t ,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You accept  that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do Chai rman.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   So the quest ion that  ar ises is  that  

when the issue of  condonat ion arose wi thin the context  of  h is  

dismissal  dispute.  

 I  would have expected your at t i tude,  as wel l  as the 

at t i tude of  the board to be that :   Wel l ,  one,  we are not  here 
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deal ing wi th a lonely employee.   We are deal ing wi th an 

execut ive who knows the pol ic ies of  the organisat ion.   F i rst  

of  a l l ,  d id he apply for i t?  Did he want condonat ion?   

 Because i f  he wanted condonat ion,  one would expect  

that  would have appl ied.   Did he apply for i t?   

 And i f  the answer is he did not  apply for i t ,  then the next  

th ing is:   Why should we assist  h im with someth ing that  he 

was aware of  and could have evoked and did not  evoked?  

That  is the at t i tude I  would have expected.    

 Do you think that  would. . .  that  is a fa i r  expectat ion? 10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, I  do not  have facts whether he 

did or whether he did not .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MKWANAZI :    But  when you look at  the quantum of  some 

of  the condonat ions that  we had to deal  wi th which ran into 

bi l l ions of  rands.   And those were granted subject  to 

discipl inary act ion.   I  do not  have a record of  whether  did he 

or did he not .   I  real ly do not  have that  report .  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no.   I  accept  that  you do not  know 

whether he did or he did not .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  that  is part  of  my quest ion because I  

am saying.   Since you knew as the board that  you are 

deal ing wi th an execut ive who ought to know the company 

pol ic ies and so on.    
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 When th is issue of  condonat ion was raised in the context  

of  h is dismissal .   My expectat ion is that  the f i rst  react ion 

f rom you and the board ought to have been:  Did he apply for  

i t?   

 Because th is condonat ion,  you have to apply for i t  as an 

employee i f  you wanted to be evoked.  And I  am concerned 

about why you did not  ask that  quest ion or you did not  t ry to  

establ ish whether he did apply for i t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, my interpretat ion is that  the 

KPMG Forensic should have looked into whether he d id or 10 

not .   That  is why there is an element of  doubt  as wel l ,  

whether i t  would have been granted or not  granted that  

condonat ion.    

 And whether he would have been discipl ined or  not  

discipl ined based on the other simi lar matters of  contracts 

which ran into bi l l ions and no disc ipl inary act ion was taken 

against  those individuals except  in  2011 when the offences 

were commit ted in  2005.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  but  maybe I  am not  art iculat ing my 

concern as clear ly as I  should.   You. . .  I  accept  that  you say 20 

you do not  know whether he did apply for condonat ion.    

 I  accept  that  you say that  you did not  invest igate that  

issue.   I  accept  for present  purposes that  you think KPMG 

maybe should have looked into that  issue.    

 My issue is.   My expectat ion is that  before you went  to 
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look into any number of  previous cases where condonat ion 

had been granted,  I  would have expected you and the board 

to say:   Oh, there is th is issue of  condonat ion being ra ised.   

But  condonat ion has to  be appl ied for.   We want to  f ind out  

whether he did apply.   And i f  he did apply,  what was the 

outcome of  that  process?   

 Before you could go and dig and dig and dig.   That  is  my 

quest ion.   I  am wondering why that  is not  the at t i tude you 

and the board took?   

 And I  am asking whether you think my expectat ion of  10 

what your  board should have done is  unfai r  or you accept  

that  i t  is fa i r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink i t  is  fa i r  Chai rman.  And I  

emphasise wi th your posi t ion.   And then,  of  course,  these 

things happened many years ago.   I  st i l l  do not  know i f  he 

did apply.   I t  wi l l  be of  interest  to  st i l l  get  that  informat ion 

whether did he apply or not .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And at  Transnet,  th is appl icat ion for  

condonat ion was a st range thing because at  t imes,  i t  came 20 

via Transnet  Internal  Audi t .   And now,  my recol lect ion now as 

an execut ive which is maybe in 1996 of  1997.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MKWANAZI :    In a s i tuat ion l ike this,  the request  for a 

condonat ion would not  just  have come direct ly  f rom the 
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individual .   I t  would have come in partnership wi th the 

Transnet Internal  Audi t  so that  i t  is put  on record that  as you 

get  th is  condonat ion you a lso get  the f inal  wr i t ten warning.   

That  was the cul ture then but  that  is many,  many years ago.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    In Transnet i tsel f .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay no,  that  is f ine.   My Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  you say 

that  KPMG should have looked into th is but  of  course,  you 

agreed to reinstate Mr Gama long before KPMG completed 10 

i ts invest igat ion.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .   As I  indicate,  there was a 

prel iminary repor t  by KPMG.  I f  you would recal l ,  when 

Transnet responded to the Publ ic Protector ’s let ter in  Apri l  of  

2011.   There was a prel iminary KPMG report  at tached.  Now,  

I  have not  seen that  report .    

 And i t  is also t rue that  even as ear ly as. . .  before the end 

of  January,  there was a KPMG pre l iminary report  and other  

reports f rom Transnet Internal  Audi t  on i r regular i t ies and 

procurement.   They are there.   Those reports were there.    20 

 And they art iculated these relevant  i r regular i t ies and 

also they art iculated the wrongdoings,  the sanct ions,  the no 

sanct ion.   So there was that  element of  doubt  then that  

maybe there was a lack of  consistency.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  Mr Mkwanazi ,  you deal t  wi th  Mr 
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Gama on the basis that  he had not  offered or appl ied for 

condonat ion.   That  is the basis upon which you deal t  wi th  

him.   

MR MKWANAZI :    I . . .  yes . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    In that ,  had he appl ied.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   So let  us go again . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    The outcome would have been d i fferent ,  

ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  us go to the last  sentence of  10 

paragraph 9.4.   You say,  in effect ,  i f  he had appl ied,  the 

outcome could have been di fferent .   Is that  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  us go to paragraph 9.5.    

“The incoming Transnet Board of  2010 which was 

deal ing wi th  th is mega projects that  were f rankly not  

managed wel l . ”  

 Had you somehow t r ied and deal  wi th the Gama matte r  

on the assumpt ion that  he would have been granted 

condonat ion?   20 

 I  do not  understand because. . .  i f  you just  bear  wi th  me.   

At  the end of  paragraph 9.4 you say:   Wel l ,  you do not  know 

i f  he would have.   But  then you t reat  him with  the benef i t  of  

the doubt that  he would have been.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .   But  then having said you 
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t reat  him with  a doubt,  you do not  just  do not  leave i t  there.   

Then you have got  to deal  wi th what type of  sanct ion.   And 

would you then have given Mr Gama. 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Myburgh.   Please do not 

forget  your l ine of  thought.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    there is something that  I  should have 

asked later. . .  ear l ier but  I  thought  I  would ask later but  I  

th ink I  wi l l  canvas i t  now.   

 Mr Mkwanazi ,  i f . . .  I  th ink we can accept  that  Mr Gama 10 

did not  apply for condonat ion.   Are you prepared to accept  

that  or you think he probably did or you think he may or  may 

not?   

 I  th ink by now we would have known i f  he had appl ied 

for  condonat ion.   By the. .  he. . .  there was a lengthy 

discipl inary process.   You remember that?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    At  which he was represented,  not  just  by 

an at torney,  as I  understand the posi t ion,  by even senior  

counsel .   You remember that? 20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And that  discipl inary hearing,  I  am told,  

the actual  hearing took 14-days.   And when you read the 

ru l ings of  the chai rperson,  you can see that  the matters were 

deal t  wi th extensively.   Now do you think that  Mr Gama,  i f  he 
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had appl ied for condonat ion,  he would not  have told his  

lawyers that  he appl ied for condonat ion and i t  was granted i f  

i t  was l ike that  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    He should have had.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .or  i t  was refused,  i f  i t  was refused?  He 

would have known?   

MR MKWANAZI :    He should have.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Def in i te ly,  he would have disclosed i t ,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  i t  is ant ic ipated that  he would not  have 10 

ment ioned that  he did apply for i t ,  is  i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   So we can accept  that  he did not  

apply for i t .   And actual ly,  you do know, do you not ,  that  the 

issue of  condonat ion was raised at  the discipl inary hearing 

by his lawyers.   You know that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  recal l ,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So the lawyers would have deal t  wi th al l  

of  those issues and they would have said he appl ied for 

condonat ion and i f  he was granted condonat ion,  they would 20 

have said that .   We would be knowing i t  f rom the rul ing of  

the chai rperson.    

 Or i f  he was refused condonat ion and they thought  he 

was unfai r ly refused,  they would have told the chai rperson of  

the discipl inary inquiry.   You accept  that? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So he did not  apply for condonat ion,  

okay?  And i f . . .  and you ei ther knew that  he did not  apply or 

i f  you did not  know,  to  get  to  know would have been the 

easiest  th ing,  is i t  not ,  to f ind out ,  d id he apply?  One way is 

to ask him or ask his lawyers.   You accept  that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  that ,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now, as I  understand your aff idavi t .   

The door that  you or the board used in order to get  to  

re instate him is  to say Mr Gama was not  offered the 10 

opportuni ty of  a condonat ion.   Is that . . .  am I  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    You are correct ,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now, i f . . .  is  i t  fa i r  to put  i t  that  way,  

when you are deal ing wi th an execut ive l ike Mr Gama 

because he did not  need to be offered condonat ion?  He 

knew there was th is process.   He knew he could apply for i t .   

And he elected,  for whatever reason,  not  to apply for that .   

You accept  that ,  do you not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  that ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And i f  there is  any unfairness ar is ing f rom 20 

that ,  i t  would be an unfai rness that  he brought i t  upon 

himsel f  by deciding not  apply for that  process,  is  i t  not?  You 

accept  that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You accept  that? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  that ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Once you accept  that  there was nothing 

unfai r  about  him not  having been offered the opportuni ty of  

condonat ion because he knew he could apply.   He elected 

for reasons known to himsel f  not  to apply.   Then,  is i t  not  the 

posi t ion that  then there is  no sympathy for  him?  There ought  

to be no sympathy for him.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman,  your  observat ion is  correct .   

And also,  then Chairman, i t  is a st r ingent  envi ronment at  

Transnet in that . . .  I  am not  sure how many condonat ions 10 

were granted every year in that  organisat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And I  am not  sure but  i t  was qui te  

common.  But  that  he did not  take that  advantage in terms of  

that ,  I  do not  know why he did not  do i t .   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  he cannot  blame anybody and the 

board cannot and should not  have re l ied on that  to  feel  any 

sympathy for him because this is a senior execut ive.   He 

knows the pol ic ies of  the organisat ion.   He knows these 

processes.    20 

 And at  the t ime, or af ter he had been told that  he was 

going to  face a discipl inary inqui ry,  he employed lawyers 

including senior counsel .   He had no disadvantage in  deal ing 

wi th these charges.   He had the advantage of  a legal  team at  

his disposal  to advise him.   
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 Therefore,  the board – that  is what I  am put t ing to you – 

had. . .  d id not  have grounds based on condonat ion to feel  

any sympathy for him.  What do you say ? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, I  agree wi th you but  the board 

at  the t ime, viewed a lot  of  other simi lar cases were done in 

2005/2006 and  they hung on unreso lved w i th  no  

condonat ion  fo r  f i ve ,  s i x  years  and  those condonat ions ge t  

app l ied  fo r  in  2011 because a t  tha t  t ime in  2011 we pushed 

th rough a  communica t ion  in  the  organ isa t ion  tha t  th is  

condonat ion  must  come to  a  ha l t  and a l so  we e leva ted the 10 

author i t y  to  a l low condonat ions to  the  o f f i ce  o f  the  Group  

Ch ie f  Execut ive  on ly  and on top  o f  tha t  we requested tha t  

each and every  i r regu lar i t y  in  p rocurement  must  be  

repor ted  to  the  board  and to  the  aud i t  commi t tee  regu la r ly  

because these th ings have got  an  impact  on  how we  repor t  

our  annua l  f inanc ia l  s ta tements  and a l so ,  i f  I  reca l l  in  

te rms o f  these i r regu lar i t ies ,  we then even sa id  tha t  we w i l l  

vo lun tar i l y  repor t  then to  the  shareho lder  because they 

were  an  embarrassment  to  the  organ isa t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  a l l  I  am s imply  say ing  is ,  inso far  20 

as  Mr  Gama may  have been comp la in ing  tha t  h is  d ismissa l  

was unfa i r  because o f  condonat ion ,  the  board  had no 

grounds to  re l y  on  condonat ion  to  come to  h is  ass is tance  

in  c i rcumstances  where  he  had e lec ted ,  in  c i rcumstances 

where  he  had e lec ted  not  to  invoke tha t  p rocess .   You 
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accept  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  

be fore  the  Cha i rperson asked you tha t  ser ies  o f  quest ions,  

do  I  unders tand your  ev idence to  have been in  e f fec t  tha t  

you sa id  we l l ,  look ,  le t  us  assume tha t  he  app l ied  fo r  

condonat ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The wors t  tha t  wou ld  have happened 10 

to  h im is  tha t  he  wou ld  have got  a  f ina l  warn ing  because  

tha t   was the  p recedent .   Sor ry  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Worse than not ,  no t  necessar i l y  a  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing ,  maybe worse  than tha t ,  maybe d i smissa l ,  

maybe demot ion ,  whatever  the  peop le  dea l ing  w i th  i t  wou ld  

have dec ided but  maybe worse  than tha t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  then why d id  you re ins ta te  h im? 

MR MKWANAZI :    The re ins ta tement  comes f rom a  v iew 

tha t  there  were  s im i la r  cases o r  even worse  cases where  

no  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion  was taken fo r  s ix  year  on  these 20 

cases.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you have jus t  

sa id  tha t  the  resu l t  cou ld  have been worse ,  i t  m igh t  have 

invo lved a  d ismissa l .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  know – I  do  no t  know in  te rms o f  
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–  I  am los ing  my  thoughts  a  l i t t le  b i t ,  can  you come back,  

Advocate?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we l l ,  I  mean the  rea l  p rob lem 

you have is  you do not  know wha t  wou ld  have happened  

but  fo r  some ext raord ina ry  reason  you dea l t  w i th  Mr  Gama 

in  the  most  generous fash ion  and  you jus t  d iv ine  tha t  he  

wou ld  have somehow have been re ins ta ted .  

MR MKWANAZI :    [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  tha t  he  somehow wou ld  have 

not  been d i smissed.  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  a t  the  t ime when th i s  

th ing  was be ing  dea l t  w i th  bu t ,  as  I  ind ica te ,  there  were  

c lose  to  22  o ther  execut ives  who maybe cou ld  have done  

someth ing  s im i la r  and based on tha t  sent iment  tha t  here  

are  these 22 o ther  execut ives  who have not  even been  

d isc ip l ined and  a lso  based  on d i scuss ions and 

engagements  w i th  the  board  then  tha t  dec i s ion  was taken  

tha t  maybe a  re ins ta tement  w i th  a  –  ja ,  w i th  a  l im i ted 

sanct ion  is  appropr ia te ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  there  were  peop le  20 

who conducted themse lves –  ce r ta in ly  tha t  i s  the  f ind ing  o f  

KPMG – in  the  same way as  Gama and were  d i smissed.   

That  was one o f  the i r  f ind ings.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cor rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes and in  fac t  have you heard  o f  Mr  

Sa lemela  and Mr  Khanya?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you know tha t  they were  the  two 

peop le  who s igned the  GNS conf inement  and  then  

presented i t  to  Mr  Gama and then he s igned i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   And do you know what  

happened to  them? 10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink  they were  d ismissed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  they were  d i smissed.   Those  

are  two person invo lved in  the  same misconduct  as  Mr  

Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And he was the i r  sen io r.   You remember  

tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do ,  he  was the  CEO of  TFR.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  beg your  pardon?  

CHAIRPERSON:    He says was the  CEO of  TFR.  

MR MKWANAZI :    He was the  CEO of  TFR.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes and have you ever  taken the  

t ime to  read the  f ind ing  o f  Nazeer  Cass im SC in  tha t  case? 

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  have not .  

CHAIRPERSON:    He was Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l inary  

enqu i ry  re la t ing  to  those two employees.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.   

CHAIRPERSON:    You never  read i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  have not  read i t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You d id  no t  have any d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  

them be ing  d i smissed,  d id  you?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure  i f  I  was the re  a t  the  t ime.   

What  year  was i t ,  i f  I  can  be reminded? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  was in  2010.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  was not  there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  one wou ld  have expected tha t  when 10 

you dea l t  w i th  Mr  Gama’s  mat te r  the  fac t  tha t  two 

employees who were  under  h im had been d ismissed in  

connect ion  w i th  one o f  the  tenders ,  fo r  wh ich  he  was 

d ismissed,  I  wou ld  have expected tha t  you wou ld  have 

been in fo rmed o f  tha t .  

MR MK WANAZI :    No,  we were  no t  in fo rmed o f  those two  

employees,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   D id  you on ly  ge t  to  know about  

them much la te r?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  d id  know about  i t  much,  much  la te r,  20 

yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  le t  me jus t  unders tand 

before  I  move on.   You,  as  the  Act ing  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  and the  Cha i rperson,  when you took a  dec i s ion  
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to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama where  he  had been d i smissed  on one 

o f  the  charges in  re la t ion  to  GNS,  you d id  no t  even know 

tha t  two o ther  managers  j un io r  than h im had been 

d ismissed.   You d id  no t  even know tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  d id  no t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i f  you had known tha t  

p resumably  your  dec i s ion  wou ld  have been d i f fe ren t ,  o f  

course .  

MR MK WANAZI :    I t  m igh t  have been,  yes ,  because I  wou ld  

have had to  look  a t  the  fac ts ,  e tce tera ,  e tce te ra  and even  10 

the  mot iva t ion  to  the  board  wou ld  have been d i f fe ren t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  m igh t  be .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  on  the  same mat te r  these ind iv idua ls  

a l ready have been d ismissed and the  mot iva t ion  wou ld  

have been comple te ly  d i f fe ren t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you got  to  know about  these two 

employees who were  d i smissed who were  under  Mr  Gama 

wou ld  i t  have been a  few months a f te r  Mr  Gama had come 

back o r  a re  you not  ab le  to  ind ica te?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  do  no t  reca l l  bu t  i t  wou ld  no t  have  

been a  few months,  i t  was much la te r  when one was 

read ing  about  some o f  the  go ings on  i n  Transnet  and in  

fo rmer  employees because there  were  many o thers ,  by  the  

way,  there  were  many th ings go ing  on there  a t  the  t ime.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  i t  seems to  me,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  

what  you d id  i s  you focused on  a l leged incons is tenc ies  

ins tead o f  cons i s tenc ies .   I  mean he re  were  two  peop le  

whose d i smissa ls  were  cons is ten t  w i th  Mr  Gama’s .   Why  

d id  you look a t  i t  the  o ther  way?  I  mean,  you had the  

benef i t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate ,  you a re  cor rec t ,  I  d id  focus on  

incons is tenc ies  because my l ine  o f  th ink ing  was why  is  th is  

ind iv idua l  –  when  we say my l ine ,  even my submiss ions to  10 

the  board  and d iscuss ions w i th  the  board ,  why  is  th is  

ind iv idua l  un fa i r l y  p re jud iced when there  are  22  o the rs  who  

shou ld  have gone th rough the  same exper ience and 

noth ing  has happened to  these?   That  was my  l ine  o f  

th ink ing  a t  the  t ime and tha t  i s  the  mot iva t ion  I  submi t ted  

to  the  board .    

 And a lso  a t  the  t ime,  as  we l l ,  I  was get t ing  

doss ie rs ,  i f  I  can  use the  word ,  on  a  lo t  o f  i r regu lar i t ies  in  

the  organ isa t ion  dur ing  the  month  o f  January  2010.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  we w i l l  come to  the  22  in  t ime 20 

but  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  ask you,  so  why d id  you not  jus t  

d isc ip l ine  the  22?  

MR MKWANAZI :    We –  ho ld  i t ,  we d id  ask  Br ian  Mole fe  to  

d isc ip l ine  them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  so?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    As  a  board .   I  do  no t  know i f  he  d id  do  

tha t ,  I  do  no t  have feedback on tha t  bu t  I  am aware  he  

t r ied  to  d isc ip l ine  two and he d id  d isc ip l ine  one ,  Gary  

K i ta (?)  i f  I  reca l l  and I  do  no t  know about  the  o thers .   We 

never  fo l lowed up  w i th  Mr  Br ian  Mo le fe .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps you miss  my po in t .   Why d id  

you not  jus t  re ta in  the  d ismissa l  o f  Mr  Gama and then  

d isc ip l ine  and d i smiss  the  o ther  22?  Why not?   Why d id  

you do i t  the  o the r  way around?  

MR MKWANAZI :    The po in t  i s  va l id ,  we d id  i t  the  o ther  10 

way around because we were  sens ing  unfa i rness  on  the  

sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  –  we l l ,  le t  me jus t  c la r i f y  someth ing .   

Th is  concept  o f  condonat ion  w i th in  Transnet ,  i t  d id  no t  

mean tha t  i f  condonat ion  was granted the  employee wou ld  

no t  be  d i sc ip l ined ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Indeed you have tes t i f ied  tha t  in  respect  

o f  some o f  the  condonat ions tha t  the  board  dea l t  w i th  in  

2011 you spec i f i ca l l y,  as  the  board ,  ins t ruc ted  the  Group 20 

CEO Mr  Mole fe  to  take  d i sc ip l i nary  ac t ion  aga ins t  cer ta in  

managers ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now I  must  confess  tha t  when I  f i rs t  

read –  or  fo r  some t ime a f te r  read ing  about  th is  po in t  o f  
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condonat ion ,  I  thought  tha t  what  i t  meant  was i f  

condonat ion  is  g ran ted i t  means tha t  whatever  m isconduct  

the  employee may have commi t ted  in  connect ion  w i th  tha t  

p rocu rement  w i l l  no t  lead to  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion  bu t  Mr  

Todd ’s  ev idence and h i s  a f f idav i t  made the  d is t inc t ion  and I  

th ink  your  ev idence seems to  be  in  l ine  w i th  h is  to  say 

condonat ion  does not  mean tha t  you are  no t  go ing  to  be 

d isc ip l ined,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  Cha i rman,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No my d i f f i cu l t y  then is  what  then is  the  10 

re levance o f  condonat ion  where  the  issue i s  whether  the  

employee was d ismissed fa i r l y  o r  no t .   Why i s  condonat ion  

a  re levant  fac tor?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  you a lmost  need to  take  the  

d iscuss ion  a  l i t t le  b i t  back.   I  agree tha t  Mr  Gama was  

d ismissed fa i r l y  i n  te rms o f  the  processes but  the  quest ion  

is ,  had there  been a  p rocess o f  h im even app ly ing  fo r  tha t  

condonat ion ,  the  ou tcome might  have been d i f fe ren t .   The 

outcome cou ld  have been the  same,  f rank ly,  o r  the 

ou tcome cou ld  have been he is  demoted,  the  ou tcome – I  20 

do  not  know what  the  ou tcome cou ld  have been but  

because fo r  whatever  reason,  h is  i ssue d id  no t  go  th rough 

a  condonat ion  process.   Yes,  the  ou tcome tha t  came out ,  

came out  as  pe r  -  Advocate  [ ind is t i nc t ]  13 .57 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  unders tand.   I f  the  po l i cy  
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o f  the  company is  tha t  employees may not  do  a ,  b ,  c ,  d  and 

i f  they  do  a ,  b ,  c ,  d  they w i l l  be  d isc ip l ined and the  

d isc ip l ina ry  p rocess cou ld  lead to  the i r  d i smissa l .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And an employee is  a l leged to  have  

commi t ted  tha t  m isconduct  o r  ac ts  o f  m isconduct ,  a ,  b ,  c ,  

d… 

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And a  d isc ip l inary  process is  then  

ins t i tu ted ,  the  employee,  as  I  unders tand your  ev idence,  10 

cannot  say  as  a  de fence to  the  charges or  cha rges aga ins t  

h im,  I  have been  condoned or  my  noncompl iance w i th  the  

procedures has been condoned,  i s  i t  no t?   That  i s  no t  a  

de fence to  the  charge.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  cannot  say  tha t ,  no ,  no .   Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  i f  i t  i s  no t  a  de fence to  the  charge,  

why is  i t  re levan t  to  the  quest ion  o f  whether  the  sanct ion  

tha t  ge ts  imposed on the  employee a t  the  end  o f  the 

d isc ip l ina ry  p rocess fo r  m isconduct ,  a ,  b ,  c ,  d  was fa i r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  th ink  I  w i l l  repeat  myse l f .   I t  20 

is  a  what  i f .   Typ ica l l y  –  say Mr  Gama had app l ied  fo r  

condonat ion  and  say the  ou tcome o f  tha t  app l i ca t ion  was  

you are  go ing  to  be  d isc ip l ined and the  ou tcome o f  tha t  

d isc ip l ina ry  process is  a  d i smissa l ,  tha t  i s  fa i r,  Cha i rman,  

because he had an oppor tun i ty  to  app ly  fo r  tha t  
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condonat ion .    

Your  po in ts  abou t  d id  he  app ly  o r  d id  he  no t  app ly,  

was i t  was granted or  was i t  no t  g ran ted are  va l id ,  

Cha i rman,  I  agree w i th  you fu l l y  and be ing  a  sen ior  

execut ive ,  tha t  he  was,  your  po in ts  a re  va l id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see –  because pa r t  o f  what  I  am 

t ry ing  to  unders tand and Mr  Myburgh is  a lso  t ry ing  to  do  

the  same,  i s  the  reason ing  o f  the  board  in  dec id ing  to  

re ins ta te  h im because when one  looks a t  the  charges o f  

wh ich  he  was found gu i l t y,  I  do  no t  know in  your  m ind but  10 

in  my mind they are  very  ser ious fo r  a  sen ior  execut ive  in  

the  pos i t ion  i n  wh ich  he  was,  so  - .and when you look a t  the  

ru l ings  o f  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry  bo th 

in  regard  to  whether  he  was gu i l t y  o f  these charges  or  no t  

and in  regard  to  the  sanct ion ,  they  are  very  thorough,  they 

are  ve ry,  very  de ta i led  and then  you can see tha t  the  

Cha i rperson took  care  to  cons ide r  the  ev idence and the  

arguments  very  care fu l l y,  you know? 

And th is  was an  independent  Cha i rperson,  i t  was  

not  somebody who might  have been invo lved in  any  -  20 

maybe fac t ions w i th in  Transnet ,  i f  there  were  fac t ions.   But  

i t  was somebody who was independent ,  a  sen ior  member  o f  

the  ba r.  

 So you then say  bu t  how cou ld  the  board  dec ide  

tha t  th is  person must  be  re ins ta ted?  So you look fo r  the i r  
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reason ing  and cent ra l  to  the  board ’s  reason ing  is  the  

condonat ion  process.   So because tha t  i s  cent ra l  to  the 

board ’s  reason ing  as  to  why they re ins ta ted  Mr  Gama,  once 

you say to  me  condonat ion  does not  mean tha t  the  

employee ’s  m isconduct  i s  condoned and he cannot  be  

d isc ip l ined anymore ,  then I  say  bu t  what  was the  re levance 

o f  condonat ion  then because you have accepted tha t  i t  was  

not  a  de fence,  i t  cou ld  no t  be  a  de fence.   You cannot  say  

when you a re  charged fo r  m isconduct  a r is ing  ou t  o f  

p rocu rement  p rocesses and say we l l ,  I  have been granted 10 

condonat ion  so  you cannot  charge  me anymore .    

 So he lp  me unders tand where  i t  i s  re levant  because 

i t  i s  no t  re levant  to the  issue o f  gu i l t ,  i s  i t  no t?   I t  i s  no t  

re levant  to  the  quest ion  whether  the  employee is  gu i l t y  o f  

the  charges.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  there  are  two s tages tha t  the 

board  is  t ry ing  to  exp la in .   The one is  tha t  there  was a  

process o f  condonat ion  w i th in  the  Transnet  bu t  tha t  

condonat ion  d id  no t  imp ly  tha t  you w i l l  no t  be  d isc ip l ined.  

 Now knowing tha t  there  was  th is  sys tem o f  20 

condonat ion  then  the  quest ion  was when th i s  Gama mat te r  

was dea l t  w i th ,  there  were  many o the r  cases where  

condonat ion  had not  even been app l ied  fo r,  bu t  I  am go ing  

back to  an  argument  tha t  Advocate  Myburgh touched on,  

tha t  we do not  know whether  Gama wou ld  have been 
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g ran ted condonat ion .   Even i f  he  wou ld  have been g ranted,  

i t  wou ld  have been sub jec t  to  d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  and the  

ou tcome o f  tha t  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion ,  we do not  know what  i t  

cou ld  have been.   Cou ld  have been a  demot ion ,  a  

d ismissa l ,  e tce tera .    

 So tha t  was our  th ink ing  then.   Now in  fa i rness to  

what  you a re  say ing ,  the  board  wou ld  have had no  ground  

i f  a  condonat ion  process had been done by  Mr  Gama to  

dea l  w i th  these mat te rs .   That  board  wou ld  no t  have had  

any grounds.   10 

 But  tha t  board ,  as  we l l ,  wou ld  have had to  dea l  w i th  

the  22  o ther  cases wh ich  o r ig ina te  as  ea r ly  as  2005 and  

tha t  board  d id  t ry  to  do  tha t .   I  am not  sure  how fa r  Br ian  

Mole fe  went  bu t  the  board  d id  t ry  to  dea l  w i th  those.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see,  fo r  me,  once you say  

condonat ion  does not  mean tha t  any a l legat ions o f  

m isconduct  o r  any m isconduct  by  the  employees condoned  

i t  ac tua l l y  means  tha t  those who have the  power  to  make  

the  dec i s ion  whether  the  employee  is  charged or  no t ,  they  

must  do  the i r  j ob .   What  ou tcome happens,  tha t  ou tcome 20 

w i l l  happen,  okay? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now so when you –  i f  you  then say to  

t ime,  you know,  found as  a  board  tha t ,  you know,  Mr  Gama 

was not  o f fe red  condonat ion ,  my react ion  i s  and so  what?   
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He was not  o f fe red  condonat ion  and so  what?   That  i s  my  

react ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    No [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because I  am say ing  condonat ion  wou ld  

no t  have changed  anyth ing .    

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  he  was gu i l t y  o f  m isconduct  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  p rocess wou ld  have led  to  h im be ing  found 

gu i l t y  and i f  the  sanct ion  o f  d i smissa l  was found to  be  10 

appropr ia te  i t  wou ld  have been  imposed i r respect ive  o f  

whethe r  he  was granted condonat ion  or  no t .   You  accept  

tha t ,  do  you not?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  tha t ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  I  go  back to  my quest ion .   He was 

not  o f fe red  condonat ion  and so  what?   That  i s  my quest ion  

because I  do  no t  see where  i t  comes in .  

MR MK WANAZI :    I t  comes in ,  Cha i rman,  in  tha t   -  the 

process was incomple te  in  tha t  the  issue o f  condonat ion  

shou ld  have been tab led  by  h im  post  th is  mat te r  be ing  20 

e levated but  i t  looks l i ke  he  d id  no t  and now then th is  

board  looks a t  th is  and says had he app l ied  fo r  

condonat ion ,  the  ou tcome have been d i f fe ren t  –  i t  m igh t  

no t  have been d i f fe ren t ,  yes ,  I  agree w i th  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  the  fac t  o f  the  mat te r  i s  he  d id  no t  
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app ly  and because he d id  no t  app ly,  he  shou ld  no t  ge t  the  

benef i t  tha t  he  may have got  i f  he  had app l ied .   I f  you  want  

the  benef i t s  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  have my fac ts  

whethe r  he  app l ied  or  no t .   I  do  no t  have my fac ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  i f  you  want  the  benef i t s  o f  

condonat ion ,  wha tever  they may be,  you app ly.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  you  do not  app ly  f o r  condonat ion  you  

do not  ge t  the  benef i t s  tha t  come wi th  condonat ion .   You 10 

accept  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And,  there fore ,  once the  board  accepted 

tha t  he  had not  app l ied ,  i t  shou ld  no t  have sought  to  g ive  

h im benef i t s  o f  condonat ion  tha t  wou ld  on l y  app ly  i f  he  had 

app l ied .   You accept  tha t  now? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  know i f  he  app l ied  o r  

no t .   I  s t i l l  do  no t  know,  Cha i rman.   But  based on the  

record  o f  the  proceed ings and  a lso  maybe whatever  

submiss ion  h i s  a t to rney wou ld  have made,  i t  looks  l i ke  he  20 

d id  no t  app ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So what  I  am say ing  is  tha t  the  

board  shou ld  have sought  to  es tab l i sh  whether  he  app l ied .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  I  agree,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i f  i t  es tab l i shed tha t  he  d id  no t  
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app ly,  i t  shou ld  no t  have sought  to  g ive  h im the  benef i t s  o f  

someth ing  tha t  he  d id  no t  app ly  fo r.   You accept  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  Cha i rman.   Okay,  a l r i gh t .   Mr  

Myburgh,  I  know tha t  I  in te r rup ted  you but  I  know tha t  you 

have not  fo rgo t ten  your  quest ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  I  have not ,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  I  see we are  a t  twenty  fas t  past ,  

sha l l  we take  the  tea  break?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cer ta in ly,  thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r i gh t ,  we w i l l  take  the  tea  break 10 

fo r  f i f teen minutes  we w i l l  resume a t  twenty  to  twe lve .   We 

ad journ .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Thank you,  Cha i rman.   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

MR MKWANAZI :   I  am there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay le t  us  cont inue Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you Mr  Cha i rperson,  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  be fo re  I  f in ish  o f f  w i th  your  s ta tement  I  jus t  want  

to  conf i rm as I  unders tand i t  tha t  you make these two  20 

concess ions in  response to  the  Cha i rperson ’s  quest ions.    

F i r s t l y,  you accept  tha t  you went  wrong in  g iv ing  Mr  Gama 

the  benef i t  o f  no t  hav ing  app l ied  fo r  condonat ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  bu t  a lso  le t  us  no t  

fo rge t  tha t  by  the  t ime we were  dea l ing  w i th  th is  mat te r  
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Gama had taken  the  mat te r  to  the  Transnet  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  and in  v iew o f  tha t  then the  Board  had engaged 

Deneys Re i tz  e tce te ra ,  e tce tera ,  fo r  adv i ce  on  what  you  

may ca l l  the  w inab i l i t y  o f  th is  case a t  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l ,  bu t  yes  I  do  accept  tha t  Gama shou ld  have  

app l ied  fo r  condonat ion ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We are  go ing  to  come to  tha t  adv ice  

tha t  you rece ived .     

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The second concess ion  tha t  you  10 

made in  response to  the  Cha i rperson quest ions  is  you 

accept  tha t  in  any event  condonat ion  and d i sc ip l ina ry  

ac t ion  are  two d i f fe ren t  th ings.   Cor rec t?    

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  fac t  as  I  unders tand you,  you  

accept  tha t  whether  o r  no t  someone is  g ran ted condonat ion  

does not  necessar i l y  have a  bear ing  on  the  fa i rness o f  the  

sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  ja .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you .   Le t  us  then move to  20 

your  a f f idav i t .   So we have dea l t  w i th  paragraphs 9 .4  and  

9 .5 ,  then you say  a t  9 .6 :  

“Fo l lowing  a  rev iew o f  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l  f rom 

Transnet  the  Board  reso lved tha t  t he  sanct ion  g iven  

to  Mr  Gama was too  harsh  g iven the  c i r cumstances .   
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As  we l l  as  the  fac t  tha t  he  shou ld  in  fac t  been  

granted an oppor tun i ty  to  app ly  fo r  condonat ion . ”  

Wel l  we have dea l t  w i th  tha t .       

MR MKWANAZI :    We have dea l t  w i th  tha t ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then you go onto  say a t  9 .7 :  

“ In  v iew o f  avo id ing  fu r ther  l i t i ga t ion  in  respect  o f  

Mr  Gama’s  appea l  o f  h is  d ismissa l  the  Board  

reso lved tha t  i t  wou ld  be  in  the  best  in te res t  o f  

Transnet  to  se t t le  the  mat te r  by  way o f  a  se t t lement  

agreement . ”  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    “The te rms o f  wh ich  we are  

negot ia ted  

th rough Transnet ’s  in te rna l  barga in ing  process. ”    

I s  tha t  what  you say?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Wi th  the  he lp  o f  ex te rna l  lawyers ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  you were  ac tua l l y  the  negot ia to r.   

MR MK WANAZI :    Not  rea l l y  I  was the  lead negot ia to r  i f  I  

can  put  i t  tha t  way but  in  the  process I  was adv i sed by  

Deneys Re i tz .   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see ;  you were  the  lead negot ia to r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you say:  

“ I  w ish  fu r the r  to  conf i rm tha t  ne i ther  the  se t t lement  

nor  the  te rms on wh ich  the  se t t lement  was made  
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were  in f luenced by  any member  o f  cab ine t  a t  the  

t ime. ”   

Do you s tand by  tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes  I  do .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now you remember  i f  we go back to  

the  beg inn ing  you conf i rmed tha t  you had been asked to  

exp la in  the  dec i s ion  to  se t t le  w i th  Mr  Gama and the  te rms 

o f  the  se t t lemen t  agreement .   Do you remember  be ing  

asked to  do  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  asked by  who by  the  way?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    By  the  Commiss ion  tha t  i s  why you 

put  up  th is  dec la ra t ion .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why do you not  dea l  in  th is  

dec la ra t ion  w i th  what  was pa id  to  Mr  Gama by way o f  

sa la ry,  shor t  te rm incent ives ,  long te rm incent ives ,  cos t  o f  

h is  Barga in ing  Counc i l  re fe r ra l ,  cos ts  o f  h is  d i sc ip l inary  

hear ing ,  cos ts  o f  the  H igh  Cour t  p roceed ings.   Why do you 

not  dea l  w i th  any o f  tha t  when you were  asked to?     

MR MKWANAZI :    Why do I  no t  dea l  w i th  –  are  you  ta lk ing  20 

about  the  le t te r  f rom the  Commiss ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  he  is  ta lk ing  about  tha t  le t te r.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  Mr  Myburgh  
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you  might  w ish  to  take  h im to  the  le t te r  f i rs t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes I  w i l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And jus t  h igh l igh t  the  spec i f i c  i ssues and 

then we can dea l  w i th  a  respond.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The le t te r  i s  a t tached to  your  

a f f idav i t ;  you f ind  tha t  a t  page 21.1 .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh,  okay,  yes  I  found i t  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you w i l l  see  a t  page 21 .3  there  

is  a  head ing  re ins ta tement  21 .4  re t rospect iv i t y  o f  

re ins ta tement  these a re  a l l  con tent ious issues.     10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    F ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing ,  cos ts  those  

are  a l l  the  te rms o f  the  se t t lement  agreement .   Then a t  

21 .6  paragraph 7 :  

“Cha i rperson o f  the  Commiss ion  has d i rec ted  me to  

request  you to  fu rn ish  the  Commiss ion  on  or  be fore  

20  August  2020 w i th  an  a f f idav i t  o r  a  f i rm 

dec lara t ion  in  wh ich  you exp la in  why you and or  the  

Board  o f  D i rec tors  o f  Transnet  cons ide red i t  cor rec t  

o r  p roper  o r  jus t i f ied  to  conc lude the  se t t lement  20 

agreement  on  the  te rms on wh ich  you conc luded i t . ”       

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  tha t  i s  jus t  no t  re ins ta tement  tha t  

i s  why d id  you g ive  h im a  f ina l  warn ing  tha t  had exp i red?  

Why d id  you pay h im fu l l  back pay,  LTI ’s  and SDI ’s  and why 
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d id  you pay h is  costs?   Do you accept  you do not  address 

any o f  tha t  in  you r  dec la ra t ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I f  I  reca l l  I  m igh t  no t  have addressed i t  

bu t  i f  I  reca l l  I  wanted to  submi t  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  

here  wh ich  I  have not  ye t  done and the  idea was tha t  I  

wou ld  dea l  w i th  those issues in  more  de ta i l .     

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  le t  us  f i rs t l y  dea l  w i th  whether  o r  

no t  you dea l t  w i th  i t  in  th is  dec la ra t ion  can you p lease jus t  

g ive  us  an  answer.    

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  do  no t  th ink  I  have.   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Have a  look  and te l l  us .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  th ink  I  have,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you need an oppor tun i ty  to  look  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  because I  wou ld  l i ke  a  s t ra igh t  and a  

de f in i t i ve  answer  p lease?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no  I  can look a t  the  issues tha t  a re  

on  tha t  request  fo r  an  a f f idav i t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh is  inv i t ing  you  to  look  

a t  your  a f f idav i t  to  see whether  you do dea l  w i th  the  issues 

tha t  he  is  ra is ing  w i th  you.   20 

MR MKWANAZI :    In  my a f f idav i t  tha t  I  have got  in  f ron t  o f  

me I  do  no t  dea l  w i th  those issues  but  I  d id  ind ica te  to  my  

lawyer  tha t  I  wanted to  make a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i  you a lso  do  not  say  

anyth ing  about  want ing  to  pu t  up  a  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t  
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in  th is  a f f idav i t ,  do  you?   

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  d id  no t  say  anyth ing ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why not  i f  tha t  was your  in ten t ion?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  maybe le t  us  ask  when d id  you th ink  

o f  the  idea o f  the  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    A long t ime ago  and in  ac tua l  fac t  I  have 

got  a  d ra f t  bu t  my lawyers  are  supposed to  have a  look a t  

i t  f i rs t  be fore  i t  comes to  the  Commiss ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh but  qu i te  some t ime a f te r  you had  

de l i vered th is  one to  the  Commiss ion?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  cor rec t  I  do  no t  know the  da te  o f  

tha t  one but  i t  i s  da ted  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t  Mr  Myburgh.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you and then a t  paragraph 10  

you say and you have dea l t  w i th  th is  a l ready:  

“When Br ian  Mole fe  jo ined the  Transnet  Board  he  

was ins t ruc ted  to  take  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion  aga ins t  a l l  

o f f i c ia ls  imp l ica ted  in  the  KPMG and the  Nkonk i  

repor t ”  

Cor rec t?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you go and dea l  w i th  tha t  

fu r ther  you say a t  10 .5 :  

“The  Board  a t  the  t ime le f t  the  res t  o f  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  p rocesses in  the  hands  o f  Mr  Mole fe . ”  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And here  you say:  

“There  cou ld  have been another  12  sen io r  managers  

who cou ld  have been d isc ip l ined. ”   

Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ear l y  on  in  your  ev idence you spoke  

about  22  can we reduce tha t  to  12? 

MR MKWANAZI :    The number  i s  ac tua l l y  h igher  bu t  le t  us  

remain  w i th  12  bu t  yes  the re  cou ld  be  22 because  then I  10 

have got  to  go  back and take  them out  by  l ine  i tem or  by  

name but  I  am happy w i th  12 .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  he re  you say 12 .   

MR MK WANAZI :    Ja ,  I  say  12  bu t  I  am say ing  i t  cou ld  be  

h igher.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  w i l l  have to  go  back to  the  repor t  and  

ac tua l l y  genera te  a  l i s t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then i f  we go ove r  the  page to  

parag raph 11 your  conc lus ion :  20 

“The above fac tors  in fo rmat ion  a t  the  Boards  

d isposa l  as  we l l  as  the  lega l  op in ion  sought  by  the  

Board  were  cons idered. ”  

Now we go ing  to  come to  the  sequence and ch rono logy o f  

events  i n  some deta i l  when I  take  you th rough i t  Mr 
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Mkwanaz i  bu t  the  op in ion  o f  wh ich  f i rm o f  a t to rneys a re  

you re fer r ing  to  here?    

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s  Deneys Re i tz .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  are  you say ing  tha t  

Deneys Re i tz  op in ion  was befo re  the  Board  on  the  16 t h?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   

MR MK WANAZI :    There  were  two p ieces o f  op in ion  by  

Deneys Re i tz  i f  I  reca l l .   There  was one wh ich  you  ca l l  an  

abr idged ve rs ion  and then there  was anothe r  one wh ich  10 

was a  more  de ta i l ed  vers ion  substant ia t ing  what  was  in  the  

abr idged vers ion ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  we l l  then I  th ink  I  unders tand 

i t .   So  you are  r igh t  there  were  Deneys Re i tz  op in ion  or  

cer ta in ly  input  f rom Deneys Re i tz  in  a  document  da ted  the  

15 t h  o f  February  the  day be fo re  the  Board  meet ing  and  

then on the  22n d  o f  February  a  few days la te r  there  was the  

more  expanded vers ion .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  le t  me then –  so  is  there  anyth ing  20 

e lse  you want  to  say in  re la t ion  to  your  dec la ra t ion  and 

your  s ta tement  be fore  I  move in to  my quest ion ing  o f  you?   

MR MKWANAZI :    A t  th is  s tage –  you are  go ing  to  come 

back to  the  Deneys Re i tz  and th ings,  I  take  i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   
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MR MKWANAZI :    Okay good.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  le t  me  s tar t  o f f  and I  am go ing  to  

run  th rough the  chrono logy o f  events .   Amongst  the  f i les  

tha t  we have put  up  is  a  Bund le  2  where  we have got  a  

very  long ex t rac t  f rom the  ev idence o f  Barbara  Hogan and 

perhaps I  shou ld  s ta r t…[ in tervene]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  2 .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    …there ,  yes .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay I  have got  Bund le  2  in  f ron t  o f  me.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  cou ld  I  take  you p lease Mr  10 

Mkwanaz i  to  page 216.   Th is  i s  an  ex t rac t  f rom the  

ev idence o f  Ms Hogan before  th is  Commiss ion .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 216?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    216.   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  have got  i t ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  thought  perhaps the  one  way to  

speed th is  up  is  fo r  me to  take  you  to  page 250 and to  read 

to  you a  parag raph f rom her  a f f idav i t  o r  s ta tement  tha t  was 

read in to  the  reco rd  a t  page 250 l ine  10 .   A re  you there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am there ,  yes .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh wh ich  bund le?   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bund le  2 ,  Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bund le  2 ,  yes  okay.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    From l ine  11 :  

“ I  was shocked and d isappo in ted  when Pres ident  
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Zuma in fo rmed me tha t  he  was  adamant  tha t  Mr  

Gama was the  on ly  cho ice  fo r  the  Group CEO.”  

But  jus t  to  p lace  tha t  in  context  Mr  Gama was suspended 

on the  1 s t  o f  September  2009.   There  was then an a t tempt  

to  f i l l  a  vacant  CEO pos i t ion  o f  Transnet  and when Ms 

Hogan presented the  name o f  Mr  Maseko to  fo rmer  

Pres ident  Zuma her  ev idence was tha t  he  was ins i s ten t  

tha t  Mr  Gama be appo in ted  and th is  i s  what  she sa id :  

“ I  was shocked and d isappo in ted  when Pres ident  

Zuma in fo rmed me tha t  he  was  adamant  tha t  Mr  10 

Gama was the  on ly  cho ice  fo r  the  Group CEO.   I  

in fo rmed h im tha t  tha t  was not  poss ib le  and tha t  Mr  

Gama was not  the  Board ’s  cho ice  and I  cou ld  no t  

over r ide  the  Board  as  they had undergone a  very  

pro fess iona l  se lec t ion  process.   I  fu r ther  in fo rmed  

Pres ident  Zuma tha t  Mr  Gama was  the  sub jec t  o f  an  

enqu i ry  in to  procurement  i r regu lar i t ies  and tha t  i t  

wou ld  be  ve ry  messy to  appo in t  a  Group CEO who 

cou ld  po tent ia l l y  be  fac ing  fa i r l y  ser ious charges. ”   

P res ident  Zuma sa id :  20 

“That  i f  tha t  was my v iew no appo in tment  

whatsoever  wou ld  be  made a t  Transnet  un t i l  Mr  

Gama’s  d i sc ip l ina ry  process was ove r. ”    

“We agreed tha t  I  wou ld  prov ide  h im wi th  more  

in fo rmat ion . ”     
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You have no doub t  heard  th is  o f  th is  tes t imony before   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  have never  seen i t  in  th is  way but  

I  have read about  i t ,  ja .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  you have read about  i t .   So 

there  was then a  h ia tus  because Ms Hogan had  to  wa i t  

un t i l  the  ou tcome o f  Mr  Gama’s  d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry  and 

then le t  us  go  to  tha t  par t  a t  page 267 a t  l ine  22 .     

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    “Now you know I  wa i ted  fo r  the  

Outcome o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  bu t  once he  10 

was found gu i l t y  on  th ree  counts  and he was 

d ismissed on a l l  th ree  counts  the  Deputy  Min is te r  

and myse l f  in i t ia ted  a  process to  appo in t  a  new 

Transnet  Board  and tha t  was,  tha t  was then a  year  

a f te r  o f  th is  happen ing  and i t  was then towards  

Ju ly,  August  2010 . ”    

Do you see tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And the  i f  I  can  ask  you to  p lease to  

go  to  page 277.   Ms Hogan then a t tempted to  const i tu te  a  20 

new Board  or  have a  new Board  appo in ted  but  she says a t  

l ine  number  3  a t  page 277.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Which  l ine  i s  tha t ,  can I  –  advocate  what  

parag raph?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 277,  l ine  3 .   
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    She says:  

“Wel l  Mr  Gama was f i red  a t  the  end o f  2010 – we 

know tha t  was in  Ju ly  –  and I  was f i red  by  the  

Pres ident  a t  the  end o f  October. ”  

A few l ines  down…[ in tervene]    

CHAIRPERSON:    He was f i red  on  the  29 t h  o f  June?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    28 t h  o r  29 t h  June,  yes .  

“ I  was f i red  by  the  Pres ident  a t  the  end o f  October. ”  

And then a t  l ine  10 :  10 

“Mr  Mole fe  was  then appo in ted  as  the  CEO o f  

Transnet . ”  

L ine  14 :  

“Then Mr  Gama was reappo in ted  –  so  th is  i s  where  

you enter  the  scene –  as  the  CEO of  Transne t  

Fre igh t  Ra i l  a  coup le  o f  months  la te r  on  the  g rounds  

tha t  they had rev iewed the  sanct ion  and tha t  they 

had an independent  rev iew.   I  do  no t  qu i te  know 

what  tha t  was about . ”  

Cha i rperson says :  20 

“Th is  was now a  d i f fe ren t  Board  f rom the  one tha t  

was in  ex i s tence dur ing  your  t ime. ”  

“Th is  was a  Board  -  sa id  Ms Hogan –  tha t  had been 

appo in ted  by  Min is te r  G igaba who succeeded me. ”  

And you we know were  the  Cha i rpe rson,  co r rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now Mr  Mkwanaz i  th is  i s  a lso  

someth ing  I  can take  you to  o ther  passages in  her  

ev idence tha t  rece ived a  lo t  o f  pub l i c i t y  Mr  Gama’s  

suspens ion  and d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  i t  was someth ing  o f  a  

po l i t i ca l  ho t  po ta to ,  no t  so?   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you knew about  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  knew.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you know tha t  Ms Hogan had  10 

been or  los t  her  post  as  a  Min is te r  in  these c i rcumstances? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id  no t  know tha t  in  de ta i l  bu t  I  know i t  

now hav ing  read what  I  am read ing .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now the  new Min is te r,  Mr  G igaba he  

was appo in ted  as  I  unders tand i t  Cha i rperson you w i l l  

cor rec t  me i f  I  am wrong w i th  the  e f fec t  f rom the  1s t  o f  

November.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you then met  d id  you w i th  the  

new Min is te r  and  the  Cha i rperson  has asked you and you  20 

conf i rmed you d id  tha t  in  October  be fore  he  had even been 

appo in ted .   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  advocate ,  Cha i r.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  and you se t  ou t  in  your  

dec la ra t ion  what  i t  i s  tha t  you d iscussed.   
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  we go p lease back to  your  

dec la ra t ion  Bund le  4A.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  4A?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  want  to  take  you to  page 4 .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay thank you,  yes  I  am on page  4 .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say a t  paragraph  

4 .3…[ in tervene]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  can  ask  you to  d rop down to  10 

4 .3 .3 :  

“He was somehow aware  o f  p rob lems in  the  

procu rement  o f  supp l ie rs  and serv i ces  fo r  mega  

pro jec ts  in  Transnet . ”  

D id  i t  surp r ise  you tha t  he  was aware  o f  tha t?   

MR MK WANAZI :    The answer  i s  no  i t  does not  surp r ise  me 

because maybe some o f  these were  a l ready in  the  med ia  or  

maybe he had some ins ide  in fo rmat ion  say f rom Transnet  

on  what  cou ld  have been happen ing  in  p rocu rement .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i  was i t  a lso  in  the  20 

med ia  tha t  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma was a  devout  suppor te r  

o f  Mr  Gama? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  i t  was and  maybe even more  in  the  

med ia  bu t  yes  i t  was in  the  med ia .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you were  aware  o f  tha t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  was aware  o f  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  le t  us  go  to  paragraph 4 .3 .4 :  

“He was a lso  under  the  impress ion  tha t  d isc ip l ina ry  

mat te rs  a t  Transnet  were  rac ia l l y  based. ”  

And i t  i s  the  next  par t  o f  the  sentence tha t  I  want  to  focus 

on .  

“And tha t  there  was a  condonat ion  process a t  

Transnet  tha t  was genera l l y  used to  dea l  w i th  

dev ia t ions w i th in  Transnet . ”  

He seemed to  know a  lo t  about  th is .      10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  see tha t  pa rag raph.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  how do you th ink  he  came to  

know about  tha t?   You smi le .   

MR MKWANAZI :    You know advocate  you need to  

unders tand how Sta te  owned ent i t ies  opera te .   They 

opera te  in  ve ry  s t range ways where  w i th in  th is  en t i t ies  

some o f  these Min is te rs  have got  sources o f  in fo rmat ion  

par t i cu la r l y  these  b ig  SOC’s  l i ke  say Eskom,  Transnet  and I  

do  no t  know who  e lse  bu t  I  suspect  somebody ins ide  the  

organ isa t ion  wou ld  have br ie fed  the  Min i s te r  about  tha t  o r  20 

maybe even outs ide  o f  the  organ isa t ion  in  tha t  case I  am 

assuming tha t  i t  cou ld  have been Gama h imse l f .     

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry ;  do  you mean tha t  even i f  a  

Min is te r  i s  no t  a  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  ve ry  o f ten  
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they  have peop le  w i th in  the  d i f fe ren t  SOE’s  tha t  maybe te l l  

them some o f  the  mat te rs  tha t  a re  go ing  on  in  those  SOE’s  

or  what?       

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  what  I  mean Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    They have a  lo t  o f  in te res t  in  the  SOE’s?  

MR MK WANAZI :    That  i s  what  I  mean Cha i rman maybe to  

take  i t  a  l i t t le  b i t  fu r ther  Cha i rman you w i l l  have to  

unders tand tha t  some o f  these Min is te rs  and members  o f  

par l iament  have  got  compan ies  tha t  somehow I  suspect  

they have got  an  in te res t  in  what  i s  happen ing  in  these 10 

compan ies .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.       

MR MK WANAZI :    In  these S ta te  owned ent i t ies  so  wh ich  is  

why they have an in te res t  o f  tender  oppor tun i t ies  i f  I  can  

use the  word  o f  whether  d id  they ex is t  o r  no t .     

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we l l  obv ious ly  Mr  Mkwanaz i  you  

see I  am laugh ing .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you,  o f  course  you were  invo lved in  

d i f fe ren t  a lso  or  i s  i t  d i f fe ren t  t imes and in  d i f fe ren t  20 

capac i t ies  so  I  take  i t  you  know what  you a re  ta lk ing  about .   

I s  tha t  r igh t?     

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rman.   

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you mean a  lo t  o f  the  Min i s te rs  wou ld  

have compan ies  and they wou ld  be  look ing  a t  tender  
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oppor tun i t ies  in  the  var ious SOE’s?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  thank you.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you Mr  Cha i rman.   Mr  

Mkwanaz i  so  jus t  be fore  the  Cha i rman asked  you a  

quest ion  I  jus t  want  you to  conf i rm tha t  you sa id  in  fac t  

tha t  the  Min i s te r  m ight  ac tua l l y  have heard  about  th is  f rom 

Mr  Gama h imse l f .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  d id  le t  me maybe expand on th is  

the  Cha i rman wi l l  reca l l  tha t  a t  some s tage wh i le  Mr  Gama 10 

was on suspens ion  Mr  Gama was  lobby ing  v i r tua l l y  many 

Min is te rs .   I  do  no t  know wh ich  ones now but  yes  there fo re  

my assumpt ion  is  tha t  maybe he had shared th i s  o r  i f  i t  was  

not  h im i t  cou ld  have been any o ther  employee  because 

the  employees in  these S ta te  owned ent i t ies  are  s t range  

an imals  to  a  cer ta in  ex ten t  because they  have got  ce r ta in  

d i rec t  l ines  to  Min is te rs  to  wh ich  even me as the  Cha i rman 

a t  the  t ime might  no t  have had.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  when Ms Barbara  Hogan gave  

ev idence about  the  mat te r  o f  Mr  Gama she a lso  d id  say  20 

tha t  a  number  o f  po l i t i c ians inc lud ing  Min i s te rs  went  pub l i c  

wh i le  the  process o f  recru i t ing  o f  o r  appo in t ing  a  Group  

CEO whi le  i t  was  underway and when there  was ta l k  o f  Mr  

Gama be ing  suspended o r  be ing  charged or  when he had 

been suspended  or  was be ing  charged there  were  some 



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 74 of 247 
 

po l i t i c ians who went  pub l i c  ca l l ing  fo r  Mr  Gama to  be  

appo in ted  as  the  Group CEO and  say ing  tha t  the  charges  

aga ins t  h im were  un fa i r  o r  were  t rumped up o r  were  

in tended to  p revent  h im f rom be ing  appo in ted  as  a  Group 

CEO of  Transnet  Ms Hogan have tha t  ev idence and  I  th ink  

a t  the  t ime when she gave ev idence a  newspaper  c l i pp ings  

were  inc luded in  the  bund le  tha t  was used.    

And indeed I  th ink  there  was a  newspaper  a r t i c le  

where  I  th ink  Mr  Mantashe was sa id  to  have made  

s ta tements  as  we l l  suppor t ing  Mr  Gama.   I  th ink  Min is te r  10 

Nyanda,  Genera l  Nyanda I  th ink  he  was Min is te r  a t  the  

t ime he was a lso  repor ted  in  some ar t i c le  to  have a lso  

come out  as  we l l  as  Min is te r  Radebe so  tha t  i s  in  the 

pub l i c  domain  and i t  i s  be fore  the  Commiss ion  in  te rms o f  

the  bund les  re la t ing  to  Ms Hogan ’s  ev idence so  tha t  par t  

was re fe r red  to .      

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And as  I  unders tand i t  you knew 

about  a l l  o f  tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :     I t  was in  the  news.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Pe rhaps i f  I  cou ld  j us t  ask  you to  20 

tu rn  to  page 253 o f  Bund le  2 ,  two f i ve  th ree .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay,  two f i ve  th ree ,  wa i t  two f i ve  th ree  

is  i t  Ms Barbara  Hogan ’s  bund le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  a t  the  top  aga in  i t  i s  quot ing  fo r  

her  s ta tement :  
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“Mr  Gama was fo rmer ly  charged  by  Transnet  and 

la te r  suspended on 1  September  2009 immedia te l y  

be fore  and in  the  days fo l low ing h is  suspens ion . ”   

Min is te r  Je f f  Radebe:  

“Gama wi l l  become CEO.”  

Min is te r  S imph iwe Nyanda:  

“Gama i s  be ing  persecuted l i ke  Jacob Zuma and  

a lso  ANC,  the  SACP,  the  South  A f r i can Transpor t  

Un ion  and the  ANC Youth  League under  Ju l ius  

Malema a t  the  t ime a l l  i ssued s t rong and harsh  10 

s ta tements  in  suppor t  o f  Gama accus ing  Transnet  o f  

persecut ing  h im.   Th is  was re f lec ted  in  numerous 

s ta tements  and  repor ted  in  the  med ia  wh ich  I  

a t tach . ”  

Do you see tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now are  you suggest ing  to  the  

Cha i rperson tha t  when you met  w i th  the  new Min is te r  o r  

soon to  be  appo in ted  Min i s te r  he never spoke to you about  

or ment ioned Mr Gama? 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   He did.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:  Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   In my opening l ine or paragraph I  do 

indicate that  I  met Mr Gigaba towards the end of  October.   

And amongst  a number of  issues he was ta lk ing about 
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t ransformat ion in  the context  of  b lack suppl iers not  been 

given an opportuni ty part icular ly b lack legal  f i rms and also 

Afr ican women not  being elevated to top posi t ions.  And of  

course he ment ioned the Gama matter and fel t  that  the 

sanct ion in  the Gama matter was too harsh or something 

because there was th is condonat ion process at  Transnet that  

had not  been fol lowed.  He did ment ion something.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why did you not  put  that  in your – in  

your declarat ion? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  d id.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Were you going to put  that  in your 

supplementary aff idavi t  perhaps? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No i t  is there.   Let  me check.   What fo lder  

i t  is in here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink Mr Mkwanazi  what Mr Myburgh is  

ta lk ing about is that  you did not  ment ion in the aff idavi t  that  

he raised the issue of  the Mr Gama.  You just  sa id that  he 

ra ised the issue of  condonat ion f rom deviat ions.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I f  you read on page 4 of  my submission.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

MR MKWANAZI:   Paragraph 4.3.4.    

“He was under the impression that  these 

matters at  Transnet  were racial ly biased and 

that  there was a condonat ion process at  

Transnet that  was general ly used to deal  wi th  
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deviat ions wi thin Transnet. ”  

CHAIRPERSON:   He was talk ing about the Gama matter 

under that .  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  – that  is correct  as one of  the matters 

yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Oh okay.   Wel l  I  must  say that             

when I  read your  aff idavi t  and I  came to that  because you 

did not  refer to Mr Gama or his case as such.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  had a st rong suspicion that  he must  have 10 

been talk ing to you about the Gama matter but  you are now 

conf i rming that  there he was talk ing about the Gama matter.   

Is that  r ight  you are conf i rming that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct  Chai rperson yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And he said that  the – the sanct ion of  

dismissal  in the Gama matter was too harsh or something – 

the words to that  effect .  

MR MKWANAZI:   He was basical ly t ry ing to indicate that  

there was racial  b ias against  Afr ican execut ives.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

MR MKWANAZI:   In Transnet  in that  Afr ican execut ives.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Were dismissed in d iscip l inary issues and 

yet  whi te execut ives.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MR MKWANAZI:   Were not  even charged or discipl ined.  

CHAIRPERSON:   yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   In procurement issues ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   When he referred to the issue of  

condonat ion of  the condonat ion process or a condonat ion 

process at  Transnet under that  4 .3.4 was he saying that  

condonat ion had not  been used in  regard to Mr Gama and 

that  should be looked into? 

MR MKWANAZI:   He was not  speci f ic that  i t  should be 

looked into but  he was general is ing that  there was this  10 

process etcetera,  etcetera.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   And here is th is  execut ive who has now 

been dismissed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Did – and when he said the 

sanct ion of  dismissal  in Mr Gama’s case was too harsh.  

MR MKWANAZI:   He was basing i t  on the Publ ic Protector 

let ter as wel l  i f  I  recal l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

MR MKWANAZI:   And yes there was by that  t ime there was a 20 

Publ ic Protector let ter on the 22n d December.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   When he spoke to you did he have 

that  documentat ion wi th him or he was just  referr ing to i t  

because he knew i t?  

MR MKWANAZI:   No he did not  refer to i t  at  a l l .   No – I  
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might  be mixing things here.   Because the let ter  of  the 

Publ ic Protector only came out  on the 22nd.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

MR MKWANAZI:   And the let ter f rom Member of  Parl iament 

Vyt j ie Mentoor came on the 4 December.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

MR MKWANAZI:   So i t  – there would be no l inkage.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  But  he – so what was he basing 

his view on that  the sanct ion of  dismissal  in Mr Gama’s case 

was too harsh as you recal l?   What was he basing i t  on?  On 10 

the racial  issue? 

MR MKWANAZI:   In a nutshel l  what  he was t ry ing to say was 

whi te execut ives get  away wi th ser ious – much more ser ious 

offences.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay and b lack execut ives would be 

dismissed for less ser ious.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And – okay alr ight .   But  al l  of  these 

matters that  you set  out  under 4.3 that  is 4.3.1 up to 4.3.4 

were matters that  he was asking you as the…. 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Person he was offer ing the posi t ion of  

chairperson of  the board he was asking you to  look into 

ser iously at  Transnet? 

MR MKWANAZI:   As a board yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   As a board yes,  yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So was i t  apparent  to use that  Minister 

Gigaba had been holding discussions wi th Mr Gama or not? 

MR MKWANAZI:   At  the t ime no but  I  am aware that  Mr 

Gama had met  the other Minsters and even met the 

President  i f  I  recal l  based on even Ms Barbara Hogan’s 

submission.   I  was aware that  Mr Gama was running al l  over  

the show t rying to  get  sympathy f rom var ious organisat ions.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And when the Minister Gigaba told you 

that  he thought the sanct ion of  dismissal  for  Mr Gama was 

too harsh what sanct ion did he have in mind? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Oh please Advocate how could you [not  

audible] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You did not  ask him?  Or he did not  offer? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No,  no,  no.   I  d id not  ask him, he did not  

volunteer as wel l ,  no.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Got  no clue.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was i t  c lear to  you though that  Minister  

Gigaba would have been in favour of  the re instatement of  Mr 

Gama from this  discussion and his statement that  he 

considered the dismissal  too harsh? 
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MR MKWANAZI:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was that  c lear  to you? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  necessar i ly  reinstatement .   The 

quest ion was the fa i rness or unfairness of  that  process 

which I  d id then pose to my legal  advisors later on and they 

looked at  i t  f rom two ways i f  I  recal l  who was Deneys Rei tz  

the fai rness of  the process i tsel f  and they concluded that  the 

process was fai r.   And then my legal  advisors as wel l  the 

fai rness of  the sanct ion and the fact  that  the matter was now 

going through Transnet Bargaining Counci l  and therefore 10 

weighing the odds of  winning or  losing at  the Transnet  

Bargaining Counci l .   Those are the two things that  they said 

– Rei tz helped me with i f  I  recal l  and then later they helped 

to draf t  a let ter to  respond to the Publ ic Protector on some of  

the related issues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi  that  real ly does not 

answer my quest ion.   Let  me perhaps put  i t  another way. 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was i t  c lear to you further  to th is 

discussion wi th Minister Gigaba that  he at  very least  would 20 

have been in favour of  a set t lement then wi th Mr Gama? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  real ly i t  was not  c lear to me.  You need 

to understand that  in my negot iat ions wi th the sub-commit tee 

of  the board of  th is so ca l led set t lement at  some stage I  

wanted Gama to take a demot ion and at  some stage as part  
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of  the negot iat ions.   I  put  in var ious things.   I  had refused to 

offer him whatever posi t ions he thought he would get .  So I  

do not  th ink that  could have been something that  he thought  

I  would do.   But  yes I  –  as I  looked into i t  on behal f  of  the 

board I  had to look at  the fai rness,  unfai rness and the 

probabi l i ty of  winning or losing at  the Bargaining Counci l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  Mr Mkwanazi  again that  is not  what  

I  asked you.   Could we just  have a st raight  answer and then 

I  wi l l  move on.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was i t  c lear to you further  to th is 

discussion that  Mr Gigaba at  least  would have been in  favour  

of  a set t lement wi th Mr Gama yes or no? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  necessari ly a set t lement because 

[00:09:59]  f rom where I  sat  I  needed advice f rom legal  

experts on how to deal  wi th th is matter.   Because now th is 

matter was going to the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l .   So ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  the one thing which you have said Mr 

Mkwanazi  is that  Mr Gigaba did say that  the sanct ion of  

dismissal  against  Mr Gama was too harsh,  is that  correct? 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  th ink so.   I  th ink he did indicate that  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Or was harsh? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  was – he fel t  i t  was unfai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was unfai r.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Now based on what he said to you 

which you understood to be the grounds for him thinking i t  

was unfair  –  f rom what you said to  me i t  seemed clear  that  

he – i t  was impl ied that  he thought that  Mr Gama should not  

have been dismissed.   Would you agree wi th that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  would agree wi th i t  but  he did understand 

the dynamics of  a d iscip l inary process and also the 

outcomes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  no,  no.   A l l  I  am saying… 

MR MKWANAZI:   He did not  understand that .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   A l l  I  am simply saying is that  based on his  

discussion wi th you.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In regard to the matter of  Mr Gama i t  

seems that  i t  was impl ied that  his  view was that  Mr Gama 

should not  have been dismissed because you said he 

referred to – he said whi te execut ives do more ser ious – 

commit  more ser ious acts of  misconduct  and do not  get  

dismissed but  black execut ives get  dismissed even i f  they 

have done someth ing less ser ious.  20 

MR MKWANAZI:   No.   He did not  say that  he should not  

have been dismissed.   I t  was … 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no.   No.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  was quest ioning the fai rness or  

unfai rness of  the process.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hang on,  hang on.   I  just  want to make 

sure we understand.   You have not  said to me that  he sa id 

Mr – he expressly said Mr Gama should not  have been 

dismissed.   You have not  said that .   Okay.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And I  understand that  you have not  said 

that  but  what I  am put t ing to you is what seems to me to be 

what was impl ied.   But  you must  – once I  put  the proposi t ion 

to you you wi l l  indicate i f  you say you do not  share my 

thinking that  i t  was impl ied.   My… 10 

MR MKWANAZI:   No… 

CHAIRPERSON:   My – my thinking is that  i f  he says the 

dismissal  was harsh or was unfair  because – and he 

advances as the reason that  whi te execut ives do not  get  

dismissed even when they have done or commit ted more 

ser ious offences.   I t  seems to me that  he was saying i f  Mr 

Gama was a whi te execut ive he would not  have been 

dismissed.   That  seems to be impl ied to me.  Do you think I  

am being fai r  to h im? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chairman I  agree wi th your interpretat ion 20 

but  then there is  a d i fferent  interpretat ion that  then says 

even in rev iewing that  process wi th Deneys Rei tz the 

outcome could have been di fferent .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No but  at  th is stage I  just  want us to  

stay wi th what we make of  what he sa id to you that  is Mr 
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Gigaba.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So I  understood you to be saying you 

agree wi th my interpretat ion of  what seems to be impl ied.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Of  racism? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   You agree wi th that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Myburgh.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Just  so that  I  have i t  

c lear in  my mind he considered the sanct ion of  dismissal  too 

harsh,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   He did not  choose those words,  no.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  that  was the note I  took of  your 

evidence.  

MR MKWANAZI:   No unfai r  was the word.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see.   Because I  was going to… 

MR MKWANAZI:   Unfair  was the word.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Suggest  to you.  20 

MR MKWANAZI:   And therefore that  is why as wel l  when I  

br iefed Deneys Rei tz I  br iefed him on the basis of  unfairness 

on two issues.   On the process i tsel f  which they came out  

and said i t  was fai r.   And then on the sanct ion i tsel f  then 

they – they also created doubt  in view of  the fact  that  th is  



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 86 of 247 
 

th ing was now going to the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  we wi l l  come to that .   Let  me 

then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  just  wanted to say I  had also thought Mr 

Mkwanazi  had used harsh or too harsh ear l ier  on but  I  may 

be mistaken.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Let  – let  me explain where the harsh 

comes f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   When we were del iberat ing at  board in 10 

February or late January that  is  where the statement of  

harsh was coming f rom – f rom some other board members.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see… 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes that  statement did come up.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi  real ly what I  wanted to  

put  to you is that  my note ref lects that  you said that  Minister  

Gigaba said dismissal  was too harsh and I  wanted to  put  to  

you that  that  is  precisely the basis upon which the board in  a 

few months’ t ime re instated h im.  The minute says dismissal  20 

was too harsh.   Is  that  just  a coinc idence? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Maybe but  I  am aware that  the board – 

some members of  the board did propose that  and even the 

resolut ion of  the board did capture such a statement.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .   Let  me carry on wi th the 
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chronology.   So th is is a meet ing you had in October.   

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There is some reference in the … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  beg your pardon.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh p lease do not  forget .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No I  wi l l  not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   What you have in mind.   Let  me go back to 

th is issue of  harsh.   Mr Mkwanazi  – there can be no doubt 

can there by that  Mr Gigaba must  have thought that  Mr – the 10 

sanct ion of  dismissal  against  Mr Gama was too harsh.  

MR MKWANAZI:   He might  have thought that  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because h is – because the statement he 

made to you when he said whi tes commit  more ser ious acts 

of  misconduct  and do not  get  dismissed.   In the context  i t  

could only have made that  – he thought that  dismissal  was 

too harsh.  

MR MKWANAZI:   He did Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You agree? 

MR MKWANAZI:   He thought that  yes I  agree.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay al r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Chairperson.   Mr Mkwanazi  

let  us then move forward f rom October.   There is  a  statement 

in the papers that  says that :  

“The new board commenced i ts dut ies on the 
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13 December 2010” 

MR MKWANAZI:   What page is that? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  am asking you to conf i rm that  the 

new board commenced i ts dut ies on the 13 December 2010,  

is that  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Is i t  Bundle 4? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No I  am asking you.   When did you 

commence your dut ies – the new board? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  could have been December 2010. 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Or December 13.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  was actual ly  December 10.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am not  sure now. 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  somewhere in  around December 10,  13 

or thereabout? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Middle of  December.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The middle of  December? 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A lr ight  now i f  you go to Bundle 2 can I  

ask you please to turn to page 24.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Can I  go to Bundle 2?  Okay.   Page 24.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes that  is the Publ ic Protectors 
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complaint .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Okay.   Page 24.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Page 24 Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So this complaint  you receive real ly 

wi thin a week or two of  commencing your dut ies as the new 

chairperson,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry Mr Myburgh.   You made a 10 

certain point  about  the use of  the sanct ion being too harsh a 

few minutes ago.   I  just  want to fo l low up on that  before you 

proceed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Certainly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Otherwise I  forget .   Mr Mkwanazi  Mr 

Myburgh just  asked you a few minutes ago whether i t  was 

coincidental  that  you said ear l ier on that  Mr Gigaba said the 

sanct ion of  dismissal  was too harsh and we know that  later 

on you said no he said i t  was unfai r.   But  he was asking 

you… 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  was unfai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR MKWANAZI:   To me he was quest ioning the unfai rness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja you sa id that  af terwards.   He was 

asking whether i t  was just  coincidental  that  the board also 
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used the same terminology.   You have responded to that  I  am 

not  asking you to  respond to that  one.   I  want  to put  th is to  

you that…oh you want to say something? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  ja.   Say i t .  

MR MKWANAZI:   No cont inue Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay alr ight .   No I  want to say when I  

saw that  paragraph 4.3.4 of  your aff idavi t  where you say – 

where you say – have you lost  connect ion?  Mr Mkwanazi .  

MR MKWANAZI:   No I  am there Chairman.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   I  just  want you to get  set t led.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Paragraph 4.3.4.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja that  is the one we were use – we were 

referr ing to.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  have got  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So where you sa id one of  the issues that  

the Minister asked your board to look into was the issue of  

condonat ion processes in relat ion to procurement matters,  20 

deviat ions and so on.    

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So – so I  found i t  interest ing that  one of  

the issues Mr Gigaba raised at  that  f i rst  meet ing was this  

issue of  condonat ion f rom deviat ion in procurement 
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processes at  Transnet.    And the basis on which the board 

ul t imately reinstated Mr Gama was condonat ion as wel l .   Do 

you want to say something on that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman your  analysis is correct .  The 

basis was condonat ion and the fact  that  the matter now was 

going to  the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l  and there was 

doubt whether we would win the case as i t  goes to the 

Bargaining Counci l .   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  what my context  was here is Mr 

Gigaba meet ing wi th you – the f i rst  meet ing he has wi th you 10 

where he offers you the posi t ion of  Chairperson of  the board 

of  Transnet and conveys to you issues that  he must  have 

seen as issues of  pr ior i ty that  your board should look at .   He 

ra ises this issue of  condonat ion and of  course you have now 

conf i rmed that  he did discuss the Gama matter wi th  you and 

then a few months later the board.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   A few months later the board uses 

condonat ion to actual ly just i fy i ts  decision to reinstate Mr 

Gama.  So there seems to be a connect ion in my mind 20 

between his suggest ion of  condonat ion and the 

re instatement.   You agree? 

MR MKWANAZI:   There is a l ink yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   There is a l ink.   Okay thank you.   Mr 

Myburgh.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi  I  was going 

to take you to the Publ ic Protectors let ter addressed to you 

at  page 2 Bundle 2 on the 22 December 2010 a week or two? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.   I  have got  i t  in f ront  of  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A week or two af ter you took up your  

posi t ion as the new chairperson.   I  just  wanted to… 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Conf i rm that  in the second paragraph i t  

reads:  

“The compla int  al leged i r regular i t ies in procurement at  10 

Transnet.   Further that  the then Transnet board had unfai r ly  

conspired to prevent  Mr Gama from successful ly applying for 

the vacant  post  of  Group Chief  Execut ive which was about to  

vacated by Ms Maria Ramos.  In a meet ing wi th  him Mr 

Gama al leged that  the mot ive for h is suspension could only 

have been to scupper his  chances of  successful ly applying 

for the post . ”  

And then the fol lowing – and i f  you go over the page 25.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  you look at  Roman numeral  iv   20 

“That  there existed internal ly a procedure for condoning 

exceeding l imi ts in respect  of  t ransact ions etcetera. ”  

The very point  that  Mr Gigaba had raised wi th you,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now I  want  to take you please to – 
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sorry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You want to say something Mr Mkwanazi? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No,  No Chai rman nothing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   I  thought you – there was 

something you wanted to add.   Okay Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Now we know that  you 

then appointed in the next  year – ear ly in the next  year 

KPMG and Nkonki  to invest igate this complaint ,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  take you please to Bundle 1 10 

page 811,  811.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Bundle 1 page 800? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And 11.    

MR MKWANAZI:   I  have got  i t  here.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now this is  a let ter f rom KPMG and 

Nkonki  dated the 12 January 2011 set t ing out  thei r  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  wai t  for me Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  beg your pardon I  am so sorry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  have not  received the bundle yet .   Yes 20 

you may proceed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   This is  a  let ter dated the 

12 January 2011 f rom KPMG and Nkonki  where they set  out  

their  terms and condi t ions of  engagement.   Do you see that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  see that .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now that  let ter is addressed to Mr 

Mapoma General  Manager Legal  Serv ices.   I f  I  could di rect  

your at tent ion to paragraph 1 i t  says:  

“Pursuant  to our  meet ing on 11 January we conf i rm and 

thank you for request ing us etcetera.”  

Did you at tend that  meet ing on the 11 January? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  co-signed that  document.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  know that .  

MR MKWANAZI:   My signature is at  the bot tom yes.   I  do not  

recal l  i f  I  at tended i t  but  I  co-signed that  document.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Might  you have at tended the in i t ia l  

br ief ing meet ing 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.   I  do not  recal l  the meet ing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So what you presumably would agree 

is that  you asked Mr Mapoma to assist  you.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   With invest igat ing the Publ ic  

Protectors report ,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And that  is presumably why he must  20 

have at  least  have at tended this meet ing and then the let ter  

set t ing out  terms of  engagement is sent  to him.  Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can we go to the end of  that  document  

at  page 820.   You conf i rm then that  you ul t imately  signed 
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th is document.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   On the 24 January.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Mkwanazi  Mr Mapoma agrees 

wi th you that  you tasked him with assist ing him with  

responding to  the Publ ic Protectors compla int  and 

invest igat ing i t  which related to Mr Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What Mr Mapoma says is that  r ight  10 

f rom the outset  of  h is involvement in th is project  you told h im 

that  you had been instructed to reinstate Mr Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  in that  fashion.   The inst ruct ion was 

can you look at  the fai rness or  unfai rness of  the Gama 

discipl inary.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So who told you to do that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  was my understanding in terms of  the 

shareholder instruct ion.   I t  was not  invi t ing.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Was that  Mr Gigaba at  the October  

meet ing?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.   That  is 

correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So now we can add another paragraph 

to your aff idavi t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    You. . .  I  am not  sure.   Can you cont inue? 
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  so far you have told the 

Chairperson – and these are cr i t ica l ly important  th ings.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So far you have told the Chairperson 

is that  what we can add to your declarat ion is,  that  Mr 

Gigaba was of  the view that  Mr Gama’s dismissal  was too 

harsh.    

 Now, further quest ioning,  what you say can be added to 

your aff idavi t  is  also that  he asked you to rev iew the 

dismissal  of  Mr Gama, correct?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure.   Is the fai rness or  

unfai rness.   Yes,  correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Tel l  us what instruct ion he gave you,  

please.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink I  touched on i t  a l i t t le bi t  in my 

opening remark in paragraph 1.3.4.   Is that ,  he fel t  that  the 

discipl inary process on Gama was unfa ir  based on his 

assumpt ion that  whi te execut ives who did simi lar o ffences 

were never dismissed but  he did not  have facts.   He was just  

quest ioning the unfairness.    20 

 So then,  I  took that  request  to look at  unfai rness to  

Siyabola(?),  Mapoma and a lso to Deneys Rei tz.   And a lso 

knowing very wel l  that  now there was this Transnet  

Bargaining Counci l .    

 Yes,  I  d id have a meet ing wi th  Deneys Rei tz [poor  
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connect ion – unclear]  to look at  that  unfairness 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  p lease can you just  

focus on what I  am asking you?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You said just  now that  you were asked 

to review the dismissal  of  Mr Gama.    

MR MKWANAZI :    I  would not  cal l  i t  a review but  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  how would you put  i t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    . . .as a view to rev iew the fai rness or  

unfai rness of  the dismissal .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  then you and I  agree wi th one 

another.   So . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    [poor connect ion – unclear]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .Mr Gigaba asked you to do that?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And he was. . .  h is own view that  i t  was 

unfai r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Before you proceed Mr Myburgh.   You say 

Mr Mkwanazi  he asked you to or he thought that  he. . .  he sa id 

that  the process,  the discipl inary process had been unfai r  

but  you say . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    . . .what  he put ,  what he told you in support  

of  that  was how white execut ives were t reated . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .   He racial ised i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  he racial ised,  ja.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now, as I  see i t ,  that  has got  nothing to do 

wi th the process as such.   Of course,  he might  have put  i t  

that  way.   I ,  obviously,  I  was not  there.   I  do not  know.    

 So you know, a process real ly is about  whether  the 

procedure which was fol lowed was fai r.   That  is the process.    10 

 But  i t  seems to me that  as i f  h is  complaint  was that  

whi te execut ives were t reated favourable,  black execut ives 

were t reated less favourable in  relat ion to discipl inary 

matters,  i t  went  to  the substance of  the dismissal .    

 You might  be able to say yes.   You might  not  be able to  

say yes.   But  I  am just  put t ing to you what. . .  i t  looks l ike the 

reference to process might  be a wrong terminology.    

MR MKWANAZI :    The reference to process? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Because i t  is not  about  whether he 

was given a reasonable not ice as to when the discipl inary 20 

hearing wi l l  start .   I t  is not  about  whether he was given 

enough t ime to give his evidence at  the hear ing.    

 I t  is  not  about  whether he was given enough t ime to 

cross-examine wi tnesses who were impl icat ing him.  I t  is not  

about  whether he was al lowed to cal l  wi tnesses.   I t  is not  
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about  that .    

 I t  is s imply to say you are t reat ing black execut ives less 

favourable compared to whi te  execut ives when i t  comes to 

discipl inary matters.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, that  is  a good summary.   Thank 

you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay al r ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So he asked you then to look into 

fai rness of  Mr Gama's dismissal ,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chairman.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Did you feel  that  you were at  l iberty to  

refuse that  request?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Maybe not  because at  t imes,  th is could 

have been a shareholder inst ruct ion.   But  then,  that  is why I  

had to fo l low a certain process to t ry and address his  

fa i rness or unfairness.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id you construe i t  as a shareholder 

instruct ion,  yes or  no?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink i t  was.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.    20 

MR MKWANAZI :    But  having said that .   You. . .  we need to 

understand a certain technical i ty  because he was not  yet  the 

minister or end of  October.   I  th ink he became minister  

1s t  of  November 2010.   Yes.   But  I  const rued i t  as a 

shareholder request .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  but  he could have had another  

meet ing wi th you i f  you wanted.  

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   So now . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry.   One second Mr Myburgh.   I  had 

wanted to go back to that ,  the issue you have just  touched 

upon, Mr Mkwanazi .   I  wanted to ask you the quest ion 

whether at  the t ime you were meet ing wi th him, your 

recol lect ion is that  you were meet ing the. . .  somebody who 

was Minister of  Publ ic Enterpr ises al ready . . . [ intervenes]   10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  was under that  impression,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  is your recol lect ion that  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  was under that  impression,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You were under that  impression?  But  

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay al r ight .   Okay.   Thank you. 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  me take you p lease to  

Mr Mapoma’s evidence.   Could you turn to Bundle 3?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And turn up page 30.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 30.   Yes,  I  am on page 30.  

CHAIRPERSON :    When you met wi th Minister Gigaba in that  

October meet ing,  Mr Mkwanazi .   Are you able to remember 

whether he may have said to you that  he had a meet ing wi th 
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Mr Gama or he had. . .  or Mr Gama had discussed with him 

his matter?  Or is that  something you do not  remember? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Not . . .  I  do not  recal l  that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay al r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So I  wanted just  to take you to what  

Mr Mapoma had to say at  paragraph 8.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    He says:  

“ I  ment ioned in th is regard that  f rom the outset  of  

my interact ions wi th Mr Mkwanazi . . .  10 

 And we know that  they were around the Publ ic Protector  

report .  

“ . . .he made i t  c lear to me that  he had been 

instructed to reinstate Mr Gama and that  he wanted 

to f ind a way to do so cleanly.   A l though I  d id not  

consider i t  my place to ask him who had instructed  

him, I  assumed i t  must  have been the former 

President  Zuma.”  

 Now do you agree or disagree wi th th is statement?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d isagree wi th the statement in terms of  a  20 

few issues.   The word inst ructed is  too st rong a word.   The 

word that  maybe would be appropriate to review the fai rness 

of  the Gama matter.   And a lso,  the word to say that  I  assume 

that  i t  must  have been former President  Zuma.  I t  is his 

assumpt ion.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  perhaps I  can add to that .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The Chai rperson asked h im, what 

actual ly what words d id you use that  caused him to infer 

that .   And he said that  you said to him that  i t  was an 

author i ty above the minist ry.    

MR MKWANAZI :    No . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Or that  the inst ruct ion came from higher  

up.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No.   Even i f  he had said that ,  I  d id  not  say 10 

that .   And I  do not  operate. . .  I  do not  name-drop,  part icular ly  

President  Zuma.  I  do not  name-drop that  person because I  

have never met h im, et  cetera,  et  cetera.   Ja.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  wel l  that  bears out  his  version 

because you did not  name-drop.   He says you did not .   You 

did not  use the name.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  d id not ,  ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  is a fact .   You understand?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id not .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    How would Mr Mapoma had got  th is so 

wrong?  I  mean, he is a lawyer.   He is someone who you 

entrusted wi th responding to,  i t  seems to me, the most  

important  piece of  work that  landed on your desk l i teral l y  

immediately upon you becoming the chairperson.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You went out ,  you sought his advice 

and assistance.   You obviously thought  of  h im highly.   How 

does he get  th is wrong?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  he got  i t  completely wrong.   He real ly 

got  i t  completely wrong.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  was close to Mr Mapoma.   Let  me admit 

that ,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  he did say that  as wel l .   So that  10 

you. . .  the two of  you ended up being qui te  close.   So he is 

r ight  about  that .  

MR MKWANAZI :    He is correct .   You need to understand the 

[poor connect ion – unclear]  environment when that  board 

came in.   We must have interacted as board wi th  Mr Mapoma 

in a per iod of  maybe three months on 40 to 50 legal  matters.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And on al l  of  these,  we kept  on working 

wi th him.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    And a lso request ing him to consul t  other 

lawyers to help us as a board to  look into certain  th ings.   

There were many,  many matters.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And what is interest ing as wel l .   For some 
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reason,  I  do not  have records of  the January interact ions 

that  the board had with Mr Mapoma. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And of  course,  [poor connect ion – unclear]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  before Mr Myburgh cont inues.   I  note 

that  in paragraph 8,  you did not  take issue wi th Mr Mapoma’s 

statement where he said,  you said you wanted to f ind a way 

to do so cleanly.   So you took issue wi th his use of  the word 10 

instructed.   And of  course,  his assumpt ion that  you had been 

instructed by former President  Zuma.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So you might  have passed that  part  of  

saying:   I  want  to do this cleanly.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Let  me indicate that  the inst ruct ion was to 

rev iew, not  reinstate.   And also,  the word c leanly is  almost  

l ike legal ly.   Looking through the legal i t ies of  the issues.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   So where he says,  you said 

you wanted to do this cleanly.   You have no problem with 20 

that  as long as i t  is understood that  c leanly refers to 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Meant legal ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  we have 

seen that  there was a meet ing wi th KPMG . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry Mr Myburgh.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  thought you were. . .  I  was watching 

whether you are going to take this up.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  just  

now you also said what you were inst ructed to do was to 

rev iew.  So I  th ink that  we can accept  that  you are saying 

whatever i t  is you were to do,  i t  was a resul t  of  an 10 

instruct ion.   Is that  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    The review, yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   So your query is.   I t  was not . . .  

i t  was not  an instruct ion reinstate Mr Gama? 

MR MKWANAZI :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was inst ruct ion to review his case? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  just  want to ask you,  

why again,  why did you not  deal  wi th th is in your  20 

declarat ion?  Because one of  the quest ions you were asked 

to address was whether the set t lement was inf luenced by 

any member of  cabinet?  Do you not  th ink i t  would have been 

necessary for you to explain?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is why I  was indicat ing that  there was 
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a supplementary aff idavi t  which I  had prepared many weeks 

ago and i t  was si t t ing wi th my legal  advisor so that  they 

rev iew i t  and I  submit  i t .   I  would have touched on those 

points there.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  let  us just  deal  wi th i t  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So I  take i t  that  -  and you must te l l  me i f  I  

misunderstand your evidence – I  take i t  that  as you give 

evidence today,  you are able to answer that  quest ion which 

was in the let ter f rom the Commission,  by saying:   Yes,  there 10 

was . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I t . . .  that  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .a member of  cabinet  inf luenced the 

set t lement.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do want to submit . . .  I  st i l l  want  to submit  

a supplementary aff idavi t  which covers some of  the points 

that  I  know I  c lear ly had not  addressed . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    . . . in terms of  a memo I  got  on the 

28t h of  July,  i f  I  recal l .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  I  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  would l ike to do i t ,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no.   I  understand that  part .   I  am just  

basical ly put t ing to you the quest ion that  was in the let ter.   

Is there a cabinet  member who inf luenced the set t lement? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    No,  not  to my knowledge.  No.   No. 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  in fact  what you were asked Mr 

Mkwanazi  is whether there was any member of  cabinet  who 

played any role di rect ly or indi rect ly in the matter being 

set t led? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes,  ja.   Thank you,  Mr Myburgh.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja,  i f  you pose the quest ion that  way.   

Then def in i te ly  Mr Gigaba in my in teract ion wi th him end of  

October played the role that  says:   Can you review this  

matter?  But  not  necessari ly  the actual  set t lement 10 

agreement.   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then why did you,  in fact  

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    No . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am sorry.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no.   I  do not  have anything.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Why did you not  put  that  in your 

declarat ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  d id indicate that  there is a  20 

supplementary aff idavi t  coming.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  but  Mr Mkwanazi  in your  

declarat ion you answered that  quest ion in the negat ive.   You 

cannot get  out  o f  th is by saying you are going to  put  up 

another aff idavi t .    
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MR MKWANAZI :    In my declarat ion,  I  do indicate that  I  d id  

meet Minister  Gigaba on a certain date.   And also,  in the 

declarat ion that  you have,  I  d id not  address al l  the matters 

you raised in a memo of  the 28t h of  July.   I  have got  a draf t .   

I t  is s i t t ing wi th my lawyer r ight  now. 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Chairperson,  I  see that  i t  is one 

o’clock.   I f  th is is a convenient  t ime? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes.   We wi l l  take the lunch 

adjournment and we wi l l  resume at  two o’clock.   We adjourn.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Mr Chai rman.  10 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i rman.   Mr  

Mkwanaz i?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate ,  I  am here .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Good.   Jus t  be fore  lunch I  was about  

to  ask  you,  we have es tab l i shed tha t  KPMG were  

approached on the  11  January  2011 …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Which  bund le  i s  i t?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  no ,  no ,  i t  i s  no t  in  any bund le ,  i t  

i s  someth ing  we have been over.   You w i l l  remember  tha t  

the i r  engagement  le t te r  re f lec ts  tha t  they were  f i rs t  

approach on the  11  January  2011.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  I  jus t  wanted to  ask  you,  i s  d id  

you approach Deneys Re i tz  and Mr  Sbu Gule  a t  about  the  

same t ime?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink  so ,  jus t  a f te r,  towards the  end o f  

the  month .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Towards the  end o f  what?  

MR MKWANAZI :    O f  January.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you say  i t  was e i ther  a t  the  same 

t ime or  la te r  in  the  month?  

MR MKWANAZI :    La ter  in  the  month ,  I  th ink .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And how d id  you come to  appo in t  

Sbu Gule  f rom Deneys Re i tz?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Do not  fo rge t  tha t  bes ides the  KPMG 

repor t  there  were  o ther  repor t s  tha t  I  was pr iv i leged to  a t  

the  t ime.   That  re la ted  to  what  you can ca l l  Transnet  

in te rna l  aud i t  repor t s ,  one or  two wh ich  I  may not  have 

r igh t  now.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you fee l  tha t  you have answered  

my quest ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Can you repeat?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How d id  come to  appo in t  Mr  Sbu  

Gule  o f  Deneys Re i tz ,  why d id  you go to  h im? 

MR MK WANAZI :    Oh.   Le t  me exp la in  i t  tha t  when th is  

mat te r  s ta r ted  i nd ica t ing  tha t  the  mat te r  must  now go to  

the  Transnet  barga in ing  counc i l ,  tha t  was then bu t  I  on ly  
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appo in ted  Sbu Gule  fa i r l y  la te  in  January  bu t  tha t  mat te r  o f  

th is  th ing  go ing  to  the  Transnet  barga in ing  counc i l  was  

a l ready there  as  ear l y  as  2010 or  October.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  rea l l y  what  I  am 

get t ing  a t  i s  th i s .   There  are  hundreds o f  a t to rneys in  

Johannesburg .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How d id  you come to  appo in t  Mr  Sbu  

Gule  o f  Deneys Re i tz?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  must  have  adv ised by  Mr  Mapoma 10 

because I  rough ly  –  I  am aware  tha t  he  was runn ing  w i th  a  

b ig  pane l  o f  lawyers  tha t  can do work  a t  Transnet .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you must  have been adv ised by  

Mr  Mapoma? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   I t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  a re  you su re  tha t  you were  no t  

adv ised by  Mr  Mah langu the  spec ia l  adv i ser  to  Min is te r  

G igaba?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  cou ld  have been as  we l l  bu t  I  do  no t  

reca l l  because my l inkages on lega l  i ssues were  a lways  20 

w i th  Mr  Mapoma.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  le t  me then take  you p lease to  

bund le  1 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  1 ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 170.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Page 170.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The a f f idav i t  s ta r ts  a t  169.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You know Mr  Mah langu?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  know Mr  Mah langu.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You knew h im as the  spec ia l  adv i se r  

to  Min i s te r  G igaba.  

MR MKWANAZI :    To  the  m in is te r,  tha t  i s  co r rec t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He says a t  page 170,  parag raph 7 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    “Due to  the  passage o f  t ime I   

cannot  reca l l  the  exact  reason fo r  contex t  o f  my 

d iscuss ion  w i th  MKWANAZI .   He confer red  w i th  me 

on a  var ie ty  o f  mat te rs  in  my capac i ty  as  spec ia l  

adv iser  to  the  Min is te r  and in  h is  capac i ty  as  

Cha i rperson o f  Transnet  on  th ings tha t  he  needed 

me to  convey to  the  Min is te r  in fo rmal ly  o r  p r i o r  to  

any fo rmal  p rocess.   I  reca l l  tha t  dur ing  my 

conversa t ion  w i th  MKWANAZI ,  I  adv ised tha t  i t  was 

prudent  fo r  Transnet  to  seek lega l  adv i ce  on  the  20 

company ’s  p roposed course  o f  ac t ion .   We 

d iscussed a  few opt ions on  eminent  labour  lawyers  

tha t  he  cou ld  consu l t .   One o f  the  names tha t  came 

up is  tha t  o f  Mr  Sbu Gule  who a t  the  t ime was a 

par tner  o r  d i rec tor  a t  Deneys Re i tz ,  now Nor ton  
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Rose.   I  o f fe red  suggest ions  because o f  my 

fami l ia r i t y  w i th  the  lega l  p ro fess ion .   I t  a l l  remained 

w i th  the  Cha i rman on how he in tended to  p roceed. ”  

Do you reca l l  tha t  d iscuss ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink  i t  cou ld  have happened,  tha t  i s  

cor rec t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  wha t  we have he re  is  the 

m in is te r,  as  you  put  i t ,  ins t ruc t i ng  you to  under take a  

rev iew o f  Mr  Gama’s  case and you  then landed up w i th  the  

a t to rney sugges ted to  you by  the  m in is te r ’s  spec ia l  10 

adv iser,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now what  I  want  to  then take  you to  

i s  the  cha in  o f  communica t ion  be tween the  spec ia l  adv iser  

and Mr  G igaba.   Can you p lease tu rn  to  page 178? 

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  the  same bund le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  the  same bund le ,  Mr  Cha i rpe rson.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  178,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  th is  i s  an  emai l  f rom Mr  

Mah langu to  Min is te r  G igaba.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And the  second bu l le t  po in t  says –  

and tha t  emai l ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you wou ld  have seen is  da ted  

as  ear ly  as  the  18  January.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    The second  bu l le t  po in t  says :  

“ I  unders tand tha t  Transnet  may be near ing  a  

se t t lement  w i th  Gama.   I  w i l l  ob ta in  the  de ta i l s  o f  

the  se t t lement  and br ie f  you accord ing ly.  I  suggest  

tha t  you soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and h is  key a ides 

( fo rmal  and in fo rmal )  on  the  p roposed se t t lement  .  

I t  i s  in tended tha t  the  fo r thcoming board  shou ld  

cons ider  and author i se  i t . ”  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  tha t  s ta tement .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you were  near ing  se t t lement ,  10 

were  you,  as  ear l y  as  the  18  January.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  no t  ca l l  i t  se t t lement  because  

f i rs t  I  wou ld  have  had to  go  th rough a  rev iew.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh,  my a t ten t ion  

was on some o ther  page on another  bund le .   Jus t  remind 

me the  page on th is  bund le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The page is  178,  Mr  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    178?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f . . .?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  bund le  1 ,  i t  i s  the  second bu l le t  

po in t .   Th is  spec ia l  adv ise r,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  repor ts  to  h is  

boss,  the  m in is te r,  tha t  he  unders tands tha t  Transnet  i s  

near ing  a  se t t lement  w i th  Gama on  the  18  January.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  what  i s  wr i t ten ,  yes .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  you sa id  you read f rom what  

bu l le t  po in t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The second  bu l le t  po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.   Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  a  ve ry  t roub l ing  emai l .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  know,  I  want  you to  answer  to  

what  he  says.  10 

MR MK WANAZI :    No,  tha t  s ta tement  i s  tak ing  the  mat te r  

ahead o f  where  i t  was.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Where  you [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

MR MKWANAZI :    The mat te r  was maybe a  week away f rom 

tha t  da te  because the  mat te r  had to  be  dea l t  w i th  by  

Deneys Re i tz  and  Mapoma in  te rms o f  my unders tand ing  o f  

what  I  was t ry ing  to  do  or  what  the  ins t ruc t ion  m ight  have 

been to  rev iew.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  Mr  Mah langu says tha t  20 

he  had conversa t ions and d iscuss ions w i th  you.   Where  

wou ld  have got  th is  f rom,  i f  he  d id  no t  ge t  i t  f rom you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    He wou ld  have  got  i t  f rom me tha t  the  

mat te r  i s  go ing  to  be  looked in to  by  the  f i rm and a lso  by  Mr  

Mapoma and the  board .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  he  fa lse ly  repor ts  to  the  

m in is te r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja  bu t  tha t  i s  jus t  p remature  in  my 

in te rpre ta t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  i t  i s  a  fa lse  repor t  tha t  he  

makes to  the  m in is te r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    To  a  cer ta in  ex ten t ,  as  i t  s tands here ,  i t  

i s  p remature .   He cou ld  have sa id  tha t  towards the  end o f  

January  a f te r  I  had in te rac ted  the  ex terna l  lega l  adv ice .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  i f  i t  i s  p rematu re  then i t  i s  10 

fa lse ,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s  fa lse .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .   Mr  Mah langu w i l l  come and g ive  

ev idence on Monday.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then we w i l l  see  what  he  has to  

say bu t  ce r ta in ly  on  the  face  o f  i t  what  he  repor t s  to  the  

m in is te r  i s  tha t  you have a l ready dec ided,  have you not ,  to  

re ins ta te  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  we have not .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    . . . to  se t t le  Mr  Gama,  even  before  

you had approached your  board . ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  we had not  dec ided.   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  when  you say tha t  what  Mr  

Mah langu says in  tha t  second bu l le t  po in t  was prematu re  
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a re  you say ing  tha t  what  he  says  was the  pos i t ion  a t  tha t  

t ime was not  the  pos i t ion  or  a re  you say ing  i t  may have  

been the  pos i t ion  or  was the  pos i t ion  bu t  tha t  was not  the  

r igh t  t ime fo r  h im to  s ta r t  te l l ing  the  m in is te r  about  i t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Do not  fo rge t  even though we cou ld  have  

d iscussed a  law  f i rm,  I  cou ld  on ly  do  a  law f i rm issue  

th rough Mr  Mapoma and we on ly  met  w i th  tha t  law f i rm -

tha t  b r ie fed  tha t  law f i rm,  i f  I  am not  m is taken,  a f te r  tha t  

da te .   So tha t  i s  why I  say  h i s  conc lus ion  is  ser ious l y  

p remature .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    But ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  how cou ld  he  jus t  say  

to  h is  m in i s te r,  who is  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises  and to  

the  ex ten t  tha t  you say the  m in is te r,  Mr  G igaba,  had 

ins t ruc ted  you to  rev iew Mr  Gama’s  case -  to  the  ex ten t  

tha t  tha t  i s  so  or  maybe so ,  then i t  wou ld  be  l i ke ly  tha t  Mr  

Mah langu wou ld  know about  tha t .    

Now i f  he  then repor ts  to  h is  m in is te r  on  the  18  

January,  tha t  he  unders tood tha t  Transnet  was near ing  a  

se t t lement  w i th  Mr  Gama and i f  tha t  was not  the  pos i t ion ,  

why wou ld  he  jus t  ge t  –  dec ide  to  te l l  h is  m in is te r  20 

someth ing  tha t  he  had no bas is  fo r?   What  wou ld  be  h is  

in te res t  in  te l l ing  the  m in i s te r  tha t  he  unders tood  tha t  a  

se t t lement  was looming i f  ac tua l l y  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no ,  no .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  was not  in  the  …[ in tervenes]  
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MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure  –  Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  

unders tand what  Mah langu was ind ica t ing .   Yes,  he  d id  

suggest  the  law f i rms,  Sbu Gule ,  and then I  in te rac ted  w i th  

Mapoma because  I  do  no t  dea l  w i th  the  law f i rm issues and 

a  meet ing  was then se t  up  be tween myse l f ,  Mapoma and  

tha t  law f i rm to  t ry  and address th is  m in is te r ’s  ins t ruc t ion  

o f  was th is  p rocess un fa i r.    

 So  yes,  I  d id  mee t  Sbu Gule  bu t  a t  a  la te r  da te  than 

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   And Mr  Mah langu h imse l f ,  had you 10 

had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  h im before  th is  da te  about  the  Gama 

mat te r  whethe r  in  a  meet ing  or  in  a  te lephone  

conversa t ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  cou ld  have been in  a  te lephone  

because I  go t  the  recommendat ion  o f  Sbu Gule  as  a  

spec ia l i s t  lawyer  because a l ready I  was ask ing  around.   So 

i t  cou ld  have been a  few weeks before  and then he 

suggested Sbu Gule  and th rough tha t  Mr  Mapoma and 

myse l f  approached Sbu Gule  and we d iscussed the  mat te r  

bu t  tha t  was fa r  la te r  than the  18  January.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  what  I  am ta lk ing  about ,  p r io r  to  

the  18  January  had you had any d i scuss ion  w i th  Mr  

Mah langu whether  in  a  meet ing  or  in  a  te lephone 

conversa t ion  about  the  Gama mat te r?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  m igh t  have.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Migh t  have.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Because you  need to  unders tand the  

funny dynamic  w i th  these spec ia l  adv isers ,  they phone you  

any t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   D id  he  phone you  qu i te  

regu lar ly,  Mr  Mah langu,  by  any chance?  

MR MKWANAZI :    He d id .   He d id ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And wou ld  he  ask  about  Mr  Gama’s  

mat te r  somet imes? 

MR MKWANAZI :    And o ther  mat te rs ,  yes ,  he  d id .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  okay,  a l r i gh t .   Thank you.   A t  the 

da te  o f  the  18  January,  tha t  i s  the  da te  on  wh ich  he  was 

wr i t ing  to  the  m in is te r. . .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  to  h is  m in is te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you reca l l  whether  you had done 

qu i te  some homework  on  th is  Gama mat te r?   Remember,  

the  m in i s te r  had  ra ised i t  w i th  you fo r  th i s  f i rs t  t ime in  

October  o f  2010?   We are  now about  m id-January.   Do you  

reca l l  whethe r  you had done qu i te  some work  to  t ry  and  

unders tand what  the  issues were  and to  fo rm a  v iew one 20 

way o r  another  as  to  whether  th is  un fa i rness tha t  the  

m in is te r  was ta l k ing  about  in  October  m ight  be  we l l -

founded or  no t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  i t  i s  no t  what  you wou ld  ca l l  

lega l  work ,  i t  was request ing  in fo rmat ion  in  the  
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o rgan isa t ion  about  cer ta in  mat te rs  o f  p rocu rement  re la t ing  

to  what  you can  ca l l  no t  fo l low ing p rocesses o f  p roper  

p rocu rement  and there  were  a  coup le  o f  repor ts  a l ready i n  

the  organ isa t ion .   One was a  2008 repor t  and i t  cou ld  have 

been another  repor t  wh ich  were  address ing  these  

procurement  i r regu lar i t ies .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You ta lk  abou t  repor t s  tha t  you had  

asked fo r  and had reached you?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  asked fo r  ins ide  the  organ isa t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    And I  d id  ge t  a t  the  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And yes,  I  d id  have some repor t s .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And by  tha t  t ime you wou ld  have read  

some o f  them,  some o f  those repor ts?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  in  de ta i l  because they were  fa i r l y  b ig  

repor ts ,  on  ave rage maybe 100 pages each and done by 

Transnet  in te rna l  aud i t ,  so  they were  fa i r l y  de ta i l ed .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

MR MK WANAZI :    Bu t  they d id  ar t i cu la te  what  you can ca l l  20 

procu rement  i r regu la r i t ies  tha t  had taken p lace no t  jus t  – 

tha t  one repor t  I  reca l l  spoke to  2008 or  was pub l i shed in  

2008.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MKWANAZI :    And the  o ther  cou ld  have been another  
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repor t  bu t  I  have  asked fo r  those  repor t s ,  funny enough,  

recent ly,  and nobody is  g iv ing  me tha t  repor t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So do you reca l l  whether  by  m id-

January  you might  have fo rmed a  v iew on your  own on  

whethe r  there  was some unfa i rness on  Mr  Gama’s  

d ismissa l  even i f  tha t  was not  based on l ega l  adv i ce ,  jus t  

fo r  you own sense o f  fa i rness?  Do you remember  whethe r  

you might  have got  to  tha t  po in t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    On the  d i smissa l  mat te r,  as  I  i nd ica te  

somewhere ,  I  d id  no t  see any un fa i rness.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  what  I  was look ing  fo r  was were  

there  s im i la r  th ings done in  the  organ isa t ion .   That  i s  why 

tha t  repor t  ta lks  to  Transnet  p rocurement  –  the  t i t le  i s  

i r regu lar  Transne t  p rocurement  o f  o f f i cer  in  t ime per iod .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR MKWANAZI :    So  i t  was  more  on  the  i r regu lar  

p rocu rement  i ssues.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  okay.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  on  the  un fa i rness o f  the  d ismissa l ,  20 

e tce te ra ,  e tce te ra ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  perhaps I  

can jus t  ask  you aga in ,  I  mean,  i s  i t  poss ib le  tha t  Mr  

Mah langu cou ld  have jus t  made th is  up?  I  mean,  how?  
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Very  s t range.  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  am not  sure ,  hopefu l l y  he  w i l l  answer.   

He is  coming next  week and he w i l l  answer.   But  yes ,  he  

d id  adv ise  me to  ta lk  to  Sbu Gule  and I  d iscussed tha t  w i th  

Mr  [ ind is t inc t ]  20 .23  Maponya(? )  and we met  w i th  Sbu Gule  

a t  a  pa r t i cu la r  t ime and we d iscussed va r ious th ings w i th  

Sbu Gule .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  you are  ve ry  good a t  

camouf lag ing  and  ta lk ing  about  th ings tha t  a re  no t  re la ted  

to  my quest ion .   I t  wou ld  be  very  s t range behav iou r,  wou ld  10 

i t  no t  be ,  fo r  a  spec ia l  adv iser  to  make up someth ing  and 

repor t  i t  to  h is  m in is te r.   I t  wou ld ,  wou ld  i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  cannot  ta lk  fo r  Mr  Mah langu.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  yes ,  we met  regu lar ly,  we spoke over  

the  phone.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  le t  us  move on to  someth ing  

e lse .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  one sec be fore  you move  on,  Mr  

Myburgh.   Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  I  asked you about  ten  m inutes  ago 20 

about  whether  Mr  Mah langu d id  regu la r ly  ca l l  you  

…[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  he  d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And whether  he  d iscussed Mr  Gama’s  

mat te r  and you sa id  yes,  you d id .   Now Mr  Mapoma gave  
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ev idence and sa id  tha t  Mr  Mah langu d id  a lso  ca l l  h im about  

the  Gama mat te r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And he sa id  he  ca l led  h im tw ice .   He 

sa id  i n  the  f i rs t  te lephone conversa t ion  he  was not  

p ressur i s ing  h im to  do  anyth ing  bu t  he  was enqu i r ing  about  

p rogress in  the  Gama mat te r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .   Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  he  says when he ca l led  h im  fo r  the  

second t ime,  Mr  Mah langu was de f in i te ly  pu t t ing  pressure  10 

on h im say ing  tha t  Transnet  was de lay ing  or  he ,  Mr  

Mah langu,  was de lay ing  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama or  

the  se t t lement ,  I  am not  sure ,  bu t  he  sa id  he  put  p ressure  

on  h im and he had to  be  f i rm wi th  h im and te l l  h im tha t  he  

must  s top  do ing  tha t .   He was no t  repor t ing  to  h im or  the  

m in is te r  and he says he  repor ted  th is  to  you,  I  do  no t  know 

whethe r  the  fo l low ing morn ing ,  because he suspected tha t  

Mr  Mah langu might  te l l  the  m in is te r  and the  m in is te r  m ight  

ca l l  you .    Do you reca l l  h im have ment ioned – or  hav ing  

rece ived any ca l l s  f rom Mr  Mah langu about  the  Gama 20 

mat te r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  in  te rms o f  adv i ce  wh ich  lega l  f i rm 

to  look  in to  as  one o f  the  lega l  f i rms wh ich  adv ice  I  then 

d iscussed w i th  Mr  Mapoma and  Mapoma then se t  up  a  

meet ing  fo r  me to  meet  Deneys Re i tz  o r  someth ing ,  yes .  
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Bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  Mr  Mah langu g i v ing  me feedback  tha t  he 

has spoken to  Mapoma,  I  do  no t  reca l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  no ,  no t  Mr  Mah langu.   My  

quest ion  was whether  you have  any reco l lec t ion  o f  Mr  

Mapoma repor t ing  to  you or  ment ion ing  to  you tha t  Mr  

Mah langu had ca l led  h im about  the  Gama mat te r  and they  

are  t r y ing  to  pu t  p ressure  on  h im and he had to  ta l k  f i rm ly  

to  h im.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Mr  Mapoma might  have sa id  so ,  I  do  no t  

reca l l .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Do not  reca l l ,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  yes ,  I  d id  speak to  Mr  Mapoma 

actua l l y  once eve ry  two days.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Dur ing  conversa t ion ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  then wanted to  move onto  –  so  th is  

i s  on  the  18  January.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  us  move to  the  21  January  and  20 

cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  f i le  3 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    F i le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    F i le  3 ,  page  105.  

MR MK WANAZI :    Bund le  3 ,  okay.   I  have got  i t ,  what  

page?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    105.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay,  I  have got  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So you see towards the  foo t  o f  the  

page i t  i s  an  ema i l  f rom Mr  Se l inga to  Mr  Todd a t  Bowman 

Gi l f i l l an .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  summary what  Mr  Todd is  

to ld ,  i f  you  go over  the  page a t  106.   106 says:  10 

“ I  conf i rm tha t  the  Act ing  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  and 

Cha i rman o f  the  board  o f  Transnet ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  

has ins t ruc ted  as  fo l lows:  

1 .  That  any sa le  in  execut ion  o f  the  shares or  any  

proper ty  be long ing  to  Mr  Gama a t tached pursuant  

to  the  a forement ioned war ran t  o f  execut ion  be  

cance l led  fo r thwi th . ”  

That  was the  war ran t  o f  execut ion  fo r  the  costs  in  the  H igh  

Cour t .   And:  

2 .  That  the  shares or  any proper ty  a t tached  20 

pursuant  to  the  a foresa id  be  immedia te l y  

re leased on jud ic ia l  a t tachment .  

3 .  That  the  war ran t  o f  execut ion  issued in  th is  

mat te r  be  he ld  in  abeyance  unt i l  fu r ther  

ins t ruc t ions. ”  
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And then under  t ha t :  

“Regard ing  Mr  Gama’s  appea l…”  

Which  is  rea l l y  the  barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion .  

“…aga ins t  the  dec i s ion  o f  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  

tha t  i s  se t  down fo r  hear ing  be fo re  the  ba rga in ing  

counc i l  on  Monday the  24 t h ,  your  i ns t ruc t ions are  to  

postpone the  mat te r  s ine  d ie ,  to  a l low negot ia t ions  

be tween the  pa r t ies  to  run  the i r  course . ”  

Do you see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  see tha t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  here  on  Fr iday the  21  January  

you put  a  ha l t  to  Transnet  recover ing  i t s  cos ts  in  te rms o f  a  

H igh  Cour t  o rde r.   Why?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id  ins t ruc t  Se l inga in  v iew o f  the  fac t  

tha t  I  wanted to  en ter ta in  th i s  meet ing  w i th  th is  o the r  

company to  look  a t  the  mat te r  o f  th is  un fa i rness tha t  was 

ra ised by  the  shareho lde r.   That  i s  why I  d id  –  jus t  t o  pu t  a  

s top  in to  i t  un t i l  Deneys Re i tz  and o thers  have looked in to  

th is  mat te r.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  th is  –  the  H igh  20 

Cour t  l i t i ga t ion  preceded the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  and the  

d ismissa l .   And there  was a  cour t  o rde r  wh ich  was be ing  

executed in  favour  o f  Transnet .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why on ear th  wou ld  you want  to  
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become invo lved  in  tha t  and put  a  s top  to  tha t?   I t  was  

money tha t  was owed to  Transnet .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  d id  bu t  I  wanted to  exp lo i t  a lmost  

the  shareho lder  ins t ruc t ion  o f  i s  th is  un fa i r,  e tce te ra ,  and 

in  v iew o f  t ime I  had not  ye t  met  Deneys Re i tz  to  look  in to  

tha t  mat te r.   Yes ,  I  d id  request  tha t  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you d id  th is  –  i f  I  unders tand  

your  ev idence cor rec t l y,  in  acqu i t t ing  yourse l f  o f  the  

shareho lder  ins t ruc t ion ,  tha t  i s  what  you have sa id ,  10 

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Can you repeat?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You have sa id  tha t  you put  a  s top  to  

th is  …[ in tervenes ]  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  so  do ing  you acqu i t ted  

yourse l f  o f  the  shareho lder  ins t ruc t ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    To  rev iew the  un fa i rness or  fa i rness o f  

tha t  p rocess,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  the  shareho lder  ins t ruc t ion  20 

re la ted  to  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l  a t  a  d isc ip l inary  hear ing ,  

th is  i s  H igh  Cour t  p roceed ings tha t  were  engaged in  a  year  

be fore  where  Mr  Gama los t  comprehens ive ly  and then  

sought  leave to  appea l  and tha t  was re fused but  somehow 

you found i t  to  be  your  p lace  to  pu t  th is  on  ho ld .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id  pu t  i t  on  ho ld ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you consu l t  w i th  your  board  or  

d id  you fee l  comfor tab le  in  tak ing  th is  dec i s ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  fe l t  comfor tab le  in  tak ing  th is  dec i s ion ,  

I  d id  no t  consu l t  w i th  the  board  on  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  –  and you a lso  then put  a  s top  to  

the  arb i t ra t ion  wh ich  was go ing  to  happen on the  Monday 

the  24 t h .  

MR MKWANAZI :    To  postpone,  yes .   I t  has  no t  pu t  a  s top  

to  postpone so  tha t  I  rev iew th is  request  o f  un fa i rness or  10 

whatever  i t  was,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  what  I  do  no t  unders tand is  a  

p ro fess iona l  body was go ing  to  under take an arb i t ra t ion  

and ru le  on  tha t  very  quest ion  w i th in  a  few days,  why d id  

you a l low tha t  to  happen?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  needed to  be  sa t is f ied  in  address ing  

what  I  ca l led  tha t  shareho lde r  request  o f  look ing  to  the  

un fa i rness o f  tha t  p rocess.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  i f  i t  was unfa i r  then 

the  arb i t ra to r  wou ld  have ru led  on  i t .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes there  was  th is  new reques t  wh ich  

was say ing  p lease look in to  the  un fa i rness o r  fa i rness o f  

th is  p rocess and  in  o rder  to  do  tha t  I  have got  to  consu l t  

some lega l  op in ion  or  f i rm and unfor tunate ly  the  ca lendar  

o f  events  were  such tha t  my consu l ta t ion  cou ld  on ly  take  
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p lace  towards the  end o f  the  mon th  so  tha t  i s  why I  had to  

request  tha t  they s top  these processes unt i l  I  had 

consu l ted  Deneys  Re i tz .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .   A l r igh t  we l l  tha t  was  on the 

Fr iday and we can see tha t  you were  busy because  on the  

Saturday you then engaged in  a  negot ia t ion  w i th  Mr  Gama 

d idn ’ t  you,  you wasted l i t t le  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe before  tha t  Mr  Myburgh can I  just  

go  back to  the  issue o f  s topp ing  the  execut ion .   Mr  

Mkwanaz i  the  process tha t  you ins t ruc ted  Bowman Gi l f i l l an  10 

A t to rneys to  s top  tha t  i s  the  process o f  recover ing  f rom Mr  

Gama lega l  cos ts  tha t  the  H igh  Cour t  had o rdered h im to  

pay to  Transnet ,  tha t  p rocess cou ld  no t  poss ib l y  have  

anyth ing  to  do  w i th  whether  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l  was fa i r  

o r  no t .   That  was  –  tha t  o rder  wh ich  was made in  favour  o f  

Transnet  by  a  H igh  Cour t  Judge was an order  made 

because the  H igh  Cour t  conc luded tha t  when Mr  Gama 

launched an app l i ca t ion  to  the  H igh  Cour t  seek ing  a  cer ta in  

o rder  aga ins t  Transnet  and the  d i rec to rs  he  had no  proper  

g rounds he had  no case,  tha t  i s  why the  H igh  Cour t  20 

d ismissed h is  app l i ca t ion  and ordered h im to  pay costs  in  

favour  o f  Transnet  and i t s  d i rec to rs .   That  was an 

app l i ca t ion  wh ich  happened before  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  

began.   

 So I  cannot  see how i t  cou ld  have had any bear ing  
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on  whether  h i s  d i smissa l  was fa i r  o r  no t .   A re  you ab le  to  

see tha t  i t  cou ld  have had some bear ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  unders tand what  you are  

say ing  and there  is  –  bu t  then f rom my look ing  a t  the  Gama 

mat te r  and maybe look ing  a t  some e lements  o f  h i s  cont rac t  

o f  employment  I  don ’ t  know i f  i t  i s  l inked but  yes  I  

unders tand your  i n te rp re ta t ion  o f  the  cour t  judgment  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  o f  cou rse  maybe in  your  favour  

I  can say tha t  a t  th is  s tage we  are  ta lk ing  about  what  

seems to  have been an ins t ruc t ion  to  tempora r i l y  s top  tha t  10 

process so  tha t  m ight  –  we l l  maybe up to  a  cer ta in  leve l  

one can unders tand i f  you sa id  I  d idn ’ t  unders tand what  i s  

go ing  on ,  maybe  le t  i t  s top ,  bu t  when you la te r  on  then 

don ’ t  say  cont inue tha t  i s  what  we w i l l  dea l  w i th  in  due 

course .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   So tha t  i s  the  Fr iday,  

le t ’s  go  to  the  Sa turday.   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  

Bund le  2 .  

COUNSEL FOR MR MKWANAZI :    Excuse me Cha i r  be fore  

. . . [ ind is t inc t  –  aud io  fau l t y ]  f i ve  m inute  comfor t  b reak jus t  20 

to  he lp  ou rse lves .     

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  the  recept ion  is  very  poor  when you  

speak Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  the  lawyer.  

COUNSEL FOR MR MK WANAZI :   Oh I  see Cha i r  apo log ies  

fo r  tha t  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  I  was jus t  ask ing  fo r  a  f i ve  m inute  
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comfor t  b reak.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I  cannot  hear,  I  hear  you a re  ask ing 

fo r  someth ing  bu t  I  don ’ t  hear  what  i t  i s  you are  ask ing  fo r.  

COUNSEL FOR MR MKWANAZI :    . . . [ Ind is t inc t ]  f i ve  m inute  

indu lgence,  a  comfor t  b reak i f  poss ib le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Were  you ask ing  fo r  a  b reak?  

COUNSEL FOR MR MK WANAZI :    f i ve  m inute  comfor t  

b reak Cha i r  yes  p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay a l r igh t ,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cer ta in ly.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  take  a  f ive  m inute  break,  okay we  

w i l l  take  a  f i ve  m inute  ad jou rnment ,  we ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    . . .page 3  o f  Bund le  2 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Wai t  Bund le  2 ,  can we go back .  Sor ry  

bund le  2 ,  I  be l ieve  th is  i s  the  one  yes .   Yes I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th i s  i s  a  consu l ta t ion  no te  o f  your  

a t to rneys.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  a  meet ing  he ld  a t  n ine  o ’ c lock  on  

Saturday the  22 n d  o f  January.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 2  says Temba Langa and  

S iyabonga Gama were  a l so  in  a t tendance but  we in i t ia ted  a  
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caucus meet ing  S ibo ,  Mr  Mapoma,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  and 

myse l f ,  myse l f  be ing  S ibo  Sango l i ,  do  you reca l l  a t tend ing  

th is  meet ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The next  paragraph says du r ing  the  

course  o f  tha t  d iscuss ion  Mr  Mapoma conf i rmed tha t  the  

proposa l  tha t  had  been made f rom the  company,  wh ich  had  

been re jec ted  s t i l l  s tands.   There  is  no  counter  p roposa l ,  

so  even by  th is  t ime,  the  22n d  o f  January,  a l ready a  

proposa l  had been made,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s  so .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we l l  maybe Mr  Mhlangu wasn ’ t  

wrong w i th  what  he  sa id  to  the  Min is te r  on  the  18 t h  o f  

January.  

MR MK WANAZI :    He was ahead o f  h imse l f  ja ,  on  the  18 t h  

o f  January.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  when was the  f i rs t  p roposa l  

made?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  reca l l .     

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  i t  wou ld  have been before  20 

Saturday the  22 n d  o f  January,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  looks  l i ke  i t  wou ld  have been but  t ru ly  

I  do  no t  reca l l ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .  And what  was the  f i rs t  

p roposa l?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  reca l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry  jus t  so  tha t  I  unders tand i t ,  

you  were  the  lead  negot ia to r  in  these negot ia t ions?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  was the  lead negot ia to r  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t  so  you can ’ t  te l l  us  what  your  

open ing  gambi t  was?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  reca l l  no ,  I  do  no t  reca l l ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So le t  us  go  to  the  next  paragraph  

then Mr  Mkwanaz i .    

“Mr  Mkwanaz i  exp la ined tha t  he  wou ld  l i ke  to  ass i s t  10 

Mr  Gama where  reasonab ly  poss ib le . ”  

Do you see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  see tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why wou ld  you want  to  do  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    My assumpt ion  was tha t  aga in  based on 

what  I  ca l led  the  shareho lder  v iew was there  an  unfa i rness  

in  the  Gama mat te r,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  why wou ld  you want  to  ass i s t  the 

man where  reasonab ly  poss ib le .   Th is  i s  a  –  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

th is  i s  a  Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet  F re igh t  Ra i l  tha t  had 20 

been f i red  and h is  a rb i t ra t ion  was  supposed to  have been  

the  fo r thcoming Monday.    You have a  meet ing  w i th  h im on  

the  Saturday and  you te l l  h im I  want  to  ass is t  you where  –  

or  you say to  your  lawyers  tha t  you want  to  ass i s t  Mr  Gama 

where  reasonab ly  poss ib le .   Why?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Don ’ t  fo rge t  yes  I  d id  ind ica te  tha t  

because a lso  deep down in  me there  was an e lement  o f  

doubt  on  i f  –  no t  o f  the  sanct ion ,  no t  o f  the  gu i l t y  o r  no t  

gu i l t y,  o r  no t  gu i l t y,  tha t  i s  fa i r,  bu t  o f  the  sanct ion  in  v iew 

o f  the  fac t  tha t  by  tha t  t ime i f  I  reca l l ,  and unfo r tunate ly  

these repor ts  a re  s t i l l  no t  ava i lab le ,  there  were  many o the r  

cases where  s im i la r  p rocu rement  i r regu la r i t ies  were  no t  

even invest iga ted ,  some they d idn ’ t  even bother  to  app ly  

fo r  condonat ion ,  so  tha t  i s  the  issue,  the  ang le  I  was 

coming f rom.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see ,  we l l  we a re  go ing  to  come to  

your  descr ip t ion  as  you put  i t  in  inve r ted  commas s im i la r  

i r regu lar i t ies  in  a  moment .   But  le t ’s  go  on  to  see what  you  

say.   So you say ja  there  was in fo rmat ion  ou t  there  and 

tha t  was your  po in t  o f  depar tu re  bu t  then you say  what ’s  

repor ted  h is  in ten t ion ,  tha t  be ing   yours ,  i s  to  b r ing  h im 

back in to  h is ,  the  Cha i rman ’s ,  o f f i ce .   He wants  Mr  Gama 

to  ass is t   h im in  a  number  o f  s t ra teg ic  i ssues.   D id  you say 

tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :     I  th ink  I  d id .    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and then you say:  

“He however  needs a  good mot iva t ion  to  do  so . ”  

D id  you say tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id  ja .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then i t  says :  
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“H is  v iew is  tha t  i f  he  is  p rov ided w i th  an  op in ion  

se t t ing  ou t  tha t  there  was some unfa i rness towards  

Mr  Gama a t  the  board  meet ing  on  16 February  he  

wou ld  persuade  the  o ther  members  to  make  a  

dec is ion  to  b r ing  h im back in to  the  organ isa t ion . ”  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  an  as ton ish ing  s ta tement  to  

make,  g ive  me an op in ion  tha t  shows some unfa i rness and 

I  w i l l  use  tha t  to  persuade my fe l low board  members  on  16  

February  to  b r i ng  h im back.    You sa id  tha t .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  suggests  Mr  Mkwanaz i  tha t  a t  tha t  

t ime you had come to  the  conc lus ion  tha t  i f  a t  a l l  poss ib le  

you wou ld  l i ke  to  b r ing  Mr  Gama back to  Transnet ,  i s  tha t  

fa i r  comment  to  say tha t  –  tha t  looks l i ke  tha t  was your  

a t t i tude.     

MR MKWANAZI :    That  was my a t t i tude wh ich  needed 

suppor t  f rom a  lega l  pe rspect ive  tha t  these were  the  

un fa i rness,  no t  the  d ismissa l  i ssue but  the  un fa i rness o f  

the  who le  process o f  o the r  execut ives  no t  even be ing  20 

warned,  th ings jus t  happened and th ings were  fo rgo t ten  fo r  

years  and years  on  end.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you d id  no t  th ink  tha t  he  had been 

unfa i r l y  found gu i l t y  o f  the  ac ts  o f  m isconduct  o f  wh ich  he 

was found gu i l t y,  you had no p rob lem wi th  tha t .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    The p rocess was ex t remely  fa i r,  I  don ’ t  

have a  p rob lem w i th  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The process was a lso  fa i r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    On the  fac ts  in  re la t ion  to  the  charges o f  

wh ich  he  was found gu i l t y  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you accepted 

tha t  d ismissa l  was appropr ia te ,  the  on ly  th ing  tha t  made 

you to  want  to  b r ing  h im back was s imp ly  these o the r  cases 

o f  o ther  peop le ,  o r  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you thought  tha t  the  

sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l  g iven the  ac ts  o f  m isconduct  o f  wh ich  

he  had been found gu i l t y  was too  ha rsh  i r respect ive  o f  10 

what  had happened to  o ther  peop le ,  o r  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  

had the re  been no such o ther  cases tha t  you a re  ta lk ing  

about  you wou ld  have had no prob lem wi th  the  sanct ion  o f  

d ismissa l  fo r  an  execut ive  found gu i l t y  o f  th is?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you fu l l y  Cha i rman,  i t  i s  a  

s t range s i tua t ion  in  tha t  here  is  th is  ind iv idua l ,  I  don ’ t  

know how many managers  were  there ,  maybe a t  the  t ime 

maybe 2  000 managers  who a  few o thers  l i ke  h im had done  

s im i la r  th ings,  no t  even a  warn ing  fo r  years  and years  and  

then here  comes th is  ind iv idua l  who does someth ing  s im i la r  20 

to  what  o ther  managers  have done and th is  pa r t i cu la r  –  i t  

was a  quest ion  o f  cons is tency in  tha t  my in te rpre ta t ion  was  

in  tha t  o rgan isa t ion  there  was no cons is tency a t  the  t ime.   

Had there  been s im i la r  cases wh ich  had been hand led  the  

same way as  the  Gama mat te r  I  wou ld  have had no  
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p rob lem whatsoever.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  save fo r  these o ther  cases you  

were  comfor tab le  tha t  Mr  Gama’s  sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l  was  

fa i r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    From the  ind iv idua l  hand l ing  o f  the 

mat te r  i t  was fa i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  ja .   Okay Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  am go ing  to  come to  what  you keep  

say ing  s im i la r  cases,  bu t  you sa id  now i f  there  was  s im i la r  

cases to  Mr  Gama I  wou ld  have had no prob lem a t  a l l ,  do  10 

you remember  say ing  tha t ,  do  you remember  jus t  say ing  

tha t  now?      

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  do  bu t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  me g ive  you an example  o f  

. . . [ in te rvenes]    

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  le t  me . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i  p lease le t  me f in ish .   

Two cases tha t  were  s im i la r  were  Van der  Me l le r  and 

Khanya.   You needn ’ t  look  a round.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you remember  the  two emp loyees  20 

who worked under  Mr  Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh yes I  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we ta lked about  them ear l ie r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh no I  do  remember,  bu t  now tha t  is  

why a t  some s tage I  wou ld  l i ke  the  Commiss ion  to  ca l l  in  
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KPMG to  presen t  the  repor t  tha t  I  saw because  in  that  

repor t  they spoke to  22  o ther  ind iv idua ls  where  no th ing  

was done,  I  do  agree tha t  those are  two ind i v idua ls  I  

agree,  bu t  I  am say ing  what  about  the  o ther  22  or  more 

who were  no t  d ismissed o r  even a  warn ing  g iven aga ins t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  Mr  Myburgh  asked you ea r l ie r  be fo re  

lunch the  quest ion  i f  you  saw tha t  some o f  the  employees  

had been d ismissed jus t  l i ke  Mr  Gama,  bu t  you rea l i sed  

tha t  there  were  o thers  who had no t  been d ismissed,  why is  

i t  tha t  your  a t t i tude was not  to  say  then the  o thers  the  ones  10 

who were  no t  d ismissed shou ld  a l so  be  d i smissed,  shou ld  

a lso  be  d i smissed because i t  i s  wrong tha t  they were  no t  

d ismissed fo r  such a  th ing .   Why was your  a t t i tude  tha t  we 

must  condone these ser ious ac ts  o f  m isconduct  and a l low 

Mr  Gama back?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  d id  make a  few examples  o f  

these b ig  condonements ,  one was  an inc rease in  cont rac t  

p r ice  f rom R980mi l l ion  to  R1.8b i l l i on .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  sor ry,  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    One was an increase . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Mkwanaz i  I  am sor ry,  I  

th ink  my use o f  the  word  condone  is  go ing  to  confuse you,  

le t  me rephrase my quest ion .     

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh ’s  quest ion  be fo re  lunch one 
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o f  h is  quest ions  was i f  you rea l i sed tha t  in  some cases 

d ismissa ls  had been e f fec ted  but  in  o thers  no  d ismissa ls  

had happened and indeed I  th ink  you say in  some not  even  

a  warn ing ,  bu t  in  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    . . .Mr  Gama’s  case there  was a  d ismissa l  

and there  were  some where  there  may have  been a  

d ismissa l .   Why  d idn ’ t  you say  what  i s  wrong  here  is  

Transnet ’s  fa i lu re  to  d ismiss  these o ther  employees,  tha t  i s  

what  i s  wrong.   What  i s  wrong is  no t  i t s  d ismissa l  o f  Mr  10 

Gama,  what  i s  wrong is  i t s  fa i lu re  to  d i smiss  the  o thers  

because what  they were  gu i l t y  o f  was ser ious.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman I  cannot  fau l t  your  a rgument ,  

you are  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you Mr  Cha i rman.   Cou ld  

you p lease Mr  Mkwanaz i  go  ove r  the  page to  page  4 ,  and 

there  a t  pa ragraph 5  a t  the  top  i t  i s  recorded tha t  he  [be ing  

you]  was to  d iscuss the  de ta i l s  o f  such re turn  to  Transnet  

w i th  Mr  Gama in  a  one-on-one meet ing  to  be  he ld  be tween 20 

them.    Now we see tha t  there  i s  re fe rence on more  than  

one occas ion  to  you ho ld ing  one-on-one meet ings,  r igh t ,  

why d id  you not  have o ther  peop le  present  a t  meet ings,  

negot ia t ions  w i th  Mr  Gama.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Le t  me ind ica te  tha t  yes  the re  were  



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 139 of 247 
 

these one on ones,  fo r  some reason unknown to  me Mr  

Gama was not  comfor tab le  to  be  in  meet ings w i th  o the r  

peop le  except  myse l f  and o f  cou rse  even in  those one-on-

one meet ings we  –  me and Mr  Gama d idn ’ t  agree on a  lo t  

o f  i ssues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you  go on to  say  in  tha t  

parag raph:  

“There  are  de ta i l s  however  tha t  he  is  un fami l ia r  

w i th ,  such as  when Mr  Gama was f i red ,  when Mr  

Gama was suspended and the  l i ke  . . . ”  10 

You d idn ’ t  even know tha t ,  cor rec t?   

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman le t  me –  you know a t  t imes 

when you s ta r t  a  meet ing  you  want  some background  

in fo rmat ion  f rom the  peop le  who are  present ing  the  

in fo rmat ion  to  you,  so  i t  was par t  o f  tha t ,  I  knew what  i s  

happen ing  but  a lmost  l i ke  ske tch  the  background  o f  th is  

s i tua t ion  to  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  you pa in t  a  p ic tu re  tha t  

you had ac tua l l y  cons idered th i s  mat te r,  you were  about  to  

re ins ta te  the  man ye t  you d idn ’ t  even know when  he had  20 

been f i red  or  suspended.      

MR MKWANAZI :    I  had a  good idea.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  i t  d idn ’ t  mat te r  d id  i t  rea l l y  

because you were  go ing  to  re ins ta te  h im no mat te r  what .   

You smi le?   
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MR MKWANAZI :    Not  rea l l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now te l l  me . . . [ in te rvenes]    

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  rea l l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  i s  no t  inc luded there  you don ’ t  

ask  the  quest ions what  was he d ismissed fo r.   D id  you  

know what  Mr  Gama was d i smissed fo r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes Advocate ,  Cha i rman I  knew.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  exp la in  to  us  p lease.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s  the  GNS cont rac t  where  he  

exceeded h i s  au thor i t y  in  te rms o f  a  conf in ing  th is  th ing  to  10 

GNS when i t  shou ld  have gone ou t  on  open tender  and a lso  

he  exceeded h is  de legated author i t y  on  such mat te rs .   I f  I  

reca l l  h is  au thor i t y  a l lowed h im to  on ly  cont rac t  up  to  

R10mi l l ion  and i f  I  reca l l  tha t  cont rac t  was c lose  to  

R90mi l l ion ,  bu t  the  t ime i t  was te rm inated.  

 Then the  o ther  mat te r  was the  F i f t y - l i ke-new 

locomot ives  where  a  Board  dec is ion  was taken tha t  the  

re furb ishment  o f  these f i f t y  l i ke  new locomot ives  wou ld  be  

done by   Transnet  Eng ineer ing ,  and then he and  I  don ’ t  

know who e l se  dec ided tha t  i t  wou ld  be  done by  an  outs ide  20 

company wh ich  somehow f rom where  I  se t  i t  in t roduces 

f ru i t less  and waste fu l  expend i tu re  because tha t  company  

must  then se t  i t se l f  up  when Transnet  Eng ineer ing  has go t  

a l l  the  in f ras t ruc ture  to  hand le  a  re furb ishment  o f  the  50 

l i ke  new,  those were  the  two occas ions.   Then o f  cou rse  
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the  th i rd  one was th is  i ssue o f  a t tack ing  h i s  co l leagues.   

Now le t  me jus t  cont inue a  l i t t le  b i t ,  i f  th is  was an i so la ted  

case and a l l  o the r  cases in  the  company were  hand led  in  a  

s im i la r  fash ion  I  wou ld  have d ismissed as  we l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you had o the r  cases where  a  

CEO had besmi rched the  Board  o f  Transnet?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no t  rea l ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say no t  rea l l y?   

MR MKWANAZI :    No not  rea l l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Have you had any?  10 

MR MK WANAZI :    No when I  saw o ther  cases not  re la ted  to  

the  grav i t y  o f  the  o f fence but  jus t  re la ted  to  the  fac t  tha t  he  

exceeded,  he  has done a  lo t  o f  i r regu la r  th ings in  those  

th ings.    Now I  am say ing  i f  i t  was a  no rm a t  Transnet  to  

d isc ip l ine  peop le  in  tha t  fash ion  no t  the  two . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

and the  o the r,  a l l  the  o thers  f rom say 2005 to  d isc ip l ine  

them,  to  ge t  r id  o f  them,  to  do  whatever  I  wou ld  have had  

no prob lem o f  Gama be ing  d i smissed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  what  about  the  th i rd  

charge wh ich  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  tender  i r regu lar i t ies ,  20 

cont rac tua l  i r regu la r i t ies  and  noth ing  to  do  w i th  

condonat ion .    I t  is  ve ry  spur ious isn ’ t  i t ,  the  th i rd  charge i f  

you  ac tua l l y  know what  happened.   I  mean you have had 

the  benef i t  o f  l i s ten ing  to  Mr  Todd.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No I  have got  an  idea o f  the  th i rd  charge 
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as  we l l ,  where  he  pub l i ca l l y  s ta r ted  a t tack ing  o the r  

execut ives .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:      Yes.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you agreed . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  unacceptab le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  and the  Board  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    And the  Board ,  tha t  i s  unacceptab le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  need to  dea l  w i th  tha t  i f  you  don ’ t  

m ind,  i f  you  jus t  g ive  me a  second .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  wh i le  Mr  Myburgh is  look ing  fo r  

someth ing  le t  me go back to  an  issue tha t  he  has dea l t  

w i th ,  w i th  regard  to  one on one meet ings be tween yourse l f  

and Mr  Gama,  how many such meet ings d id  you have w i th  

Mr  Gama? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ldn ’ t  know,  tha t  you wou ld  have to  

ask  Mr  Mapoma because whenever  I  wou ld  meet ,  I  never  

met  Mr  Gama a lone outs ide  o f  these meet ings,  so  I  w i l l  

have to  ask  Mr  Mapoma because  fo r  some reason  I  wou ld  

ins is t  tha t  Mr  Mapoma comes w i th  me to  such mee t ings,  I  20 

don ’ t  know how many meet ings we had.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  he  –  I  have been under  the  

impress ion  when I  read h i s  s ta tement  tha t  there  had been  

two such occas ions bu t  when he gave h is  ev idence he sa id  

no  the re  was on ly  one,  namely  he  sa id  the  Inanda one,  I  
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th ink  wh ich  I  th ink  i s  when Deneys Re i tz  A t to rneys were  

a lso  present .   I s  i t  your  reco l lec t ion  a l so  tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Then tha t ’s  the  meet ing  yes,  I  wou ldn ’ t  

have met  h im even soc ia l l y  I  wou ldn ’ t  have met  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  now when  Mr  Myburgh asked you 

why you exc luded o ther  peop le  f rom tha t  meet ing  and met  

Mr  Gama a lone you say tha t  i t  was Mr  Gama who had 

d iscomfo r t  in  meet ing  w i th  you together  w i th  o ther  peop le ,  

i s  tha t  cor rec t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So he had asked tha t  he  wanted to  meet  

you a lone?  

MR MKWANAZI :    He d id  ask  and I  d id  ag ree.  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you ever  ask  h im why he d id  no t  

want  even your  l awyers  to  be  present .   I  don ’ t  unders tand  

what  shou ld  make h im uncomfo r tab le  because you have 

lawyers  to  adv ise  you,  he  has go t  lawyers  to  adv ise  h im,  i f  

you  are  go ing  to  ta lk  se t t lements  bo th  o f  you need lega l  

adv ice ,  so  why shou ld  they no t  be  present?   D id  you ask  20 

h im?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No I  d id  no t ,  no  I  d id  no t  ask  h im but  

what  I  sense there ,  I  am now assuming,  there  was a  lo t  o f  

med ia  leakage a round Transnet  i ssues a t  tha t  t ime and 

what  I  suspect  maybe he was t ry ing  to  do  was to  l im i t  the 
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med ia  leakage o f  some o f  these d iscuss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  rea l l y  i f  you  negot ia te  the  

se t t lements  in  a  lega l  d ispute  tha t  i s  happen ing  in  a  pub l i c  

fo rum l i ke  a  Barga in ing  Counc i l  I  am not  sure  tha t  you 

wou ld  be  so  concerned about  tha t ,  because in  any event  

you know you ho ld  your  d iscuss ions un t i l  you  s ign  there  is  

no  se t t lement .   I  jus t  f ind  i t  s t range tha t  there  were  these,  

there  was th is  one on one meet ing ,  par t i cu la r l y  when the  

a t to rneys were  around and you needed adv ice ,  I  take  i t  he 

needed adv i ce ,  h is  a t to rneys were  around as  we l l .   I  mean 10 

what  i s  i t  tha t  was so  secre t  tha t  he  wanted to  ta lk  about .  

That  i s  my . . . [ in tervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rperson I  do  no t  know because even 

my feedback to  those meet ings were  ac tua l l y  feedback on  

what  cou ld   have been d iscussed or  what  op t ions are  

there ,  e tce tera ,  e tce tera .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   Wel l  maybe Mr  Myburgh is  

s t i l l  go ing  to  ask  you fu r ther  about  the  content  o f  the  

d iscuss ion  bu t  I  hea rd  f rom Mr  Mapoma tha t  you repor ted  

to  h im a f te r  tha t  one on one meet ing  w i th  Mr  Gama tha t  the  20 

two o f  you cou ld  no t  reach agreement ,  because Mr  Gama 

ins tead o f  ask ing  to  be  re ins ta ted  in  the  pos i t ion  f rom 

which  he  was d i smissed ac tua l l y  wanted you to  ag ree tha t  

he  wou ld  be  appo in ted  to  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i cer  o f  Transnet ,  i s  tha t  t rue?  
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MR MK WANAZI :    I  suspend tha t  –  le t  me check –  I  

suspect  tha t  Mr  Mapoma might  have got  h is  fac ts  wrong 

there ,  because tha t  pos i t ion  o f  Transnet  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  was a  pos i t ion  where  there  was a  para l le l  

p rocess to  in te rv iew e tce tera ,  e tce tera ,  so  I  suspect  what  

Mr  Mapoma might  have meant  i s  a  pos i t ion  o f  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Transnet  F re igh t  Ra i l ,  I  suspect  tha t  i s  what  he  

meant .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  no  I  don ’ t  th ink  he  confused tha t  

because when he gave ev idence  he was c lear  because I  10 

even sa id  –  asked h im,  I  sa id  bu t  Mr  Gama had been 

d ismissed f rom the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO of  TFR.  

MR MKWANAZI :    You d id  s i r  I  reca l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and he sa id  yes bu t  he  –  he  sa id  bu t  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  to ld  me tha t  the  reason why they d idn ’ t  agree 

is  tha t  he  was now,  he  now wanted to  be  appo in ted  as  –  or  

he  used the  word  re ins ta ted ,  re ins ta ted  as  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i cer  and Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id  he  re jec ted  tha t ,  

he  wanted h im to  be  re ins ta ted  to  the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO TFR,  

wh ich  is  the  pos i t ion  f rom which  he  had been d ismissed,  20 

tha t  i s  what  he  sa id .  

MR MK WANAZI :    Wel l  Mr  Mapoma sa id  tha t  and I  suspect  

Mr  Gama might  have sa id  tha t  bu t  c lea r ly  Cha i rman I  cou ld  

never  ag ree to  a  pos i t ion  l i ke  tha t .    I  know in  ac tua l  fac t  I  

was look ing  a t  agree ing  to  someth ing  more  e tce te ra ,  
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e tce te ra .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  so  is  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you are  

no t  su re  whethe r  Mr  Gama made th is  demand  to  be  

appo in ted  to  . . . [ in te rvenes]    

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree Cha i r  I  am not  sure .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  no t  sure  okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  I  wou ld  no t  have agreed to  i t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes about  tha t  you are  c lea r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no  Cha i rman  I  cou ldn ’ t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  thank you Mr  Myburgh.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you cha i r.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  can I  

take  you p lease back to  Bund le  4A,  your  a f f idav i t ,  page 18.   

4A ,  18 ,  one e igh t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  on  page  17,  page 18.   I  am on 

page 18 Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     I f  you  w i l l  jus t  bear  w i th  us  fo r  a  

second.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  I  am jus t  ge t t ing  there .    Yes Mr  

Myburgh.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  i t  i s  paragraph 9 .4 ,  you have 20 

a l ready conf i rmed th is ,  bu t  I  jus t  want  to  p ick  up  what  I  

sa id  I  needed to  jus t  look  a t  care fu l l y.   You say a t  9 .4  I  

persona l l y  fu l l y  agree w i th  the  d i sc ip l ina ry  processes and 

f ind ings o f  the  then Transnet  Board ,  p resumably  you ’ re  

ta lk ing  about  the  f ind ings o f  the  d i sc ip l inary  inqu i ry,  
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cor rec t?    

MR MKWANAZI :    That ’s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     So  you fu l l y  agree,  the  on ly  

d i f f i cu l t y  I  have is  tha t  there  was th is  common process in  

Transnet  Systems ca l led  condona t ion ,  tha t  was your  on ly  

p rob lem as you put  i t ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can I  then ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  

Bund le  3 .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  3?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  page 88.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No th is  i s  Bund le  1 ,  what  bund le  i s  tha t ,  

th is  i s  Bund le  2 ,  th is  i s  Bund le  3 ,  yes  I  have got  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     Page 88.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    88 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay I  have go t  i t ,  okay.   I  am on page  

88.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you see  the  las t  th i rd  o f  the  page  

there  is  a  paragraph number  60 .   20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  above  tha t  there ’s  a  quota t ion .   

Th is  i s  the  f ind ing  o f  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  

hear ing  on  the  th i rd  charge the  besmi rchment  charge ,  and I  

want  to  take  you  one,  two,  th ree ,  four  l ines  down in  the 
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m idd le  o f  the  page,  a re  you w i th  me,  there  i s  a  sentence 

say ing  “ th is  charge” .  

MR MK WANAZI :    Yes can I  –  I  am on page 88 above  

paragraph 60.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  the re  is  a  quote ,  le t  me read  

the  who le  paragraph.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  I  see tha t  l ine ,  I  see tha t  l ine  yes,  

th is  charge.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th i s  charge  -  says the  Cha i rperson –  

now you ag ree w i th  th is ,  goes to  the  hear t  o f  Trans . . .  10 

. . . [ in te rvenes]    

MR MKWANAZI :    Th i s  charge?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  charge ,  be ing  the  th i rd  charge.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     

“Goes to  the  hear t  o f  Transnet ’s  loss  o f  fa i th  in  Mr  

Gama and there  can be no doubt  tha t  d ismissa l  i s  

the  on ly  appropr ia te  pena l ty  fo r  Gama’s  conduc t  

under  th is  . . . ”  

I t ’s  ac tua l l y  the  4 t h  charge,  you agree w i th  tha t?  20 

MR MKWANAZI:  I  agree wi th that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i t  has got  nothing to do – 

condonat ion has no bearing on this,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree wi th that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  then I  do not  understand on what  
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possible  basis you could have reinstated Mr Gama?  On your  

own version you are agreeing that  the only appropriate 

penal ty for the fourth charge is d ismissal .   Your only problem 

is there is th is th ing ca l led condonat ion that  has no bearing 

on this charge Mr Mkwanazi .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Advocate Myburgh you are spot  on but  

there is a – i t  is a  consequent ia l  th ing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  I  hope so.  

MR MKWANAZI:   In my interpretat ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Right .  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   In – i t  is consequent ia l  th ing that  came 

about because of  the f i rst  two main charges.   But  I  agree 

wi th that  sent iment.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  then why did you reinstate him?  

Because your only problem was condonat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In other words Mr Mkwanazi .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What Mr Myburgh is saying.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   When you were – when you were looking at  20 

this issue you and the board and you sought to  rely on 

condonat ion.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You said Mr Gama was not  afforded the 

opportuni ty of  using condonat ion.   That  could only apply to 
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the other charges not  th is one.   So that  being the case you 

ought to have said as the board,  you see this idea that  Mr 

Gama was not  afforded condonat ion – the opportuni ty to use 

condonat ion is not  good enough to just i fy reinstat ing him.  

Because that  ground only appl ies to two of  the acts of  

misconduct  of  which he has been found gui l ty.   I t  cannot  

apply to th is th i rd one.    

And yet  th is th i rd  one is on i ts own so ser ious that  a  

dismissal  is appropriate.   Therefore you as the board ought  

to have said no we cannot f ind our way to reinstat ing Mr 10 

Gama because even i f  we were to use condonat ion there is  

th is other act  of  misconduct  to which condonat ion does not  

apply and i t  is an obstacle to us reinstat ing him.   

That  is what Mr Myburgh is put t ing to you.   Why did 

you not  adopt  that  approach? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chairman my interpretat ion of  the two main 

charges the GNS and Fi f ty l ike new. They then lead to th is 

inappropriate behaviour by this execut ive and therefore I  – 

that  is why my focus was on the f i rst  two key charges and 

because i f  then the f i rst  two had been deal t  wi th in a 20 

part icular route the thi rd charge might  not  have ar isen.   That  

is where I  come f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do have some quest ions Mr – but  I  want 

to a l low you Mr Myburgh to take i t  further.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Very wel l .   Mr Mkwanazi  you have 
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agreed – f i rst ly let  me debunk this.   There is not  two main 

charges in th is case.   There are three.   And you have agreed 

that  the only appropriate penal ty for the thi rd charge – i t  was 

actual ly the fourth charge was dismissal .   You have accepted 

that .   And you have accepted that  condonat ion has no 

bearing on that .   I  th ink you dr iven to concede that  the 

re instatement of  Mr Gama just  on that  basis  was a 

monumental  fa i lure of  judgment on your part .  Is that  not  so? 

MR MKWANAZI:   On the last  po int .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The reinstatement.  

MR MKWANAZI:   On this unbecoming behaviour.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The reinstatement of  Mr Gama was a 

monumental  fa i lure of  judgment on your part .   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   On the last  matter  but  on the other  two 

matters there is ground to indicate that  there could have 

been grounds for a d i fferent  v iew in terms of  the fai rness of  

the system in handl ing the Fi f ty  l ike new and the GNS 

contract .   But  on the matter of  how he then deal t  wi th the 20 

execut ives and the board I  agree my board did not  apply a – 

a lot  of  – what you can cal l  at tent ion to that  matter.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  sorry that  is being a bi t  generous.   

You appl ied zero at tent ion.   Because your – Mr Mkwanazi  let  

us cal l  a spade a spade.  Because you were act ing on 
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instruct ions.   You just  did what the shareholder Minister to ld  

you to do.   That  can be the only possib le explanat ion 

because how else could you have just  lef t  out  of  account th is  

cr i t ical  fourth charge wi thout  having being grossly negl igent  

in acqui t t ing yoursel f  of  your dut ies.   How? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am not  sure i f  –  i t  is an overs ight  

Advocate Myburgh but  there was no focus on that  th i rd 

charge i t  is an overs ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Would you – would you simply accept  

please that  you erred in re instat ing Mr Gama then? 10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  fu l ly but  in deal ing wi th the thi rd 

matter.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He should not  have been reinstated.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He should not  have been re instated,  

correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Advocate Myburgh that  is your view. 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  am asking you.  

MR MKWANAZI:   The quest ion – do not  forget  now that  af ter 

taking the i l l -advise f rom this f i rm who then told wi tnesses in  20 

our case at  Transnet Bargaining Counci l  and we then had 

doubt as the board that  we could actual ly win this matter at  

Transnet Bargain ing Counci l  therefore we opted to – to 

set t le.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Mkwanazi  which at torneys poked holes 
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into your  case in the Transnet Bargaining Counci l?   Because 

Bowman Gi l f i l lan said you had a very st rong case.   I  

understand that  Webber Wentzel  said procedural ly  you had 

done everything properly and I  have seen – I  have seen a 

let ter or let ters f rom Deneys Rei tz who said in relat ion to  

whether the dismissal  was fai r  or not  who say they also gave 

an opinion that  th is dismissal  was fai r.   So which at torneys 

poked holes into your case that  was going to arbi t rat ion? 

MR MKWANAZI:   They created doubt Chairman.  Maybe I  

used the – a strong word.   I t  comprehensive Deneys Rei tz  10 

legal  opinion post  the f i rst  summary one which had been 

given to the board.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes I  th ink Mr Myburgh might  take that… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  can.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  further but  let  me go back to  th is  

quest ion.   I  am concerned that  you do not  seem to be 

prepared to make the concession that  I  th ink Mr Myburgh 

thought you would make namely that  the board should not  

have reinstated Mr Gama.  Is my understanding of  your  

posi t ion correct?  Namely your stand is… 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct  my stand is  that  board 

appl ied i ts mind and i t  saw some elements of  doubt  that  i t  

would win at  Bargaining Counci l  and then took a decision to 

set t le.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay al r ight .   Now my di ff icul ty wi th that  
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evidence is th is.   Mr Gama was found gui l ty of  three acts of  

misconduct  and I  th ink you and I  agree that  each one of  

those acts of  misconduct  were ser ious – or was ser ious.   I  

th ink we agree on that .   I  th ink previously you have agreed 

to that ,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja that  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   You have also agreed or  conceded to 

Mr Myburgh that  the – the charge relat ing to the at tacks by 

Mr Gama on the execut ives and the board was ser ious 

enough to deserve the sanct ion of  dismissal  on i ts own.  You 10 

remember that?   

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  you accepted that .   Now i f  you accept  

that  what i t  means is that  the chairperson of  the inqui ry 

re l ied on three grounds to say Mr Gama should be 

dismissed.   Now two of  these grounds namely the acts of  

misconduct  had something to do wi th procurement which is 

where condonat ion may apply okay?   

But  th is  other  one had nothing to do wi th 

procurement and therefore condonat ion would not  come in.   20 

Why would you and your board not  say,  but  why must  we 

re instate Mr Gama when there is th is one ground, one 

convict ion i f  you l ike which on i ts own is suff ic ient ly ser ious 

to just i fy the sanct ion of  dismissal?   

Why must we take him back because we cannot – we 
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cannot faul t  the chairperson of  the d iscipl inary inqui ry for 

having concluded that  he should be dismissed even i f  i t  was 

this act  of  misconduct  alone?  Why do you not  adopt  that  

approach?  That  is the approach I  would have expected f rom 

a board or f rom somebody who says this th i rd charge or 

fourth charge that  has got  nothing to do wi th procurement is  

suff ic ient ly – or  is ser ious enough on i ts own to just i fy 

dismissal .    

So that  is what my logic would say.   So you – you 

would – I  would go back to the Minister – I  would go back to  10 

Mr Gama and say you may have had a case on the basis of  

the two ser ious acts of  misconduct  that  are connected wi th  

procurement i f  those were the only acts of  misconduct  of  

which Mr Gama was found gui l ty maybe we could have done 

something.    

But  the problem is that  there is th i rd one which has 

got  nothing to do wi th condonat ion and procurement  and in  

our view i t  is suff ic ient ly ser ious to just i fy dismissal  

therefore we cannot take him back on the basis of  th is th i rd  

one.   What do you say?  Is that  not  logical? 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman I  understand where you come 

from.  Now i f  you take the issue a l i t t le bi t  back that  yes 

there were four charges.   Yes the fourth one was this one of  

unbecoming behaviour by the execut ive.  But  then i f  you look 

at  i t  f rom perspect ive that  says what created that  charge are 
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the f i rst  two charges which related to [00:14:04] .   That  is my 

argument or they say as you deal  wi th those two maybe the 

other one fal ls away.   That  is my argument ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But… 

MR MKWANAZI:   But  I  agree wi th your analysis.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  Mr Mkwanazi  maybe remotely you 

could apply that  reasoning i f  you took the view that  the 

board and the execut ives who were at tacked by Mr  Gama 

had something wrong.    

But  at  the t ime when you were deal ing wi th th is  10 

matter you knew that  even Mr Gama had admit ted that  he 

had been properly found gui l ty of  these acts of  misconduct  

re lat ing to procurement.   Therefore his at tacks on the board 

for – and on the execut ives for pursuing him for misconduct  

was unjust i f ied.    

That  is the reasoning that  I  would have expected 

f rom you and the board.   To say when – once you real ised 

that  th is other charge had nothing to do wi th  procurement 

you say but  he is admit t ing that  he is gui l ty.   So he was 

at tack ing these execut ives and the board for pursuing 20 

charges of  misconduct  against  him saying that  th is was part  

of  an agenda.  He has now admit ted that  there was no such.   

He has now admit ted that  he was gui l ty.    

They had proper grounds to pursue h im.  So actual ly  

the fact  that  by now he was admit t ing that  the – he was 
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gui l ty makes his  at tacks on them even more ser ious.   

Because he is now admit t ing in effect  that  these people were 

doing thei r  jobs.   So therefore he should never have 

at tacked them.  Do you not  agree wi th that  reasoning? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree wi th your analysis Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay al r ight .  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   I  was at  page 4 of… 

MR MKWANAZI:  Of  which bundle? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Of  Bundle 2.   You then said at  

paragraph 6.  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Once you are clear on those detai ls … 

CHAIRPERSON:   P lease wai t  for me Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sorry.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Page 4 of  Bundle.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bundle 2.  

CHAIRPERSON:   2.   I  am sorry Mr Myburgh.   Just  to  maybe 

complete what we were discussing Mr Mkwanazi .   On this 

reasoning that  I  was art iculat ing to you i t  would therefore 

seem to me that  i t  would not  have been r ight  and i t  was not  20 

r ight  –  i t  would not  have been r ight  to say we wi l l  re instate 

Mr Mkwanazi  – Mr Gama nevertheless because even though 

there is  th is charge of  which he has been found gui l ty which 

has got  nothing to  do wi th procurement when you look at  the 

si tuat ion in the way I  am art iculat ing.    
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I t  would seem to me that  that  should lead you to say 

no but  we cannot  real ly take him back because the fact  that  

he admits gui l t  does not  mit igate the si tuat ion.   I t  makes i t  

worse because he at tacked people for doing their  job and did 

so publ ic ly.   You understand? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  understand Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay al r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Mkwanazi  at  page 4 paragraph 6 

i t  is recorded that  once he – that  is you is clear on those 

detai ls about  when he was f i red,  when he was suspended 10 

and the l ike he being you can then formulate a proposal .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then i f  you drop down to 

paragraph 14 of  the consul tat ion note at  the foot  of  the page 

i t  would appear that  Mr Gama and Mr Langa do not  take 

issue wi th the fact  that  Mr Gama is  gui l ty of  the complaints 

as charged al l  they intend to chal lenge is the sanct ion that  

was imposed.  That  you knew, correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then at  page 5 paragraph 16.  20 

“At  that  point  the caucus ended so that  Mr 

Mkwanazi  could meet alone wi th Mr Gama.”  

MR MKWANAZI:   On page 5? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   So you could meet alone wi th 

him. 
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MR MKWANAZI:   Right  I  see i t .   I  see that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now I  would l ike to take you please to  

Fi le of  Bundle 3.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And to page 107.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Page 107.   I  am there.   Now Mr Mkwanazi  I  

take i t  that  you – you knew that  Bowman Gi l f i l lan were 

represent ing you and Transnet in  the Gama l i t igat ion,  you 

knew that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  knew that .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  beg your pardon? 

MR MKWANAZI:   When you say in the Gama l i t igat ion – this  

matter? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  in the Gama arbi t rat ion as you 

cal l  i t  an appeal .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You knew that .  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am not  sure i f  I  knew that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi .  

MR MKWANAZI:   A l l  I  knew – yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You issued an instruct ion.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  knew that  Bowman Gi l f i l lan are 

represent ing us in  th is Transnet  Bargaining process.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bargaining Counci l .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Which has [00:21:28] .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So you understood that  Bowman 

Gi l f i l lan were represent ing you in the Gama d iscip l inary – 

sorry Gama dismissal  arb i t rat ion.   The one that  was 

supposed to be held on Monday the 24t h you knew that .  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am not  sure i f  I  knew that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  that  is  astonishing.   Who were 

you asking for help f rom? 

MR MKWANAZI:   From Bowman Gi l f i l lan.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No I  am saying when you [00:22:00]  on 

the screen.   Are you suggest ing to us… 

MR MKWANAZI:   No,  no.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  let  us decide who is going to. . .  

MR MKWANAZI:   No I  am on my own here.   There are two 

sort  of  matters.   I f  I  recal l  Bowman Gi l f i l lan are represent ing 

us on the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l  matter of  Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes they are.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Right .   Okay.   So that  was not  too 20 

di ff icul t .    

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you know that  they also 

represented you dur ing the discipl inary hearing.   You would 

have even a l i t t le invest igat ion would have shown that ,  
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correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes that  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you knew that  that  disc ipl inary 

hearing presumably you would have come to learn went on 

for a very long t ime.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct  but  do not  forget  that  

discipl inary hearing would have taken place maybe some six 

to e ight  months before.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   And I  was not  there then and my – that  is  10 

why engagement  wi th them starts in January when this  

matter is being prepared.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   For the Transnet Bargaining Counci l  

process.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you knew as wel l  that  Bowman 

Gi l f i l lan had engaged a very pre-eminent  senior counsel .   

Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  do not  know – ja  is i t  Mr Todd? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You knew that  the at torney was Mr 20 

Todd? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You watched him on TV the whole of  

yesterday.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  saw him yes.   He is a good at torney.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   So you knew that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Todd f rom Bowman Gi l f i l lan and 

his senior counsel  were steeped in  th is case,  correct?  They 

had worked on i t  for a very long t ime, correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  you never  so much as picked up 

the phone and asked Mr Todd for  his advice on your  

prospects of  success,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No I  d id not .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  suppose why you d id not  do so is 

qui te obvious.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  do not  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  why d id you not  phone him? 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  seems the – i t  seems… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can I  suggest  to you why you did not? 

MR MKWANAZI:   When you say i t  is qui te obvious? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  let  me tel l  you why you did not  

because he would have told  you that  you were going to win 

the case.   Correct? 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  hear where you coming f rom yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You did not  want to hear that  did you 

Mr Mkwanazi?  Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  real ly no.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes wel l  precisely.  
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MR MKWANAZI:   My interpretat ion of  Bowman Gi l f i l lan – by 

the way I  never  saw their  correspondence pr ior to – to  

maybe the beginning of  January 2010.  So yes they would 

have been corresponding wi th my Group Legal  but  f rom 

where I  sat  I  a lmost  wanted a new pair  of  eyes to look into 

th is matter as i f  get t ing to the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l  

process.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Right  so let  us… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do not  understand that  Mr Mkwanazi .   

P lease help me understand that .   I  do not  understand that .   10 

You come to an organisat ion for purposes of  being part  of  

the board.   You are new in th is organisat ion.   I  know that  

previously you had been I  th ink Group CEO and so on.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  for purposes of  be ing part  of  the board 

you are new.  You come at  a t ime when there is a mat ter that  

the Minister te l ls  you about on the f i rst  occasion he meets 

wi th you and offers you to the posi t ion of  chairperson of  the 

board.   So i t  is obvious an important  matter and he wants 

you – instructs you to review i t .   That  means you must  go 20 

into i t  and see whether you know there was fai rness or not  

okay? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Hm.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Now the organisat ion has been using this 

part icular law f i rm.  This law f i rm has been handl ing this 
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matter over  the previous two years or so f rom the 

discipl inary hearing they had represented Transnet  even in  

the high court  appl icat ion which they won. They succeeded.   

I t  means even in  the discipl inary hearing they represented 

Transnet successful ly.    

They won because Mr Gama was found gui l ty  of  three 

ser ious acts of  misconduct  and was dismissed.   So these are 

at torneys or  th is is a legal  team which you must have got  to 

know had won the high court  appl icat ion for Transnet  that  Mr 

Gama had brought against  Transnet .    10 

2.  Had won the discipl inary hearing.   So they served 

your organisat ion wel l .   Now you want to understand whether  

there was some unfairness.   You do not  want to ta lk to them?  

You just  wanted to get  another law f i rm on what grounds?  

When you have not  – they have not  sa id anything you do not  

l ike.    

They – they have not  performed anything badly.   On 

the cont rary they have done very wel l  for Transnet.  But  you 

do not  want even to ta lk to them.   You want to go to another 

law f i rm.  I  do not  understand that .  20 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman that  is  the decision we took at  

the t ime and in  my interpretat ion we needed almost  a 

di fferent  set  of  eyes.   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Why do you change a winning team?  This 

is a winning team.  
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MR MKWANAZI:   I  remain saying that  we needed a d i fferent  

pair  of  eyes on this matter.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But . .  

MR MKWANAZI:   And yes Mr Gule or Deneys Rei tz or 

whatever they are cal led ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  i f  you had had a discussion wi th th is  

law f i rm which had been so successful  wi th his legal  team – 

i f  you had had a discussion wi th them and through the 

discussion you fel t  that  they advises may be on some of  the 

issues on which you sought advice were not  sat isfactory I  10 

would understand want ing to say let  me hear somebody else.   

But  I  have di ff icu l ty understanding the logic  where you do 

not  -  had not  even discussed with them and yet  they have 

been successful .   You understand where I  am coming f rom? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  hear where you are coming f rom Mr 

Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   I t  does seem to me conduct  that  is  

di ff icul t  to explain.   As I  say,  i f  you have had a meet ing wi th 

them and you have said:    

 Just  br ief  me on this matter because you people have 20 

been handl ing i t  for a long t ime and I  see that  the 

discipl inary hearing,  you handled i t  very wel l  on the face of  

i t ,  at  least .   The high court  appl icat ion,  you have handled i t  

very wel l .   The. . .   

 You were busy seeking to  recover  for Transnet  costs.   
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And I  th ink i t  was about R 426 000,00 that  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .Mr Gama owed costs.   They were 

pursuing that .   I t  looks l ike they were doing r ight .   So i f  you 

had met wi th them that  br iefed you and you had raised 

certain quest ions and through that  discussion when you fel t  

that ,  you know, you wanted another perspect ive because you 

are now taken with thei r  perspect ive.    

 That  I  could maybe understand but  you did not  ta lk  to  

them.  You did not  wri te to them, other than saying:   Stop the 10 

execut ion,  the recovery and postpone the arbi t rat ion.    

 So just  have that  di ff icul ty.    

MR MKWANAZI :    [ Indist inct ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You are not  even saying other  than that  

you wanted a di fferent  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    A di fferent  set  of  eyes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  the t ru th is.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  put  

to you.   That  you wanted someone to give you some fr iendly 

legal  advice which you could use the board meet ing on the 20 

16t h of  February to persuade your fe l low board members to 

take back Mr Gama.   

 That  is actual ly what happened, is i t  not?   You wanted 

f r iendly legal  advice.   That  is what  the consul tat ion note in  

effect  says.   Correct?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Is says that ,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  precisely.   So because you 

wanted f r iendly legal  advice,  the last  person you would go to  

is to Mr Todd who was going to te l l  you as i t  was that  you 

had very good prospects of  success of  winning Mr  Gama’s 

arbi t rat ion.   That  you did not  want to hear,  correct?  That  

would not  help you . . . [ intervenes]     

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  rea l ly but  yes I  d id want a di fferent  set  

of  eyes to look into th is matter.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see.   So let  us have a look then at  10 

Bundle 3,  page 107.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC  Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Could i t  be that  you wanted a law f i rm or 

an at torney who could you that  there was some unfairness in  

th is dismissal?  Because Mr Todd had prepared an opinion or  

a report  which he sent  to,  I  th ink Ms Senamela or  

Mr Senamela to pass onto you to  where he made i t  c lear 

that ,  in effect ,  Transnet  had a very strong case in the 20 

arbi t rat ion.  

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Is i t . . .  could i t  be that  you were looking for 

somebody who would tel l  you that  there was unfai rness in  

th is dismissal .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Chai r,  you are heading in the r ight  

di rect ion because even though the facts are not  as c lear  as 

the t ime of  these discussion but  I  th ink they do begin to 

indicate that  maybe the sanct ion of  dismissal  who was 

inappropriate.    

 And I  th ink that  law f i rm, Deneys Rei tz,  does begin to 

indicate that  there is r isk of  us los ing this case i f  we take i t  

to Transnet  Bargaining Counci l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   So let  us go onto 10 

Bowman Gi l f i l lan’s let ter,  dated the 24t h of  January at  page 

107.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And just  to fast- forward.   Let  us go to 

108 and to paragraph . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 108? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   To paragraph 3.3.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“The legal  team represent ing Transnet and the 20 

Bargaining Counci l  Arbi t rat ion including senior 

counsel  is sat isf ied that  even on Mr Gama’s own 

vers ion,  i t  is l ikely that  the sanct ion of  dismissal  wi l l  

be upheld as fai r  wi th the three separate charges of  

misconduct  of  which he has now admit ted to gui l t .  
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The chai rperson of  the inquiry  who reached this  

conclusion,  is a highly respect  senior counsel  and 

labour arbi t rator  who was in i t ia l ly proposed as 

arbi t rator by Mr Gama and whose in tegr i ty has never  

been cal led into quest ion. ”  

 3.4:  

“ In addi t ion,  Transnet and his legal  team are aware 

of  and are ready to present  in  the Bargaining 

Counci l  Arbi t rat ion further  facts and ci rcumstances 

that  show that  Mr Gama’s current  vers ion is fa lse in  10 

mater ia l  respects.  

This signi f icant ly aggravates the ser iousness of  the 

misconduct  and makes i t  more l ikely st i l l  that  the 

Bargaining Counci l  arbi t rator wi l l  f ind Mr Gama’s 

dismissal  to have been fai r. ”  

 And then at  paragraph 5,  Mr Sel inga was expressly  

asked to br ing this let ter to your  at tent ion.   Presumable he 

did so? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  th ink he did Chai r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right .   So here you know, the legal  20 

team represent ing Transnet at  the Bargaining Counci l  

Arbi t rat ion including senior  counsel  is  sat isf ied that  you are 

going to win,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  was not  music to your ears.    
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MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   I t  could not  have been music in  

your ears Mr Mkwanazi .   Could i t  have been? 

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  Chairman maybe not  but  do not  forget ,  

the br ief  is di fferent  to what Bowman Gi l f i l lan did.   The br ief  

is:   Look at  the unfairness of  fa i rness of  that  process and the 

sanct ion.   I t  is a d i fferent  br ief .    

 I  suspect ,  Bowman Gi l f i l lan would have stayed on this  

road and yet ,  a d i f ferent . . .   

 That  is why a di fferent  set  of  eyes is  useful  to  say:   10 

Please,  look into this.   Was i t  unfai r  in terms of  the process?  

I t  was fai r.   Was i t  unfai r  in terms of  a sanct ion and look into 

i t  in terms of  other simi lar case mat ters?   

 So this other. . .  the other f i rm, Deneys Rei tz,  were not  

requested to do the same thing that  Bowman Gi l f i l lan had 

done.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you know Mr Mkwanazi .   By this 

t ime, you would have known.. .  wel l ,  you knew that  the 

chairperson of  the discipl inary inqui ry who had come to the 

conclusion that  Mr Gama was gui l ty of  these three ser ious 20 

acts of  misconduct  and who had concluded that  each one of  

these three ser ious acts of  misconduct  would have just i f ied 

dismissal  on i ts own, was a senior counsel .    

 You would have known that .   Actual ly,  th is let ter says so 

and says:   An exper ienced senior counsel  and arbi t ra tor.  
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 Now this let ter te l ls  you that  Transnet ’s legal  team that 

Mr Todd is ta lk ing about includes a senior counsel .   And he 

says,  they too are of  the opinion that  Transnet has a st rong 

case.    

 So you al ready have those.   They are saying the same 

thing.   Why do you st i l l  want  to look for somebody who says 

something e lse?   

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is a di fferent  set  of  eyes on this  at  the 

part icular t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  is l ike Mr Mkwanazi ,  you and the board 10 

were bending over backwards to t ry and accommodate 

Mr Gama.  I t  is not  l ike you were looking at  the matter 

object ively.   I t  is  l ike you were bending over backwards to  

accommodate Mr Gama.  Or maybe to accommodate the 

shareholder min ister ’s incl inat ion because he had already 

said that ,  you know, the dismissal  was unfai r.   That  is how i t  

comes across.   You want to comment on that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  Chairman.  That  is how i t  comes 

across as wel l .   I  agree wi th you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You agree?  Okay alr ight .    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  then let  me then deal  wi th 

something else that  happened on the 24t h of  January.   Just  

to p lace in context .   Could I  ask you please . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Which? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . to go to Fi le 4,  Bundle 4?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 4.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page 6 of  your aff idavi t  or your  

declarat ion.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 6,  Bundle 4.   [poor connect ion – 

unclear]   Wait .   S ix. . .   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Chairman, I  am told there is a 

technical  problem and we need to break for a whi le.   Is  that  

r ight? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Let  us. . .  is there an indicat ion how long i t  

might  take? 10 

TECHNICIAN :    [ Indist inct ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    F i f teen? 

TECHNICIAN :    Ten.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ten.   Okay we have to adjourn because 

apparent ly there is some technical  problem.  Mr Mkwanazi ,  

we wi l l  adjourn and the technicians wi l l  te l l  us once the 

problem has been addressed.   We adjourn.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Thank you,  Chai rman.   

INQUIRY ADJOURNS  

INQUIRY RESUMES :  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  want  to 

take you to,  please,  to Bundle 4,  page 6,  part  of  your  

declarat ion.  

MR MKWANAZI :    H’m?  Page 6. . .  [poor connect ion – 
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unclear]   Yes? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You see that  at  paragraph 6.1,  you 

make reference there to KPMG and Nkonki .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then the next  sentence says:  

“The f i rst  report  was done quick ly as the informat ion 

was histor ical . ”  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“ I t  is that  f i rst  report  that  was used by the board in 10 

i ts del iberat ions. ”  

 Do you see that?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now, could I  ask you then to turn 

please to Bundle 2?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 2.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And i f  you turn up please page 380?  

These are pages who would have been inserted ear l ier 

today.  

MR MKWANAZI :    380? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Three,  eight ,  zero.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Are you there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So the Commission made a request  
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for informat ion on KPMG and then issued a summons in 

order to obtain the var ious reports.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And the reports at  KPMG produced.. .  

we know they produced a f inal  report  in November.   That  is 

at tached to your  declarat ion.   They produced two other  

reports.   The Progress Report  on the 24t h of  January.    

 That  you wi l l  f ind at  pages 380 running through to 400.   

And then they produced, and th is is  referred to in your  let ter 

to the Publ ic Protector which we wi l l  come to in a moment.    10 

 They produced an Inter im Report  at  page 401 dated the 

26t h of  Apri l  2011.   So a Progress Report ,  24 July.   Oh, sorry 

24 January.   An Inter im Report ,  26 Apri l  and then a Final  

Report  in November.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now you say in  your declarat ion that  

the f i rst  report  was done quickly and i t  is th is report  that  was 

used by the board.   Presumable,  you must  be referr ing to the 

report  of  24 January?  

MR MKWANAZI :    A report ,  they had done a report  by then.   20 

But  looking at  what I  am seeing here . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  looks l ikes i t  was not  on the 

24t h of  January.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  that  is my very point .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what was the f i rst  report  that  was 

used by the board in i ts del iberat ions?  Because th is report  

would not  have helped i t .   I t  is progress report  that  sets out  

the mechanics and the manner in which KPMG and Nkonki  is  

going to set  about  the ir  task.    

MR MKWANAZI :    My understanding,  besides this  report  

there was another  report  on Transnet ’s i r regular i t ies which is 

dated 2008 which I  had at  the t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  th ink you might  be 10 

confusing yoursel f .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The paragraph that  I  have read to you,  

says that  i t  was the f i rst  report  of  KPMG and Nkonki .  

 You know that  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no.   Ja,  i t  is a long t ime ago,  by the 

way,  in terms of  whatever we are talk ing about.   I t  is now 

nine years or so.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    And I  t ru ly thought that  th is report  here. . .  20 

by the way,  I  have never had this report .   I  only saw i t  today.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sorry . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  thought that  th is report  f rom page 401 

was actual ly publ ished before the end of  January.   Yes,  I  

thought that .  



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 176 of 247 
 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  that  is completely wrong.   You 

referred to th is report  in your  let ter  to the Publ ic  Protector 

and that  is in June.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Wait .   To the f i rst  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja. . .  I  am sorry.   I  am sorry,  Mr Mkwanazi .   

I  am sorry.   I  th ink you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink you are on the same page up to a 

certain point .   Mr Mkwanazi ,  you must  te l l  me i f  I  

misunderstand.   I  seem to understand you to see,  you 10 

concede that  the board could not  have had this  Inter im 

Report  which starts at  page 401.   I t  could not  have 

del iberated on that  in making the decision whether to  

re instate Mr Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  concede, yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You concede that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Because I  have never. . .  I  am seeing this  

for the f i rst  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    For the f i rst  t ime,  yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    But  I  was under. . .  yes.   I  was under the 20 

impression that  there was a report  towards the end of  

January 2011.   And besides,  there was another report  f rom 

Transnet Internal  Audi t  which I  had at  the t ime which talked 

about the so-cal led 30 ind ividuals who had done var ious 

things.   Ja,  but  even that ,  I  do not  have.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  no,  no.   Let  us take i t  step-by-step.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay you concede that  th is is not  the 

report  that  you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the board could have del iberated upon 

in making the decision to reinstate Mr Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is the Inter im Report .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    You accept  that  your aff idavi t  at  page. . .  

paragraph 6.1 talks about an Inter im Report  of  KPMG which 

might  suggest  i t  is  th is report .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You accept  that  one.   What the aff idavi t  

says,  cannot be correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is not  correct ,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   Then Mr Myburgh,  you want 20 

to take i t  f rom there? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Then you talked about an 

Internal  Audi t  Report  that  you say you had.   That  is the one 

at tached to your aff idavi t ,  correct?  Is that  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  i t  is not  there.   I t  was. . .  i t  is cal led 
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The Procurement I r regular i t ies at  TCP Procurement 

I rregular i t ies at  TFR, et  cetera.   I t  is a report  around the 

2008.  I  st i l l  do not  have that  report .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes but  that  was not  before the board.   

So what we . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  had the report .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  had the report  then.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What we do agree upon is that ,  as of  

the 16t h  of  February – and we are going to come to that  

board meet ing.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The 16t h of  February the board did not  

have any report  f rom KPMG/Nkonki .   Correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .   I  agree wi th you.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Now I  want to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Did the board as at  the 16t h of  February,  

have any report  before i t  at  a l l  which talked about how any 20 

employees had been deal t  wi th  in terms of  deviat ions or  non-

compl iance procurement procedures? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman,  there was a report .   For  some 

reason,  i t  has disappeared,  the one I  am talking to.   I ts t i t le 

could have been Transnet. . .  No.   Transnet I rregular i t ies by 
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Transnet Internal  Audi t  done in two thousand - actual ly,  two 

reports – done in 2008 and then there is another report .  

 Now for whatever reason,  those two reports are missing.  

And at  the t ime, i f  you recal l ,  there was this supply of  a lot  

of  informat ion to  my off ice by the organisat ion.   So I  do 

recal l  having seen one or two of  these reports.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now, I  understand your evidence 

insofar as i t  says you were aware of  such reports,  one or  

two.   Or you were in possession of  such reports.   But  are 

you sure that  those reports or one of  them, those reports  10 

were or one of  those reports was before the board at  the 

meet ing of  the 16t h of  February? 

MR MKWANAZI :    My recol lect ion,  there was a report  tabled 

to support  certain stat ist ics  of  al legat ions and 

condonements,  et  cetera,  et  cetera.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  hope somebody could just  [poor  

connect ion – unclear]  that  report .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you recal l  whether,  i f  there was such a 

report  before the board,  i t  d id deal  wi th the facts of  those 20 

other cases in order to be able to  compare l ike wi th l ike in 

regard to Mr Gama?  Because i t  cannot be useful  to just  look 

at  any case where there was non-compl iance.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Each case has to depend on i ts own 
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meri ts,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, you are correct .   I f  that  report  

would not  have compared. . .  would not  have l isted th is cases 

in comparison to Mr Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    But  i t  would have l isted simi lar 

i r regular i t ies,  the quantum of  the condonements,  et  cetera,  

et  cetera.   I t  does not  refer two reports,  yes.   Without  

referr ing to Mr Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay Mr Myburgh.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  we are lucky because we have 

got  aff idavi ts f rom many of  your fe l low d irectors and we wi l l  

see in t ime what they say.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  let  us start  wi th the board meet ing 

of  the 25t h of  January just  to fo l low the chronology.   I f  you 

please go to 51.  

MR MKWANAZI :    F ive,  one.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Of  Bundle 1 and to page 534.  

MR MKWANAZI :    534. . .   Page 543? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    543.   That  is part  of  the minutes of  a  

board meet ing on the 25t h of  January 2011.   

MR MKWANAZI :    F ive,  three,  four. . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And i f  you could p lease . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    534.   Okay.    
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Go to paragraph 4.1.6.    

MR MKWANAZI :    One point  s ix. . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    There is says the chai rman, which is 

you:  

“The chai rman stated that  he was current ly occupied 

wi th more than 30 cases wi th simi lar al legat ions to 

those level led against  Mr Gama.   

He indicated that  there was evidence that  there is a  

cul ture of  condonat ion of  exceeding delegat ive 

author i ty wi thin the company. ”  10 

 So yes,  that  is what you said.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  you gave no documents to your  

fe l low directors.   You to ld them that ,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    There was.   That  is why I  then. . .  A lso,  I  

f ind i t  interest ing that  I  get  th is minute today.   I  have never  

had i t .   That  is why then,  I  am keen to get . . .  what  date was 

this th ing?  [poor connect ion – unclear]    

 I  am keen to actual ly get  those reports by Transnet  

Group Internal  Audi t .   I t  was two reports.    20 

 And I  do recal l  that  I  based my 30 cases or so,  which 

were not  ident ical  to Gama’s because those cases never  

deal t  wi th [poor connect ion – unclear] ,  et  cetera.   Those 

cases were deal ing more wi th procurement issues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   But  the point  that  I  make Mr 
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Mkwanazi  is that  you d id not  give your fe l low di rectors any 

documents.   You simply told them that  you are occupied wi th 

these 30 cases,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cal l  i t  a. . .  on paragraph 41.4,  there was 

this document.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Procurement I r regular i t ies at  Transnet .   

There was another document as wel l .   But  i t  is th is document  

that  I  thought the board have had sight  of .   Where now I  was 

talk ing to th is l ist  of  30 simi lar cases,  i f  I  could use the word.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Then you could please go to 

paragraph 4.1.8?  Because I  want  to come to an important  

meet ing . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    But  not  hundred percent  simi lar.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  4.1.8 . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    4.1.8.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“The chairman assured the board that  the company 

was cooperat ing ful ly wi th the Publ ic Protector.    

He informed the board that  he had a d iscussion wi th  20 

Mr Gama on 22 January on a proposed set t lement 

agreement. ”  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“He advised the board that  the matter wi l l  be 
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del iberated on,  that  the Corporate Governance and 

Nominat ions Commit tee and then recommend to the 

board for approval  on 16 February.”  

 So that  was the route to  the 16 February meet ing.   F irst  

a meet ing of  the GCNC on the 3r d of  February,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So let  us go then to that  meet ing.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Which meet ing? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The meet ing of  the Corporate 

Governance and Nominat ions Commit tee on the 10 

3r d of  February.   Sorry,  before I  do that .   There are a few 

things I  need to deal  wi th.   There was another board meet ing 

af ter the 25t h of  January.   I t  was on the 1s t  of  February.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   What is i ts page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  me just  take you there.   Sorry,  just  

give me a second.  Those minutes are at  916 of  the same 

f i le.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 916? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    916.   Not  8916,  I  th ink.   916.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   And then i f  you could forward to  

918.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And i f  you have a look at  paragraph 

4.1.10 towards the top of  the page.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“The chai rman stated that  he was in set t lement  

discussions wi th Mr Gama.  He stated that  Mr Gama 

was only appeal ing the sentence that  was imposed.   

He added that  the commit tee was current ly  

rev iewing Mr Gama’s sentence and the proposed 

set t lement agreement wi l l  be presented to the board 

for approval   on 16 February 2011.”  

 Now, what commit tee are you referr ing to there?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  would be. . .  f i rs t ,  I  suspect  the Corporate 

Governance.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right .   So that  is  on the 

1s t  of  February.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now we know that  something very 

important  happened on the 2nd of  February.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And that  is,  Mr Todd.. .  Sorry,  is there 

something . . . [ intervenes]   20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Paragraph?  What paragraph? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am not  referr ing to . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    918? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am off  that  document Mr Mkwanazi .   

Perhaps you can just  concentrate on my quest ion,  please.    



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 185 of 247 
 

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   One second, Mr Myburgh.   Mr 

Mkwanazi? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  Chair? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh just  read f rom paragraph 

4.1.10 at  page 981.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  I  th ink ar is ing f rom that ,  he has a 

quest ion for you.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    My quest ion was.   What commit tee are 

you referr ing to there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  would have been the Corporate 

Governance to then come back to the board.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay thank you.   So Mr Mkwanazi ,  

that  is on the 1s t  of  February.   I  now want to move to the 

2n d of  February.   I  am off  that  minute now.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   On the 2nd of  February,  20 

Mr Todd produced his report .   You have seen that  report?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Could we please go to Bundle 3?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 3.   I  do not  have this,  the previous 

minute.   Bundle 3?  [wi tness in conversat ion wi th another 
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party]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page.. .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 3,  page 16? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page.. .  

MR MKWANAZI :    16? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    65.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh,  page 65.   Okay.   Keep the notes of  

that  bundle of  that  meet ing.   [wi tness in conversat ion wi th 

another party]   65,  yes? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  take i t  you received a copy of  th is 10 

report?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  th ink I  d id.   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  what  you mean you think you 

did?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  d id.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right .   So you wi l l  see that  i t  expands 

f rom 65 al l  the way through to 90.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Twenty-f ive pages of  the report ,  

correct?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  that  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A very comprehensive and detai led 

report .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    This also was not  music to your ears 
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because at  th is  point  in  t ime,  you were opposed to 

re instat ing Mr Gama, correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    [poor connect ion – unclear]  Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.   Did you ever read this report?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  d id.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    H’m.   And what impression did you 

gain?  Was this a report  of  a  competent  at torney,  someone 

who obviously who had a handle on the matter?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  i t  was.   I t  was.   I t  was,  ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Was there anything missing f rom this 10 

report  that  you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is comprehensive.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  is al l  there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When you read this report ,  d id i t  leave 

any room to conclude that  you were going to actual ly lose 

the arbi t rat ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  but  then that  did not  stop me f rom 

get t ing a second opinion on i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Which is why then I  approached [poor 

connect ion – unclear]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you note that  last  paragraph Mr 

Mkwanazi  on page 90,  namely paragraph . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id Chai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Page 90,  same page? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Paragraph 67.4.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Where Mr Todd says:  

“There would have to be compel l ing reasons not  to  

abide by the outcome of  a proper ly const i tuted 

discipl inary inquiry and the outcome of  the 

Bargaining Counci l  Arbi t rat ion mechanism that  is  

prescr ibed by law to determine a d ispute about the 10 

fai rness of  a dismissal . ”  

 You . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  read that  paragraph as wel l .   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You did? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Having read that ,  would you accept  that ,  

at  least  what these at torney was tel l ing Transnet  and the 

board was,  the outcome of  the discipl inary inqui ry is one that  

is fu l ly  just i f ied and to do anything to undo that ,  you would 

need very compel l ing reasons.   Is that  how you understood 20 

i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay al r ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   So that  is  on the 

2n d  of  February.   I  now want to come to the meet ing of  the 
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Corporate Governance and Nominat ions Commit tee on the 

3r d of  February.  

MR MKWANAZI :    What page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  would l ike you please to  go back to  

Bundle 1 and to turn up page 827.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Can you help me with Bundle 1?  [wi tness 

in conversat ion wi th another party]   Okay.   Page 827? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [No audible reply]   

MR MKWANAZI :    [wi tness in conversat ion wi th  another  

party]   Yes,  I  see this.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  those are minutes of  the meet ing of  

the Corporate Governance and Nominat ions Commit tee on 

3 February 2011.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Now Mr Mkwanazi ,  you were 

the chai rperson of  that  commit tee?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The other members were Ms Nyaka,  

Ms Tshepe and Mr Shaba, correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And we see under part ia l  at tendance,  

Mr Mapoma was present ,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now i f  you go to page 828 over the 

page, you wi l l  see there is a heading.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Turn over the page.  [wi tness in  

conversat ion wi th another party]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You wi l l  see . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is 808.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  over the page, please.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You wi l l  see there is a heading,  6.7,  

report  back f rom the advert  process.   I  mean, what was 

happening here is the posi t ion,  the vacant  posi t ion of  

Transnet GCE was being advert ised.  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you would accept  that  much of  

th is meet ing was dedicated to whether or not  Mr Gama 

should be al lowed to put  forward an appl icat ion.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Or for  his appl icat ion to be 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  we could then p lease go to page 

830?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And there at  paragraph 6.9 about 

hal fway down, invest igat ion by the Publ ic Protector.  



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 191 of 247 
 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“Mr Mapoma took the commit tee through senior  

counsel ’s opinion that  was obtained wi th regard to  

Mr Gama’s appl icat ion for the GCE posi t ion.   He 

highl ighted that  the legal  opinion was based on the 

fol lowing three issues.  

1.  Does the gui l ty verdict  against  Mr Gama exclude 

him from being considered in the current  GCE 

select ion process underway?  10 

2.  How does the pending appeal  decision affect  the 

board decision to interview or not?  

3.  Does the Publ ic  Protector complaint  current ly  

being deal t  wi th have a bear ing on the select ion 

process?”  

 Do you conf i rm that?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then the sub-paragraph:  

“Mr Mapoma informed the commit tee that  senior 

counsel ’s opinion was that  Mr Gama should not  be 20 

excluded f rom the current  GCE select ion process.   

Ms Tshepe indicated that  senior counsel ’s opinion 

was not  the same as the lawyers’ op inion.  

She stated that  the general  rule was that ,  in terms 

of  Clause 4.8.4 of  the company’s recrui tment  
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procedure,  the company may deviate f rom the pol icy 

i f  there are except ional  c i rcumstances that  warrant  a  

deviat ion. ”  

 Do you see that?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see that ,  Chai r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then I  am going to come back to 

that  opinion and that  c lause.  

“Mr Mapoma further  took the commit tee through the 

proposed set t lement agreement  between the 

company and Gama, stated that  there was no 10 

agreement on the fol lowing issues,  the date of  

re instatement,  the posi t ion to which Mr Gama would 

be reinstated,  et  cetera. ”  

 So essent ia l  to the business of  th is commit tee on the 

3r d of  February was this issue of  Clause 4.8.4 of  the 

recrui tment pol icy,  correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now could I  ask you please to now 

turn to Bundle 2?  Keep this bundle open where you are at  

f i le or Bundle 1 but  then open as wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 2,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bundle 2.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Bundle 2.   What page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page.. .  let  us f i rst  go to page 302.    

MR MKWANAZI :    302. . .   [poor connect ion – unclear]  302.   
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302,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Are you there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  am there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So this  is the recrui tment and 

select ion pol icy.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And let  me take you to. . .  no doubt you 

are fami l iar wi th th is.   Let  me take you please to Clause 

4.8.4 at  page 307.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  says that  at  483,  just  above that :  

“When determining whether a person is sui tab le 

qual i f ied for a job,  steps must  be taken to determine 

whether. . . ”  

 And then i t  sets i t  out .   And then 4.8.4. :  

“The candidate must  not  have been previously 

dismissed f rom Transnet or reasons relat ing to  

incapaci ty or misconduct . ”  

 Correct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And of  course,  the problem was that  

Mr Gama had been dismissed for conduct ,  r ight?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And the issue that  then arose before 

the commit tee is  whether one could depart  f rom 4.8.4 on the 
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basis of  Clause 2.   And Clause 2 you wi l l  f ind at  page 304.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Three,  zero,  four? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Three,  zero,  four.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  see Clause 2.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Under the heading scope.  

“This pol icy appl ies to a l l  job appl icants and 

employees of  Transnet .   Transnet may,  however,  at  

i ts so le discret ion deviate f rom the pol icy where 

necessary in respect  of  execut ive appointments. ”  

So tha t  was rea l l y  the  debate .   Do  you remember  tha t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Yes,  I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now Mr  Mapoma in  h i s  repor t  to  the  

commi t tee ,  as  we have seen,  spoke o f  a  sen ior  counse l ’s  

op in ion .   Le t  me take you to  tha t  op in ion .   You f ind  tha t  a t  

page 293 o f  the  same bund le .  

MR MKWANAZI :    O f  the  same,  293.   I  have got  t h is ,  yes .   

293,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  we go to  paragraph 13 a t  page  

297.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  i t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Counse l  sa id :  

“However,  c lause 2  o f  the  recru i tment  p rocedure  

prov ides tha t  Transnet  may a t  i ts  so le  d iscre t ion  

dev ia te  f rom the  po l i cy  where  necessary. ”  

The next  pa ragraph:  
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“However,  the  d iscre t ion  to  dev ia te  f rom c lause  

4 .8 .4  i s  no t  an  unconst ra ined one .   Th is  d i sc re t ion  

must  be  exe rc i sed a f te r  cons ide ra t ion  o f  a l l  the  

re levant  c i rcumstances.   Fur thermore ,  s ince  

Transnet  i s  an  o rgan o f  s ta te ,  dec i s ions taken by  

Transnet  a re  exerc i ses  o f  pub l i c  power  and  

there fo re  need  to  comply  w i th  the  m in imum 

thresho ld  o f  ra t iona l i t y.   Th is  requ i res  a  ra t iona l  

connect ion  be tween the  dec i s ion  taken and the  

reasons g iven fo r  i t . ”   10 

Do you see tha t?   And then i f  I  cou ld  take  you p lease to  

parag raph 19,  over  the  page,  one n ine .   A re  you the re?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  am there  bu t  there  i s  a  p rob lem 

wi th  the  sys tem.   I t  keeps dropp ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  am there ,  I  am on page –  you sa id  

297?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    298.  

MR MKWANAZI :    298.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 19.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am there ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Counse l  sa id :  

“A cruc ia l  fac t  to  be  taken in to  account  in  exerc ise  

o f  th is  d iscre t ion  is  Mr  Gama’s  fa i lu re  dur ing  the  

arb i t ra t ion  proceed ings to  cha l lenge the  f ind ings o f  
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m isconduct  made  aga ins t  h im by Ent robus(? )  SC.   

By no t  cha l leng ing  these fac tua l  f ind ings Mr  Gama 

imp l ied ly  concedes tha t  he  was gu i l t y  o f  

m isconduct .   I t  may we l l  no t  be  ra t iona l  fo r  Transnet  

to  in te rv iew a  cand ida te  who has conceded to  

hav ing  m isconducted h imse l f  in  car ry ing  ou t  o f  h is  

du t ies  as  Ch ie f  Execut ive . ”  

Do you see tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    May we l l  no t  be  ra t iona l .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And wou ld  you agree w i th  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay.   So le t  us  then have a  look a t  

the  dec is ion  o f  your  commi t tee .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay,  tha t  i s  f i l e  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    For  tha t  you need to  go  to  

…[ in tervenes]  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    F i le  1 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    To  bund le  1 ,  yes .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  can  p lease …[ in tervenes ]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 830.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    …di rec t  your  a t ten t ion  –  yes,  we 

have looked a t  830,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  go  831.  

MR MKWANAZI :    There  is  a  p rob lem wi th  sound.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.   Can you hear  me now? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Can you hear?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Can you hear  me now? 

MR MK WANAZI :    I  cannot  hear  Advocate  Myburgh.   I  can  

hear  the  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  I  am not  speak ing .   Can you 10 

hear  me?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate  I  can hear  you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  le t  us  go  p lease to   831  

and to  paragraph 6 .3 .13 .   A re  you there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Yes,  I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Dev ia t ion  f rom c lause 4 .8 .4 :  

“Ms Tshepe and Ms Nyaka s ta ted  tha t  the  cur ren t  

se t t lement  nego t ia t ions  w i th  Mr  Gama were  

ra t iona le  fo r  dev ia t ion  f rom c lause 4 .8 .4 .   Mr  

Sharma d i sagreed and s ta ted  tha t  i t  was not  in  the  20 

best  in te res ts  o f  the  organ isa t ion  to  dev ia te .   Mr  

Sharma’s  s ta tement  tha t  he  was unhappy w i th  how 

Mr  Gama’s  mat te r  was be ing  hand led .   He ind i ca ted  

tha t  he  was o f  the  v iew o f  tha t  the  commi t tee  was 

not  cons ider ing  the  best  in te res t s  o f  the  company 
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bu t  tha t  o f  an  ind iv idua l .   The commi t tee  vo ted  on 

whethe r  i t  shou ld  dev ia te  f rom c lause 4 .8 .4 ,  there  

were  th ree  vo tes  aga ins t  one in  favour  o f  

dev ia t ion . ”  

So what  we know… 

“…and then i t  was reso lved…”  

I  beg your  pardon .  

“…that  the  commi t tee  recommends  tha t  Mr  Gama be  

cons idered fo r  the  GCE se lec t ion  process. ”  

So who vo ted  in  favour  o f  dev ia t ion  was you,  Ms Nyaka and  10 

Ms Tshepe and aga ins t  i t  was Mr  Sharma.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now does  th is  m inute  re f lec t  any 

cons idera t ion  o f  the  adv i ce  tha t  you rece ived f rom counse l  

tha t  to  in te rv iew someone who had admi t ted  gu i l t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  does not  a t  face  va lue ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  does not  a t  face  va lue?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  i t  someth ing  tha t  you cons idered?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Because,  Advocate ,  on  the  o ther  s ide  –  
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no ,  I  do  concede  tha t  a t  face  va lue  i t  does not  bu t  there  

was th is  subcommi t tee  wh ich  was debat ing  th is  mat te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    And tha t  subcommi t tee  then  took a  

cer ta in  v iew tha t  th is  pe rson can be a l lowed  to  be  

in te rv iewed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes because o f  the  se t t lement  

negot ia t ions ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  there  is  jus t  a  cons idera t ion  o f  10 

the  se t t lement  negot ia t ions ,  there  is  no  cons ide ra t ion  o f  

the  fac t  tha t  i t  may not  be  ra t iona l  to  in te rv iew a  cand ida te  

who has conceded to  hav ing  m isconducted h imse l f  in  h is  

capac i ty  as  a  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i ce r.   I t  i s  a  g rea t  i rony,  

you are  ac tua l l y  se t t l ing  w i th  tha t  person.   Now 

cons idera t ion  is  g iven to  tha t ,  i s  i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  agree w i th  you,  Advocate .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t ,  you see,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i s  th is  

no t  rea l l y  the  game,  I  mean was the  t ru th  no t  o f  the 

pos i t ion  tha t  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma s t i l l  wanted Mr  Gama 20 

to  be  the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet  and in  o rde r  to  a l low 

h im to  th row h is  ha t  in to  the  r ing ,  the  f i rs t  th ing  he  needed 

to  do  was to  dev ia te  f rom 4 .8 .4  and tha t  tha t  i s  ac tua l l y  

why you were  se t t l ing  w i th  h im,  you were  ge t t ing  h im back  

so  he  cou ld  go  to  th is  h igh  o f f i ce .   I s  tha t  no t  ac tua l l y  the  
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ob jec t i ve?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  d isagree  w i th  tha t  s imp l ic i t y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Because you put  i t  as  i f  because 

Pres ident  Zuma a t  some s tage had wanted h im in  tha t  top  

pos i t ion  bu t  th is  pos i t ion  a t  tha t  cur ren t  t ime,  there  was a  

head hunter  who had been appo in ted  to  dea l  w i th  the  

cand ida tes  who  were  keen to  be  cons idered  fo r  tha t  

pos i t ion ,  so  he  wou ld  have competed w i th  o ther  cand ida tes  

in  te rms o f  su i tab i l i t y.   Yes,  f rom c lause 4 .8 .4  I  unders tand 10 

fu l l y  what  you a re  say ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  I  jus t  cannot  unders tand how 

you cou ld  dev ia te  f rom i t  in  the  c i rcumstances o f  th is  

mat te r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    We d id  dev ia te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  you  see,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  I  mean you  

d id  ind ica te  tha t  you were  l i s ten ing  to  Mr  Todd ’s  ev idence 

yesterday so  you  know a l l  the  th ings tha t  I  was say ing  and 

a t  some s tage I  d id  say tha t  par t  o f  the  reason why I  was 20 

ar t i cu la t ing  some o f  the  thoughts  tha t  were  c ross ing  my  

mind was prec i se ly  so  tha t  somebody l i ke  you who cou ld  be  

l i s ten ing ,  who wou ld  s t i l l  be  coming to  g ive  ev idence,  cou ld  

know what  sor t  o f  i ssues were  t roub l ing  me so  tha t  when  

you come to  tes t i f y,  you know,  you might  have thought  
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about  them and can address them.    

So i t  i s  a  t ransparent  way o f  look ing  a t  i ssues,  so  

you know what  i s  go ing  on  in  my mind,  you can address i t  

head on i f  you  can and i f  you cannot ,  you cannot ,  bu t  I  am 

not  h id ing  f rom you what  i s  go ing  on  in  my mind.  

So I  have d i f f icu l t y  w i th  the  –  I  have ser ious  

d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  the  who le  i dea o f  the  board  re ins ta t ing  

somebody who had occup ied  such  a  sen ior  pos i t ion  in  the  

organ isa t ion  and  who had been  found gu i l t y  o f  such 

ser ious ac t s  o f  m isconduct  and was not  cha l leng ing  those 10 

f ind ings,  you know,  accepted tha t  they were  cor rec t l y  made  

but  w i th  the  board  th ink ing  o f  re ins ta t ing  tha t  pe rson.   

But  now,  you a re  a l ready he re ,  as  th is  commi t tee ,  

a re  do ing  someth ing  tha t  contempla tes  tha t  th i s  person 

cou ld  ac tua l l y  be  promoted.   I  cannot  unders tand the  log ic  

un less  there  is  someth ing  e lse .    

But  in  te rms o f  the  fac ts  o f  the  case,  in  te rms o f  the  

process,  fa i r  p rocess to  wh ich  Mr  Gama had  been 

sub jec ted  and look ing  a t  the  ser iousness o f  h is  cont rac t ,  I  

am look ing  a t  th is  commi t tee  and  I  am say ing  no t  on ly  i s  20 

th is  commi t tee  th ink ing  o f  re ins ta t ing  Mr  Gama,  ac tua l l y  i t  

i s  th ink ing  o f  –  i t  seeks to  g ive  h im a  p la t fo rm to  go  and 

occupy an even h igher  pos i t ion  desp i te  the  fa i lu res  in  h is  

conduct .   How is  tha t  poss ib le?    

How is  i t  poss ib le  tha t  so  many  peop le  –  o r  the  
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peop le  in  th i s  commi t tee  and subsequent ly  in  the  board 

wou ld  th ink  tha t  th is  i s  cor rec t?   That  i s  my th ink ing ,  you 

know,  as  I  say  even yesterday and on o ther  days,  I  say  in  

the  hear ing  what  i s  go ing  on  i n  my mind because I  am 

be ing  t ransparent .    

I f  somebody want  to  address i t  and they can  

address i t  and say Cha i rperson,  I  see th is  i s  how you are  

th ink ing  bu t  here  is  anothe r  ang le  f rom which  you must  

look  a t  i t ,  then I  can look a t  i t  bu t  when i t  comes  to  th is  

i ssue I  have th is  ser ious d i f f i cu l t y,  what  can you say to  me 10 

about  i t?   

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  fu l ly  unders tand where  you  

are  coming f rom and yes,  we d id  debate  th is  c lause 4 .8 .4  

and yes,  Mr  Sharma was not  suppor t i ve  bu t  yes ,  the  o ther  

th ree  board  members ,  inc lud ing  myse l f ,  were  suppor t i ve  o f  

Gama be ing  in te rv iewed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Upon re f lec t ion ,  because you have had  

many years  s ince  th is  th ing  happened,  upon re f lec t ion ,  as  

you look a t  i t  now,  look  back,  d id  you th ink  i t  was the  r igh t  

th ing  fo r  th is  commi t tee  to  do?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  wou ld  have fo l lowed the  

adv ice  o f  Advocate  [ ind is t inc t ]  13 .03 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  why d id  you not  fo l low i t  a t  the 

t ime?  I  mean,  you asked fo r  h is  adv i ce .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    No,  we d id  ask  fo r  the  adv ice  and the  

t ime th rough debate  and look ing  a t  var ious issues o f  

debat ing  tha t  le t te r.   I  was o f  the  v iew tha t  he  mus t  g iven 

tha t  oppor tun i ty  bu t  do  no t  fo rge t  i t  i s  now n ine  years  la te r  

o r  ten  years  la te r  and then I  am asked the  same quest ion  

and I  am say ing  ho ld  i t ,  I  m igh t  have a  d i f fe ren t  v iew.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  perhaps you are  no t  in  the 

same pos i t ion  and tha t  you are  no t  as  compromised  as  you  

might  o therw ise  have been ten  years  ago.   I s  tha t  no t  so?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand,  Advocate ,  I  unders tand.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   Wel l ,  le t  us  then go to  th is  

debate  and I  assume you watched  Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence  

on te lev is ion  because we are  coming to  tha t  pa r t  o f  the 

t ranscr ip t  tha t  he  tes t i f ied  about .   Cou ld  you p lease  tu rn  to  

page 854 o f  bund le  1?   E igh t  f i ve  fou r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    854?  Okay,  I  have got  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And le t  me ask you to  d rop down to  

–  you see on the  le f t  hand s ide  the re  is  number ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    There  is  a  685 towards the  bo t tom.   20 

Can you jus t  go  up  two l ines  f rom tha t  and you see,  

Cha i rperson,  who  is  you rse l f ,  you say:  

“Can you comment  on  tha t ,  the  appea l  p rocess?”  

Do you see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  see tha t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you a re  ask ing  Mr  Mapoma to  

comment  on  tha t ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay.   Then le t  us  go  over  the  page  

to  855 and Mr  Mapoma says he  i s  no t  appea l ing  aga ins t  

the  f ind ing  o f  gu i l t ,  he  is  appea l ing  aga ins t  the  d ismissa l ,  

now I  sa id .    Do you see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ms Tshepe says:  

“Which  is  the  d i squa l i f i ca t ions.   Sor ry,  Sachs,  I  jus t  10 

want  to  unders tand wh ich  is  the  d i squa l i f i ca t ion?”  

And then Mr  Mapoma says:  

“R igh t ,  now adv ised the  Cha i r  to  say i f  we,  as  

Transnet ,  go  to  the  appea l…”  

That  we know is  the  arb i t ra t ion .  

“…and oppose the  appea l ,  we s tand a  very  good 

chance o f  w inn ing  tha t  appea l .   That  was my v iew a t  

the  t ime.   Where  I  am say ing  we are  no t  s t rong ,  

Dor is ,  i s  i f  we have to  exp la in  the  ra t iona l i t y  o f  why  

we are  se t t l ing .   I  do  no t  th ink  we are  on  ve ry  20 

s t rong grounds on tha t .   That  i s  my v iew but  on  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  p rocess i t se l f  and i f  we go and argue  

the  mat te r  on  appea l  we s tand a  very  good chance 

o f  succeed ing .   S iya  can w in  bu t  we can a lso  w in  as  

Transnet  bu t  we have a  very,  very  good case 
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aga ins t  h im there .   That  i s  why we sa id  le t  us  ra ther  

postpone to  24  Apr i l ,  Cha i r,  a f te r  another  hear ing  so  

tha t  we pursue  the  se t t lement  p rocess so  the  

d ismissa l…”  

And then Ms Tshepe jumps in .  

“Sor ry,  Cha i r,  I  am confused.   Then you have to  

exp la in  to  me why are  we se t t l ing  i f  we are  go ing  to  

w in  th is  case?”  

And what  do  you say,  Mr  Mkwanaz i?    

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  looks  l i ke  I  sa id :  10 

“We do not  know. ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we l l… 

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you mean you d id  no t  know why you  

were  se t t l ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  remember.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  do  no t  remember  say ing  tha t  bu t  yes ,  

th is  was taped.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.   So you must  have sa id  so .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  must  have sa id  so ,  ja .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  what  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And in  the  con tex t  i t  cou ld  on l y  mean 

you d id  no t  know why you were  se t t l ing .   I s  tha t  r igh t?   In  

the  contex t  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  …[ in te rvenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Because the  quest ion  wh ich  had jus t  

been asked …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  knew what  we were  t ry ing  to  se t t le .   

The issue was he was –  there  was a  content ion  on  the  

sanct ion .   So we were  dea l ing  w i th  the  sanct ion .   So yes,  I  

knew tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  I  am say ing  in  the  contex t  o f  

th is  d iscuss ion ,  i f  the  record ing  is  cor rec t  tha t  you sa id  we  10 

do not  know,  cou ld  i t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  reca l l  why I  cou ld  

have sa id  tha t ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i s  i t  no t  perhaps 

tha t  you were  caught  o f f  guard?  I  mean,  what  you cou ld  

no t  te l l  you r  fe l low d i rec to rs  here  is  why you were  se t t l ing .   

I s  i t  no t  because  you d id  no t  wan t  to  te l l  them I  am do ing  

th is  because I  have been to ld  to  by  the  m in is te r.   You cou ld  

no t  te l l  them tha t .   So you l i te ra l l y  were  gob smacked,  you 20 

d id  no t  know wha t  to  say because here  your  lega l  man had 

sa id  we are  go ing  to  w in  th is  case and in  fac t  he  appears  

to  have sa id  we l l ,  tha t  i s  why we postponed because we do 

not  want  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  know,  Mr  Myburgh,  
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whethe r  you wan t  to  take  h im s tep  by  s tep .   I  th ink  a l l  o f  

the  po in ts  you are  mak ing  are  impor tan t  bu t  you have got  

a l l  o f  them together.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   Ja .   No,  i t  i s  a lso  la te  in  the  

day,  I  do  apo log ise .  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you were  caught  here ,  

were  you not ,  because Mr  Mapoma,  the  pe rson who you  

had brought  in  to  dea l  w i th  th i s ,  had now to ld  your  fe l low  

board  members  you are  ac tua l l y  go ing  to  w in  th is  case.   I t  10 

pu t  you in  a  b i t  o f  an  awkward  pos i t ion ,  d id  i t  no t ,  because 

o f  cou rse  you had a l ready negot ia ted .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  so  you were  in  an  awkward  

pos i t ion ,  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  t rue .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    and you were  l i te ra l l y  gob smacked,  

you d id  no t  know what  to  say.   You were  caught  o f f  guard ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  ag ree w i th  you,  ja .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  abso lu te ly.   And then what  i s  

ins id ious,  I  pu t  to  you,  i s  look  how you changed so  qu ick l y  

a f te r  you g ive  i t  thought .   Though  Tshepe says –  you say  

we do not  know why we are  se t t l ing ,  Tshepe says:  

“But  Sachs says  we s tand a  very  good chance o f  
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w inn ing . ”  

And a l l  o f  a  sudden you say:  

“No,  i t  i s  f i f t y / f i f t y ”  

I  mean rea l l y,  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   I  mean honest ly,  i t  must  be  

embarrass ing  to  see th is .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Do not  fo rge t ,  my say ing  f i f t y / f i f t y  comes 

f rom a  Deneys Re i tz  op in ion  wh ich  we had seen.   I  am not  

sure  o f  the  t ime,  ja .   I  am not  sure  o f  the  da tes  as  we l l ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  tha t  i s  rea l l y  no t  my po in t ,  you 

went  f rom I  do  no t  know to  f i f t y / f i f ty  w i th in  a  sentence.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  means Mr  Mkwanaz i  you were  

say ing  the  s t rength  o f  you r  case  and  the  s t rength  o f  Mr  

Gama’s  case was more  or  less  the  same and  ye t  Mr  

Mapoma,  a  sen io r  lega l  person w i th in  Transnet ,  had jus t  

f in ished say ing  we have a  very,  ve ry  s t rong case and he i s  

a  lawyer.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  he  is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   And then Ms Tshepe says:  

“Then I  do  no t  unders tand why we are  se t t l ing . ”  

Then you say:  20 

“We do not  know. ”  

Then she says:  

“But  Sachs says  we s tand a  very  good chance o f  

w inn ing . ” ’  

Then you say i t  i s  f i f t y / f i f t y.   So f i f t y / f i f t y  i s  cont rary  to  
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what  Mr  Mapoma is  say ing .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You see,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you had a  

d i f fe ren t  agenda here  because se t t lement  was not  ra t iona l ,  

i t  cer ta in ly  was not  ra t iona l  in  re la t ion  to  your  p rospects  o f  

success,  you had  a  d i f fe ren t  agenda,  d id  you not?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  rea l l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .   Now what  rea l l y  shows up the  

board  is  the  next  parag raph.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  maybe before  tha t ,  Mr  Myburgh,  

jus t  in  the  parag raph,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  tha t  Mr  Myburgh read 

to  you where  Mr  Mapoma is  say ing  tha t  Transnet  has go t  a  

very,  very  good case aga ins t  Mr  Gama,  what  do  you say 

about  th is  s ta tement  by  h im where  he  says –  a f te r  say ing  

how s t rong Transnet  case is ,  he  says:  

“That  i s  why we sa id  l e t  us  ra the r  postpone to  the  

24  Apr i l ,  Cha i r,  a f te r  another  hear ing  so  tha t  we  

pursue the  se t t lement  p rocess. ”  

What  do  you say –  or  what  i s  your  comment  about  tha t  20 

s ta tement?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  sounds l i ke  a  cont rad i c t ion ,  Cha i rman,  

because a l though he does ind i ca te  tha t  we have a  good  

case,  he  then says le t  us  ra the r  postpone.   I t  sounds l i ke  a  

cont rad i c t ion .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Because when  you have a  good case 

you do not  want  to  postpone,  you want  to  f ina l i se  the  case.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  ready.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  ja .   I t  i s  a  cont rad ic t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am leav ing  i t  to  you,  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  say the  next  po in t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  i t  i s  a  cont rad i c t ion  un less  you  

know what  was happen ing  and the  las t  th ing  you wanted to  10 

was to  go  to  a rb i t ra t ion  and w in  because you wan ted the  

man not  on ly  re ins ta ted  but  you wanted to  g ive  h im  a  shot  

a t  becoming the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  and when you see  

i t  tha t  way,  i t  i s  no t  a  cont rad i c t ion  a t  a l l .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bu t  tha t  i s  no t  my s ta tement ,  tha t  i s  

S iyabu le la  Mapoma’s… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    yes .  

MR MKWANAZI :    He is  be ing  quoted,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  you see,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  he  knew 

what  you were  up  to ,  he  knew the  game because you had  20 

to ld  h im r igh t  a t  the  ou tse t  you had to ld  h im.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand where  you are  coming f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And tha t  was h i s  m indset ,  he  knew 

what  you were  do ing .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He knew tha t  you to ld  h im tha t  you 

had been ins t ruc ted  by  someone above the  m in is t ry  to  

re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And there fore ,  w inn ing  the  case  a t  the 

arb i t ra t ion  wou ld  de feat  the  who le  ob jec t  o f  Mr  Gama be ing  

re ins ta ted  as  you had been ins t ruc ted  accord ing  to  Mr  

Mapoma,  there fo re  i t  had to  be  postponed to  t ry  and se t t le  

because o therwise  we are  go ing  to  w in  th i s  case and Mr  

Gama wi l l  no t  come back.   What  do  you say?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You unders tand.  

MR MKWANAZI :    You log ic ,  Cha i rman,  makes –  log ica l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you are  ve ry  good a t  

s ide l in ing  issues .   I  mean,  the  po in t  i s ,  i t  i s  no t  –  the 

impor tance is  no t  tha t  i t  i s  log ica l ,  the  impor tance i s  tha t  i t  

i s  a lso  t rue ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    A lso ,  funny  enough,  I  s t i l l  do  no t  

unders tand wha t  Mr  Mapoma was say ing  w i th  th is  20 

sentence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   Wel l ,  le t  me …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  fu l l y  do  no t  unders tand.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  I  unders tand Mr  Mapoma to  be  

say ing  is  tha t  you cou ld  no t  go  to  a rb i t ra t ion  because Mr  
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Todd and h is  sen ior  counse l  was go ing  to  w in  tha t  and tha t  

then wou ld  have thwar ted  the  p lan  to  ge t  Mr  Gama 

re ins ta ted  and a lso  to  a l low h im to  have a  shot  at  

becoming the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive .   That  i s  wha t  he  is  

say ing ,  in  e f fec t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  unders tand  what  you are  say ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   And now on ly  i s  i t  log ica l  bu t  

i t  i s  a lso  t rue  because you had been ins t ruc ted  to  re ins ta te  

Mr  Gama,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Re ins ta te  i s  a  s t rong word .   Yes,  I  had 10 

been ins t ruc ted  to  look  in to  the  fa i rness/un fa i rness.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    O f  par t i cu la r ly  the  sanct ion ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cor rec t .   And here  your  ch ie f  lega l  

adv iser  was te l l ing  you tha t  you have got  a  very,  very  case.   

In  o ther  words,  tha t  the  sanct ion  is  fa i r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you had looked in to  i t  together  

w i th  h im and the re  is  h is  conc lus ion ,  r igh t?   So where  to  

f rom here?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Come aga in?   I  am not  sure  what  you 

want  me to  say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  me take you to  the  next  

parag raph.   You have sa id  –  so  Mr  Mapoma says go t  a  

very,  very  good case.   Ms Tshepe says we l l ,  then I  am 
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con fused,  you say I  do  no t  know,  then you say we have got  

a  f i f t y / f i f t y  chance.   Ms Nyaka ch ips  in  by  say ing :  

“ I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  le t  us  move f rom lega l  now.   

Because tha t  i s  the  p rob lem,  I  th ink  le t  us  move i t  

f rom lega l .   He has g iven h is  op in ion  wh ich ,  by  the  

way,  I  do  no t  agree w i th  necessar i l y,  i t  i s  h is  

op in ion .   I  have an op in ion ,  he  shares an  op in ion .   

Everyone here  has an  op in ion .   Now the  

accountab i l i t y  and dec is ion-mak ing  comes f rom th is  

commi t tee  and le t  us  dec ide  a t  th is  commi t tee  what  10 

we a re  dec id ing  on  th is  dev ia t ion . ”  

S t ra igh taway you  say:  

“Co l leagues,  I  w i l l  dev ia te  f rom c lause 4 .8 . ”  

Nyaka says:  

“ I  w i l l  do  the  same. ”  

Sharma says:  

“ I  w i l l  no t . ” ’  

You say:  

“We wi l l  record  i t . ”  

And there  we go,  th ree  aga ins t  one .   Now th is  Ms Nyaka,  i s  20 

she a  lawyer?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  do  no t  th ink  so .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .   I s  tha t  how th ings  rea l l y  

worked,  Mr  Mkwanaz i?   I  mean,  here  you have a  person 

say ing  look,  we have got  a  very,  very  good case.   You get  a  
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boa rd  member  say ing :  

“ I  am rea l l y  confused. ”  

You say I  do  no t  what  i s  go ing  on .   Then i t  down to  

f i f t y / f i f t y  and the  next  pe rson says le t  us  jus t  leave as ide  

th is  lega l  adv i ce ,  le t  us  vo te  in  favour  o f  dev ia t ion .   That  i s  

what  happened here .   I t  i s  incred ib le  what  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you accept  tha t  upon re f lec t ion  

and read ing  th is  i t  t ru ly  i s  incred ib le?   I  mean,  th is  is  –  th is  

i s  the  work  o f  the  Corpora te  Governance and Nominat ions  10 

Commi t tee  o f  Transnet .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  wh ich  you were  the  Cha i rperson.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You cou ld  on ly  have conducted 

yourse l f ,  I  want  to  pu t  to  you in  th is  way,  i f  you  had  

another  ob jec t i ve .   I s  tha t  no  so?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No because s t i l l  even i f  we had dev ia ted  

f rom c lause 4 .8 .4  there  was a  recru i tment  p rocess where  

th is  ind iv idua l  wou ld  have competed aga ins t  a  lo t  o f  o ther  20 

ind iv idua l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  a t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see,  when  you t r y  and f ind  a  

ra t iona l  exp lanat ion  fo r  someth ing ,  fo r  some dec is ion  and 

you cannot  f ind  i t ,  you  are  bound  to look  e lsewhere  and  
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say  okay,  there  i s  no t  log ica l  exp lanat ion  fo r  th is  dec i s ion ,  

so  why wou ld  these peop le  have done th is .   I  mean there  

are  a  number  o f  th ings tha t  s ince  th is  morn ing  we have  

asked you and you have responded,  we have d i scussed  

wh ich  i t  seems to  me s tep  by  s tep  make the  Board ’s  

dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama seem very  i r ra t iona l .   We 

wi l l  see  by  the  end o f  your  ev idence whether  tha t ’s  where  e  

w i l l  be  or  whether  we w i l l  be  a t  a  po in t  where  i t  seems 

ra t iona l ,  i t  can  be  unders tood and so  on ,  bu t  we go back to  

th is  pos i t ion ,  I  mean when we read th is  s ta tement  by  Mr  10 

Mapoma here  a t  page 855 where  he  te l l s  the  commi t tee  

how s t rong Transnet ’s  case i s ,  how good the  chances a re  

tha t  Transnet  i s  go ing  to  w in  th is  a rb i t ra t ion ,  and then he 

says tha t  i s  why we sa id  le t  us  ra ther  postpone the  mat te r  

to  the  24 t h  o f  Apr i l ,  so  tha t  we can pursue a  se t t lement  

p rocess.    

 Obv ious l y  tha t  means as  fa r  as  he  knows,  to  say the  

least ,  he  th inks  we th ink  th is  case is  no t  a  good idea,  

because o the rwise  when you th ink  you are  go ing  to  w in  and 

you want  to  w in ,  you are  go ing  to  say I  want  the  arb i t ra t ion  20 

tomorrow,  I  am ready you know,  bu t  now the  way he ta lks  i t  

i s  l i ke  tha t  wou ld  be  bad news i f  we w in ,  so  tha t  i s  why we 

have postponed,  we want  to  t ry  and se t t le  the  mat te r.  

 And then you go  back to  me s i t t ing  here  who have  

heard  ev idence o f  Ms Hogan,  I  have heard  par t  o f  the  
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ev idence o f  Mr  Zuma,  Ms Hogan  sa id  to  me the  Board ,  

wh ich  is  the  Board  be fore  your  Board ,  in te rv iewed  var ious 

cand ida tes  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  

Off i cer  fo r  Transnet ,  i t  was a  r igorous p rocess,  they  

recommended,  they came up w i th  a  cand ida te ,  they 

recommended the  cand ida te ,  the  cand ida te  was Mr  S ipho  

Masego,  and Ms Hogan put  the  cand ida te  be fo re  Mr  Zuma 

and sa id  I  suppor t  th is  cand ida te ,  the  Board  says th is  i s  

the  cand ida te ,  and she says Mr  Zuma sa id  my on ly  cho ice  

fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group Execut ive  Off i ce r  fo r  Transnet  i s  10 

Mr  Gama and she sa id  bu t  Mr  Gama has no t  been 

recommended by  the  Board ,  the  Board  th inks  he  s t i l l  needs  

some more  exper ience and in  any event  Mr  Gama is  fac ing  

some invest iga t ion ,  o r  some a l legat ions,  there  cou ld  be  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  process,  there  a re  se r ious a l legat ions aga ins t  

h im,  and then Ms Hogan says Mr  Zuma sa id  we l l  in  tha t  

p rocess,  in  tha t  case the  pos i t ion  w i l l  have to  remain  

un f i l l ed  un t i l  those processes have  run  the i r  course  and Ms 

Hogan wro te  a  memo or  a  le t te r  to  Mr  Zuma wh ich  se t  ou t  

exact ly  what  the  process had been,  bu t  the  pos i t ion  20 

remained unf i l l ed  un t i l  o f  course  your  Board  came in ,  bu t  

Ms Hogan gets  d ropped f rom cab ine t  a t  the  end o f  October.  

 Th is  i s  a t  a  t ime when Mr  –  those processes tha t  Mr  

Zuma had spoken to  Ms Hogan about ,  i f  Ms Hogan ’s  

ev idence is  t rue ,  had run  i t s  cou rse ,  Mr  Gama had been 
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found gu i l t y  and had been d ismissed,  bu t  he  had re fer red  

th is  d ismissa l  d ispute  to  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l .    Ms  

Hogan gets  d ismissed,  anothe r  Min is te r  ge ts  appo in ted ,  Mr  

G igaba,  and on your  ev idence i t  looks  l i ke  even before  he  

o f f i c ia l l y  s ta r ts  as  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  on  the  1s t  

o f  November,  he  meets  w i th  you,  bu t  even i f  you are  

m is taken tha t  i t  was in  October,  maybe i t  was ea r ly  

November,  i t  looks l i ke  one o f  the  f i rs t  th ings he  does,  the  

new Min is te r,  on  your  vers ion ,  i s  to  ca l l  you  and ra ise  

among o ther  mat te rs  the  Gama mat te r  w i th  you and says  10 

Mr  Gama’s  d ismissa l  was unfa i r  and on your  ev idence he  

ins t ruc ts  you to  rev iew the  Gama mat te r.  

 Obv ious l y  the  rev iew cou ld  lead to  Mr  Gama be ing  

re ins ta ted ,  o f  cou rse  i t  cou ld  lead to  someth ing  e lse ,  o ther  

than re ins ta tement ,  bu t  re ins ta tement  i s  one o f  the  th ings  

tha t  i t  cou ld  lead to .    You agree?   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  Mr  G igaba on your  ev idence in i t ia tes  

a  process in  te rms o f  wh ich  your  Board  must  re look a t  th is  

case o f  Mr  Gama.    You re look a t  tha t  case,  you look,  you  20 

ask  fo r  lega l  op in ions,  most ,  i f  no t  a l l ,  say  th i s  d ismissa l  

was fa i r  bu t  o f  course  the  Deneys Re i tz  one has got  a  

parag raph wh ich  says anyth ing  can happen when i t  comes  

to  sanct ion ,  and then I  sa id  to  you ear l ie r  on  the  way you 

and your  Board  were  hand l ing  the  mat te r  i t  appears  l i ke  
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you  were  bend ing  over  backwards to  accommodate  Mr  

Gama,  you unders tood when I  sa id  tha t ,  and then you are 

now in  th is  commi t tee ,  the  Governance and Nominat ions 

Commi t tee ,  what  a re  you ta l k ing  about?    You a re  ta lk ing  

about  whethe r  th is  man,  who was found gu i l t y  o f  such 

ser ious ac ts  o f  m isconduct ,  by  an  independent  

Cha i rperson,  who  cou ld  no t  have been par t  o f  any fac t ions 

w i th in  Transnet ,  Sen io r  Counse l ,  who ran  what  appears  to  

have been a  very  thorough process,  and Mr  Gama be ing  

rep resented by  a  s t rong lega l  team,  inc lud ing  sen ior  10 

counse l  in  tha t  p rocess,  and he was found gu i l t y  ou t  o f  tha t  

p rocess.    

You are  now say ing  in  e f fec t  look  even i f  we have  

not  taken h im back ye t ,  le t  h im run  fo r  the  h igher  pos i t ion .    

You have not  even taken h im back  to  h is  o ld  pos i t ion ,  bu t  

you are  ta lk ing  about  say ing  le t  h im run  fo r  a  h igher  

pos i t ion ,  i t  does not  make sense to  me,  un less  there  was 

rea l l y  an  agenda  to  br ing  Mr  Gama back,  tha t  i s  what  –  

those are  the  thoughts  tha t  a re  in  my mind,  and I  ment ion  

them to  you so  tha t  i f  you  have anyth ing  to  say to  me tha t  20 

cou ld  in f luence me d i f fe ren t ly  you can say so ,  bu t  tha t ’s  

what  seems to  come to  my mind to  say the  way th is  

commi t tee  is  ac t i ng ,  the  way th is  Board  is  ac t ing ,  i t  i s  l i ke  

i t  i s  he l l -bent  to  ge t  Mr  Gama back,  no t  on ly  to  h is  

p rev ious pos i t ion ,  bu t  they want  h im a t  the  top ,  they want  
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h im to  run  fo r  th is  pos i t ion .  

Now how do you seek to  be  par t y  to  the  poss ib i l i t y  

o f  p romot ing  to  the  h ighest  execut ive  pos i t ion  in  the 

company somebody tha t  has been found gu i l t y  o f  such  

ser ious ac ts  o f  m isconduct ,  how do  you do tha t  as  a  Board .  

 That  i s  what  I  cannot  unders tand,  i f  you  are  ab le  to  

make me unders tand i t  te l l  me.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i r  I  cannot  make you to  be  ab le  to  

unders tand i t ,  bu t  you r  ana lys is  i s  very  good.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You agree w i th  the  ana lys i s ,  o r  you  10 

unders tand i t?     

MR MK WANAZI :    Yes fu l l y  Cha i r,  I  unders tand i t  and I  

agree w i th  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you agree w i th  i t ,  okay.   Mr  

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   So tha t  i s  then the  3 r d  o f  

February.   I  wou ld  l i ke  now to  take  you back to  Bund le  2 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Two,  okay i t  mus t  be  tha t  one.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh  and Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  

w i tness and Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  lawyer  we are  a t  about  20 

quar te r  past  f i ve ,  le t  us  ta lk  about  how fa r  we can go,  I  can  

s t i l l  go  on  up  to  s ix  i f  eve rybody is  happy tha t  we do tha t ,  I  

am happy to  do  tha t ,  and then maybe a t  s ix  we can  – i f  we 

haven ’ t  f in ished we can ta lk  abou t  the  way fo rward  a t  tha t  

s tage.  
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 A re  you happy to  go  up  to  tha t  po in t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes cer ta in l y  f rom my s ide .  

CHAIRPERSON:    From your  s ide ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  lawyer  

what  i s  you r  s i tua t ion?   You are  f ine  w i th  tha t  okay  a l r igh t ,  

thank you.    Le t  us  cont inue then,  what  page o f  what  

bund le?    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bund le  2 ,  I  want  to  go  to  page 6  

p lease,  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 6?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 6 ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th i s  i s  a  d ra f t  se t t lement  agreement ,  

i f  you  go to  page  10 you w i l l  see  i t  was ac tua l l y  s igned by  

Mr  Gama on the  10 t h  o f  February.   There  were  a  coup le  o f  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A coup le  o f  m inor  amendments  were  

made and i t  was subsequent ly  s igned,  bu t  the  po in t  i s  tha t  

i t  was s igned before  the  Board  meet ing  on  the  16 t h  o f  

February,  co r rec t?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh,  p lease don ’ t  

fo rge t  your  po in t  tha t  you want  to  ask ,  I  jus t  want  to  

ment ion  one th ing  ar is ing  f rom what  I  sa id  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i .     

You see Mr  Mkwanaz i  go ing  back to  what  I  sa id  las t  t ime I  
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sa id  Mr  Zuma has den ied  Ms  Hogan ’s  ve rs ion  tha t  he  sa id  

h is  on l y  cho ice  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group CEO is  Mr  Gama.   

I  don ’ t  know wha t  f ind ing  I  w i l l  make in  the  end,  bu t  i f  Ms 

Hogan ’s  ve rs ion  is  t rue  then i t  seems tha t  the re  may be  

room for  somebody to  say Mr  Zuma wou ld  have been qu i te  

d isappo in ted  in  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Gama was d i smissed,  and  

had been d ismissed because tha t  ru led  h im out  o f  the 

runn ing  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group CEO,  and i t  may we l l  be  

tha t  the  new Min is te r  had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  h im  and he 

might  have men t ioned tha t  there  was th is  i ssue o f  Mr  10 

Gama,  and he needs to  look  in to  i t .   He might  no t  have  

sa id  he  shou ld  be  re ins ta ted ,  bu t  he  m ight  have sa id  he  

shou ld  look in to  i t  and maybe tha t  i s  why he ins t ruc ted  you 

to  rev iew i t .  

 You unders tand tha t?    But  I  am not  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand fu l l y.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am not  say ing  tha t  i s  so ,  bu t  I  am 

look ing  s imp ly  a t  the  va r ious vers ions and look ing  a t  what  

was happen ing  and t ry ing  to  make  sense o f  what  seems to  

have been happen ing .  20 

 Thank you,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes thank you.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Thank you Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  the  po in t  I  was mak ing  is  tha t  

th is  agreement  i s  s igned by  Mr  Gama on the  10 t h  o f  
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February,  now you need o f  course  some lega l  adv i ce  to  se l l  

th is  to  the  Board ,  i t  i s  to  tha t  lega l  adv ice  tha t  I  want  to  

tu rn  now p lease.    Would  you go to  page 12,  and you wou ld  

have seen these documents ,  on  Monday the  14 t h  o f  

February,  so  the  Board  meet ing  was on the  16 t h .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mapoma sends to  Sbu Gule  th i s  

emai l :  

“Sbu the  Cha i r  has asked tha t  we prepare  a  two-

pager  fo r  h im fo r  the  Board  meet ing .   I  have s ta r ted  10 

the  process,  p lease look a t  the  a t tachment  and  

f ina l i se /se t t le . ”  

Do you accept  tha t  you asked fo r  th is  two-pager?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And do  you a l so  Mr  Mapoma’s  

ev idence tha t  tha t  was the  two pager,  and you can  tu rn  to  

page 3  ea r l ie r  in  th is  bund le ,  tha t  was the  adv i ce  tha t  you  

sought  i f  you  look a t  parag raph 4  o f  the  consu l ta t i on  no te  

where  you had sa id  tha t  what  you  were  look ing  fo r  was an 

op in ion  se t t ing  ou t  tha t  there  was some unfa i rness towards 20 

Mr  Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI :     That  i s  cor rec t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You sa id  he  was t ry ing  to  f ind  here  

in  th is  memo some unfa i rness.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  what  we do know is  tha t  Mr  

Mapoma in  h is  two-pager  does not  dea l  w i th  the  un fa i rness 

o f  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l ,  does he?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman can you repeat ,  the  sound was 

a  l i t t le  b i t  poor  there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  you  have regard  to  Mr  Mapoma’s  

two-pager  . . . .  

MR MKWANAZI :    There  is  a  p rob lem wi th  sound.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  take  a  shor t  b reak wh i le  t hey are  

a t tend ing  to  the  sound.   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cer ta in ly  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:  Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes cont inue Mr  Myburgh,  I  am to ld  the  

sound is  f ine  now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So r ry  I  beg your  pardon.   Mr  

Mkwanaz i  what  I  wanted to  exp lo re  w i th  you is  tha t  in  Mr  

Mapoma’s  two pager  nowhere  does he say tha t  Mr  Gama’s  20 

d ismissa l  was unfa i r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  th ink  he  says tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  a l r igh t ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  t ake  you  

p lease to  paragraph 7  o f  h is  two pager  a t  page 13.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 13,  okay I  am there .   
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So i t  says :  

“The cu r ren t  Transnet  Board  commenced i t s  du t ies  

on  13 December.   The Cha i rman o f  the  Board  w i th  

the  suppor t  o f  the  shareho lde r  Min is te r  has w i th in  

h is  r i gh ts  and ob l iga t ions dec ided to  rev i s i t  the  

mat te r  o f  the  d i sc ip l inary  proceed ings aga ins t  Mr  

Gama.   Th i s  dec i s ion  was in fo rmed by  a  number  o f  

reasons. ”  

And then u l t imate ly  those reasons lead to  the  so lu t ion  

be ing  a  proposed se t t lement  and we know tha t  the  10 

proposed se t t lement  was re ins ta tement .   Cor rec t?         

MR MK WANAZI :    Wel l  what  page  is  tha t ,  Bund le  2  page 

13?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Paragraph …[ in tervene]  

MR MKWANAZI :    4  a t  the  bo t tom there?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay,  yes  I  see i t .   I  see  i t ,  thank you.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  the  po in t  i s  tha t  the  dec is ion  to  

rev i s i t  the  d isc ip l inary  proceed ings was done not  to  rev iew 20 

or  to  look  a t  bu t  to  rev is i t  was done w i th  the  suppor t  o f  the  

shareho lder  Min is te rs .   I s  tha t  r igh t?    

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then what  Mr  Mapoma does is  

he  l i s ts  a  who le  lo t  o f  th ings,  there  was a  Pub l ic  P ro tec tor  
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compla in t ,  9 ,  there  i s  r i sk  o f  l i t i ga t ion  10 ,  a  jud ic ia l  

p rocess he  says i t  i s  ex t remely  s low,  11 ,  there  have been 

ac t ing  appo in tment ,  12 ,  ac t ing  appo in tments  good  

corpo ra te  governance re la t ing  to  ac t ing  appo in tments .   Mr  

Gama is  a  h igh ly  exper ienced execut ive .  And 15,  we  

cont inue to  incur  lega l  cos ts .   

Nowhere  does he  say th i s  d ismissa l  i s  un fa i r,  does  

he?      

MR MKWANAZI :    He does not ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  tha t  –  were  you surp r ised or  a re  10 

you su rpr i sed?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  am not  surpr ised yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  so  now th is  was not  the  two 

pager  you were  look ing  fo r,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  so  he  passes i t  on  someone 

then had to  f i l l  i n  the  gaps.   So he passes th is  on to  Deneys 

Re i tz  we know,  a l r igh t  …[ in tervene ]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  page 13 they were  asked 20 

to  se t t le  o r  f ina l i se  i t  and the  next  day Mr  Sangon i  says:   

“Dear  a l l  p lease  herewi th  the  document  wh ich  Mr  

Mapoma sent  us  yesterday w i th  ou r  amendments . ”  

Now the  on ly  d i f fe rence between Mr  Mapoma’s  two pager  

and Deneys Re i t z ’s  now two and a  ha l f  pager  a re  the  
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add i t ions  o f  new paragraphs 10 and 11 wh ich  you f ind  a t  

page 17.   Would  you agree w i th  tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  agree.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  th is  i s  what  they say a t  10 :  

“ In  the  arb i t ra t ion  be fore  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  Mr  

Gama has cha l lenged the  appropr ia teness o f  the  

sanct ion  o f  d i smissa l .   The issue  o f  sanct ion  is  a  

very  complex  and perp lex  mat te r  to  wh ich  there  is  

no  c lear  and s t ra igh t  fo rward  answer.   Th is  i s  

demonst ra ted  by  amongst  o ther  cases the  10 

ce lebra ted  case o f  S iduma vs  Rustenburg  P la t inum 

Mines in  wh ich  the  Labour  Cour ts  and the  

Const i tu t iona l  Cour t s  on  the  one hand,  Supreme 

Cour t  o f  Appea ls  on  the  o ther  came to  a  d i f fe ren t  

conc lus ion  on  sanct ion .   The o ther  cases dea l ing  

w i th  the  issue o f  sanct ion  wh ich  a lso  demonst ra te  

the  complex i t y  o f  cons idera t ion  fo r  an  appropr ia te  

sanct ion  o f  the  Shopr i te /Checkers  cases in  wh ich  

the  fac ts  in  the  two separa te  cases we s im i la r  bu t  

the  Labour  Appea l  Cour t  in  each  case came to  a  20 

d i f fe ren t  conc lus ion .   In  one case the  f ind ing  o f  the  

Labour  Appea l  Cour t  was endorsed by  the  Supreme 

Cour t  o f  Appea l . ”  

Wel l  tha t  i s  no t  par t i cu la r ly  he lp fu l  by  i t se l f ,  i s  i t?      

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  i s  jus t  l ike  what  you migh t  f ind  in  

tex tbooks,  i t  says  we l l  reasonab le  peop le  may emot iona l l y  

have d i f fe ren t  v iews o f  sanct ion  in  g iven a  par t i cu la r  se t  o f  

fac ts .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  i t  does not  say  anyth ing  in  

re la t ion  to  Gama’s  case.   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No i t  does not ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  then we are  down to  one s ing le  

parag raph and i t  compr i ses  o f  two sentences:  10 

“ I t  i s  acco rd ing ly  our  v iew. ”  

Now I  do  no t  know where  the  accord ing ly  comes f rom 

because I  cannot  see how i t  can fo l low f rom 10:  

“But  i t  i s  accord ing l y  our  v iew tha t  there  is  a  

p robab i l i t y  tha t  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  o r  a  cour t  

cons ider ing  the  appropr ia teness o f  the  sanct ion  o f  

d ismissa l  o f  Gama may reach the  conc lus ion  tha t  

d ismissa l  was no t  appropr ia te  hav ing  regard  to  the  

cha l lenge on sanct ion  advanced  by  h im.   In  tha t  

ins tance the  cour t  may e i ther  award  compensat ion  20 

to  Mr  Gama or  f ind  tha t  a  lesse r  sanct ion  ought  to  

have been imposed and  there fore  order  

re ins ta tement . ”  

There  is  no  de f in i t i ve  adv ice  the re  a t  a l l ,  i s  there?   They  

say we l l  X  may happen o r  Y may happen.   Cor rec t?       



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 228 of 247 
 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  c rea tes  doubt ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So but  tha t  i s  the  po in t  and you 

landed up opt ing  fo r  an  op in ion  o f  two sentences rea l l y  

tha t  a t  most  c rea tes  doubt  and you opted to  fo l low tha t  

op in ion  ins tead  o f  the  25-page op in ion  o f  Mr  Todd  

unders tandab ly.   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  so  a t  most  a l l  th is  does is  

c rea te  doubt  bu t  i t  does not  te l l  you  why,  i t  does  not  say  

why.     10 

MR MKWANAZI :     That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i  i t  i s  ex t raord inary  are  

you go ing  to  advance before  th is  Commiss ion  tha t  you  

leg i t imate ly  and honest ly  se t t led  Mr  Gama’s  case because 

you thought  you  had prospects  o f  success a t  a rb i t ra t ion  

sure ly  you cannot  advance tha t  p ropos i t ion ,  on  the  

s t rength  o f  th is  two sentence “op in ion ” .   Mr  Mkwanaz i?       

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  no ,  no  I  am there  and a lso  do  not  

fo rge t  i t  con t inues to  ind i ca te  pa ragraph 12,  13  e tce tera  i n  

te rms o f  the  need  to  come to  someth ing .     20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  bu t  none o f  tha t  has any  

bear ing  on  p rospects  o f  success.   What  you were  look ing  

fo r  was an op in ion  tha t  shows some unfa i rness so  tha t  you 

cou ld  persuade  your  Board  members  to  agree to  the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama a t  the  Board  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h  
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o f  February  you  yourse l f  sa id  tha t .   Th i s  i s  the  best  

. . . [ in te rvenes]       

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  t rue .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  does not  show unfa i rness i t  shows  

some doubt .   Cor rec t ,  tha t  i s  a l l?   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Hmm,  oh Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay a l r igh t ,  you get  th is  op in ion  be ing  

expressed in  th is  paragraph.   I t  i s  –  i s  does not  say  -  we l l  10 

when you look a t  i t  somet imes i t  is  d i f f i cu l t  to  say  what  i t  

does say and what  i t  does not  say  bu t  on  the  one  hand i t  

says :  

“There  is  a  p robab i l i t y  tha t  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  

o r  Cour t  cons ide r ing  the  appropr ia te  method o f  the  

sanct ion  o f  d ism issa l  o f  Mr  Gama may reach the  

conc lus ion  tha t  d ismissa l  was not  appropr ia te . ”  

But  i t  does not  te l l  you  why the re  was a  probab i l i t y.    

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  does not ,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  jus t  an  unsubstant ia ted  s ta tement  20 

there  was a  probab i l i t y  bu t  i t  does not  say  wha t  i s  the 

bas is  fo r  the  v iew tha t  there  was  a  probab i l i t y,  i t  does not  

te l l  you  tha t .      

MR MKWANAZI :    No i t  does not ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then o f  cou rse  i t  says :  
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“There  is  a  p robab i l i t y  tha t  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  

o r  a  cour t  cons ider ing  the  appropr ia teness o f  the  

sanct ion  o f  d ism issa l  o f  Mr  Gama may reach the  

conc lus ion  tha t  d ismissa l  was not  appropr ia te . ”  

I t  does not  even beg in  to  say here  are  some o f  the  th ings  

wh ich  i f  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  o r  a  Cour t  were  to  go  tha t  

rou te  tha t  i t  wou ld  base i t s  v iew on.   I t  does not  even beg in  

to  say tha t .   You accept  tha t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  tha t  Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    So  then one is  bound to  say why wou ld  10 

somebody o f  your  exper ience,  because you were  qu i te  

exper ienced you had even been corpora te  execut ive  o f  th is  

en t i t y  yourse l f  many years  prev ious ly,  you are  exper ienced 

in  co rpora te  mat te rs  you are  exper ienced in  dea l ing  w i th  

i ssues,  I  am sure  you wou ld  have dea l t  w i th  lo ts  o f  

d ismissa l  mat te rs  a t  one s tage or  another  as  execu t ive  or  

g roup execut ive .    

Why wou ld  you pre fer  th is  op in ion  as  the  op in ion  on  

wh ich  you wou ld  base your  dec i s ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama 

as opposed to ,  one,  the  op in ion  g iven by  Mr  Todd,  you 20 

wou ld  have heard  when he gave  ev idence here ,  he  is  a  

spec ia l i s t  labour  lawyer.   Of  cou rse  I  th ink  Deneys Re i tz  

a lso  are  spec ia l i s ts ,  bu t  he  gave an op in ion  tha t  you read 

and you see as  re f lec t ing  qu i te  an  app l i ca t ion  o f  m ind on 

var ious issues.   Do you agree?      



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 231 of 247 
 

MR MKWANAZI :    Agree Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  and you were  a l so  aware  o f  the 

op in ion  f rom Webber  Wentze l  wh ich  sa id  the  process was 

fa i r.    

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am aware  o f  tha t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    You were  aware  tha t  the  Cha i rpe rson o f  

the  d isc ip l inary  enqu i ry  who came to  the  conc lus ion  tha t  Mr  

Gama’s  sanct ion ,  the  sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l  was a  fa i r  one,  

was a  sen io r  counse l ,  a  labour  lawyer  h imse l f .    

You were  aware  o f  a l l  o f  tha t ,  so  the  quest ion  tha t  10 

Mr  Myburgh was  ask ing  is  how does one exp la in  your  

re l iance on th is  quest ionab le  op in ion  wh ich  is  not  

mot iva ted  in  any  way when you have th is  o ther  cer ta in ly  

look ing  a t  Mr  Todd ’s  one because i t  i s  here  we l l  I  have 

read i t  i s  you know i t  shows somebody who has app l ied  h is  

m ind to  a l l  the  issues and o f  course  he had the  benef i t  tha t  

he  had been hand l ing  th is  mat te r  f o r  about  two years  or  so .   

So why wou ld  you pre fe r  th is  one?        

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman as  I  ind ica ted  much  ear l ie r  

tha t  one se t  o f  eyes w i th  tha t  was needed I  tend to  agree  20 

w i th  you tha t  th is  was a  weak submiss ion  and I  th ink  we 

gave Mapoma tha t  feedback as  we l l  and wh ich  is  why then  

t r ied  to  augment  i t  bu t  even the  augmented one Cha i rman  

i t  i s  a  weak submiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  aga in  i t  i s  l ike  you know tha t  there  is  
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th is  op in ion  wh ich  is  cor rec t  wh ich  say th is  d ismissa l  was  

fa i r  bu t  i t  i s  l i ke  you keep on want ing  another  one tha t  w i l l  

a l low you to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama tha t  w i l l  say  someth ing  

e lse .   You know you see th is  one  i t  says  tha t  there  is  th is  

p robab i l i t y,  you see i t  p rov ides no  reasons fo r  th is  

p robab i l i t y,  p rov ides no  bas i s  bu t  no th ing  says to  your  

m ind look le t  us  go  back to  tha t  op in ion  wh ich  we  cannot  

fau l t ,  Mr  Todd ’s  one,  we cannot  fau l t  because as  I  

unders tand i t  you have not  been  ab le  to  say we  had a  

prob lem wi th  tha t  op in ion ,  i sn ’ t  i t?     10 

MR MKWANAZI :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You cou ld  no t  fau l t  i t .   

MR MKWANAZI :    No I  cou ld  no t  fau l t  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  one asks the  quest ion  why d id  

you not  and the  Board  ac t  on  the  bas is  o f  th is  op in ion  f rom 

Mr  Todd tha t  you cou ld  no t  fau l t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman as  I  have ind ica ted  we needed 

a  se t  o f  d i f fe ren t  eyes because t rue  had we asked Mr  Todd 

my in te rpre ta t ion  is  he  had an op in ion  a l ready and because  

we wanted a  d i f fe ren t  se t  o f  eyes  we then asked Deneys  20 

Re i tz  and yes i t  i s  no t  a  de ta i led  op in ion  bu t  i t  c rea ted  

some doubt  as  to  when we go to  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  

p rocess o f  whether  we w i l l  w in  or  no t ,  ja  i t  d id  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  the  d i f f i cu l t y  i s  tha t  you yourse l f  

have ind i ca ted  tha t  th is  op in ion  was weak.    
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  agree Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was weak you  have accepted tha t .   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  have accepted.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was not  mot iva ted  i t  d id  no t  p rov ide  a  

bas is  you know for  o r  i t  d id  no t  show you th is  i s  the  bas i s  

on  wh ich  i t  i s  g rounded you know and I  wou ld  have  thought  

tha t  i f  you  and the  Board  in  seek ing  to  ge t  somebody e lse ’s  

op in ion  o ther  than the  op in ions tha t  you a l ready go t  wh ich  

we say ing  the  d ismissa l  was fa i r.    

I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  i f  you  remained open 10 

minded as  to  whether  you wou ld  re ins ta te  o r  you wou ld  

se t t le  o r  you wou ld  no t  se t t le  I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  

when you got  th is  op in ion  you rea l i sed tha t  i t  was weak 

compared to  th is  o ther  op in ion  f rom Bowman Gi l f i l l an  and 

you saw tha t  i t  was not  even mot iva ted  I  wou ld  have 

thought  tha t  you wou ld  say look i f  we ac t  on  the  bas i s  o f  

th is  op in ion  we are  open ing  ourse lves to  ser ious  a t tack .   

The op in ion  tha t  we shou ld  ac t  on  is  th is  one tha t  we 

cannot  fau l t  tha t  i s  what  I  wou ld  have expected you go  

a long w i th  tha t  tha t  wou ld  be  a  reasonab le  th ing  to  do .         20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Agree Cha i rman.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  the  Board  d id  no t  do  th i s .   

MR MKWANAZI :    The Board  went  w i th  i t s  op in ion ,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay Mr  Myburgh.   

MR MKWANAZI :    And even the i r  augmented op in ion  was 
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s t i l l  weak.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  o f  course  sure ly  s i t t ing  he re  

now look ing  a t  th is  you wou ld  accept  wou ld  you  not  you 

ought  have to  ac ted  in  te rms o f  the  op in ion  g iven  by  Mr  

Todd.   

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman maybe not  because as  a  new 

Board  coming in  you needed a  d i f f e ren t  se t  o f  eyes  on  th is  

i ssue par t i cu la r l y  on  the  issue o f  sanct ion  ja  and tha t  i s  a l l  

tha t  the  Board  was look ing  a t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No but  I  am no t  sure  tha t  I  unders tand  10 

tha t  you see when you put  i t  l i ke  tha t  i t  g ives  the  

impress ion  tha t  you wanted a  d i f fe ren t  se t  o f  eyes so  to  

speak and you were  go ing  to  take  what  they say,  what  

those lawyers  say take  the i r  v iew wi thout  eva lua t ing  i t  

yourse l f  and see ing  whether  i t  was sound.   Whereas i f  the 

approach was we  want  to  hear  what  they have to  say bu t  

we are  no t  go ing  –  we w i l l  on ly  ac t  we w i l l  eva lua te  bo th  

op t ions i f  they  a re  no t  they are  no t  the  same.   We wi l l  

eva lua te  bo th  and we w i l l  ac t  on  what  we be l ieve  is  sound  

tha t  i s  what  I  wou ld  have expec ted.   I  shou ld  no t  have 20 

expected tha t  o f  the  Board?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  agree w i th  your  ana lys i s  we 

d id  no t  take  the  two op in ions and put  them s ide  by  s ide  

and debate  them s ide  by  s ide ,  we debated th i s  one.    

CHAIRPERSON:    And we l l  I  guess –  and dec ided to  go  
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a long w i th  i t  even though you rea l i sed i t  was weak  and i t  

was not  resonat ing .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay Mr  Myburgh.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja  thank you a l r i gh t  we l l  so  now we  

know tha t  th is  i s  weak.   I  jus t  wan ted to  f ind  ou t  f rom you 

what  d id  you do w i th  th is  weak op in ion  d id  i t  serve  be fore  

the  Board  because tha t  i s  no t  someth ing  tha t  i s  c lear  to  

me?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I f  I  reca l l  i t  wou ld  have served  in  the 10 

corpo ra te  governance commi t tee .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  there  is  no  co rpo ra te  

governance commi t tee  be fore  the  16 t h  you prepared  th is  fo r  

the  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h .   Cou ld  th is  serve  be fore  the  Board  

…[ in tervene]  

MR MKWANAZI :    There  was a  meet ing  on  the  -  wa i t  there  

is  two meet ings on  the  16 t h ,  there  was a  meet ing ,  a  very  

shor t  meet ing  i t  cou ld  have been  a  corpo ra te  governance  

jus t  be fore  the  Board  to  cons ider  th is  repor t .      

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  th is  op in ion  serve  be fore  the  20 

Board  on  the  16 t h…[ in tervene]  

MR MKWANAZI :    On the  16 t h ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Remember  your  ob jec t i ve  you to ld  

your  a t to rneys on  the  22n d  o f  January  i s  tha t  you need  

some f r iend ly  adv ice  so  tha t  you can persuade the  Board  
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to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama a t  the  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h  o f  

February.    

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you present  th is  two and a  ha l f  

pager  to  the  Board  a t  the  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h  o f  February?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  th ink  I  d id  o r  even a t  the 

corpo ra te  governance meet ing  jus t  be fore  the  Board .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You th ink  you d id?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  wou ld  have to  fo l low the  aud i t  

t ra i l .   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  th is  i s  ve ry  impor tan t  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  because we need to  know was i t  on  the  s t rength  

o f  th is  op in ion  and I  am loa thed to  ca l l  i t  tha t  because the  

adv ice  is  two sen tences and i t  i s  unreason . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman i t  was on the  adv i ce  o f  th is  

op in ion ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  bear  w i th  me so  the  Board  

dec ided to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama on the  s t rength  o f  th is  

op in ion .   I s  tha t  r igh t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  was th i s  ever  then put  on to  -  I  

have not  seen i t  in  i t s  f ina l  fo rm was i t  pu t  on to  the  

Transnet  le t te rhead o r  –  I  mean you can te l l  us  what  d id  

you do w i th  th is  because Mr  Mapoma sa id  he  sent  i t  to  you.      

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  i t  was tab led  I  do  no t  reca l l  in  what  
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fo rm but  i t  was tab led .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  bu t  was i t  tab led  as  a  Transnet  

op in ion ,  your  op in ion ,  was i t  tab led  as  a  Deneys Re i tz ,  in  

what  fo rm was i t  tab led?   

MR MK WANAZI :    I  am not  sure  now I  w i l l  have to  ask  Mr  

Mapoma myse l f  o r  t ry  and look a t  the  aud i t  t ra i l  o f  the  

documents .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bear ing  in  m ind Mr  Mapoma was not  

a t  the  Board  meet ing  Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence is  tha t  he  

gave i t  to  you.   So what  d id  you do  w i th  i t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  was tab led .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay and you say…[ in tervene]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure  in  what  fo rm whether  as  a  

Deneys Re i t z  op in ion  o r  as  an  emai l  f rom Mr  Mapoma but  i t  

was tab led .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  you see tha t  makes i t  so  much 

worse .   A re  you suggest ing  tha t  the  commi t tee  may have 

dec ided th is  mat te r  on  the  s t rength  o f  h is  adv i ce  wh ich  was 

not  even on Deneys Re i tz  le t te rhead?    

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  who was –  so  you present  th is  

op in ion  to  the  Board  and I  am sor ry  I  am press ing  you on  

th is  bu t  whose adv ice  d id  you present  i t  as?    

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  have  presented  i t  as  adv ice  

th rough group lega l  bu t  I  was aware  tha t  i t  came th rough  
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Deneys Re i tz .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you presented i t  as  the  adv i ce  o f  

g roup lega l?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  who had consu l ted  Deneys Re i tz .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  was on ly  a  few days be fore  tha t  Mr  

Mapoma had to ld  some o f  those  very  d i rec tors  the  same 

d i rec tors  tha t  you  had a  very,  very  good case.   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  mean honest ly  Mr  Mkwanaz i  th is  i s  

no t  leg i t imate  is  i t  no t  I  mean I  do  no t  know why you  do not  10 

jus t  accept  tha t  you had another  agenda.    

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no  tha t  i s  what  was presented to  the  

Board .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Th is  i s  exact ly  what  was presented to  

the  Board ,  Mr  Mapoma’s  submiss ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you accept  Mr  Mkwanaz i  a t  leas t  now 

you know we  have been  dea l ing  w i th  th is  f rom th i s  morn ing  

bu t  you were  l i s ten ing  to  Mr  Todd ’s  ev idence yesterday I  

mean the  quest i on ing  you fo l lowed i t  and maybe you 20 

l i s tened to  Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence as  we l l .   A t  leas t  as  you 

s i t  there  now do you accept  tha t  the  Board ’s  dec is ion  and 

your  dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama in  these c i r cumstances  

does not  make sense.      

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman we appo in ted  Deneys Re i tz  to  
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look  i n to  cer ta in  aspects  o f  the  sanct ion  in  te rms o f  the  

Transnet  Barga in ing  Counc i l  p rocesses and th i s  i s  the  

op in ion  they came up w i th .   I  had a  consu l ta t ion  w i th  them 

and  th is  i s  the  op in ion  they came up w i th  and I  used tha t  

op in ion  even a t  Board  leve l .   I  agree w i th  you  tha t  the  

op in ion  compared  to the  op in ion  o f  Mr  Todd is  weak  I  fu l l y  

agree w i th  you and wh ich  is  why  then we requested tha t  

there  must  be  a  fo l low-up submiss ion  based on the  same 

op in ion  wh ich  came in  someth ing  tha t  i s  da ted  22n d  

February  2011 bu t  i t  i s  bas ica l l y  the  same op in ion .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  you must  be  ta lk ing  about  Deneys 

Re i tz  repor t  da ted  22 February  2011.      

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s  t ry ing  to  supp lement  what  they had 

g iven to  Mr  Mapoma.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Go to  page 19 o f  the  same bund le .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  am on page 19.   

CHAIRPERSON:    You see tha t  I  a  repor t ,  i t  says  repor t  fo r  

Transnet  on  se t t lement .     

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  on  a  Deneys Re i tz  le t te rhead and i t  20 

is  da ted  22 February  and i t  goes up to  page 22.   I s  tha t  the  

document  tha t  you say augmented these two…[ in tervene]      

MR MKWANAZI :    A f te r  the  Board  meet ing ,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:    A f te r  the  Board  meet ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay so  be fo re  the  Board  mee t ing  the  

augmenta t ion  was not  there .   

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  was not  there ,  yes  Cha i rman.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you see now i t  seems to  me tha t  you  

and your  Board  were  so  he l l  ben t  on  re ins ta t ing  Mr  Gama 

tha t  when you had the  o ther  document  tha t  had th is  op in ion  

say ing :  

“That  there  i s  a  p robab i l i t y  tha t  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  o r  a  Cour t  cons ider ing  the  appropr ia teness 

o f  a  sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l  o f  Mr  Gama may reach  10 

the  conc lus ion  tha t  d ismissa l  was not  appropr ia te . ”  

That  when you had an op in ion  th is  op in ion  wh ich  was in  

your  v iew g iv ing  you some leeway to  se t t l ing  the  mat te r  

and get t ing  Mr  Gama back bu t  you rea l i sed tha t  i t  was  

weak,  you thought  no  there  needs to  be  augmenta t ion  o f  

th is  op in ion  bu t  we w i l l  make the  dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  h im,  

Mr  Gama,  the  augmenta t ion  can  come back tha t  can be  

done la te r.   I s  tha t  r igh t?    

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then o f  course  the  augmenta t ion  

rea l l y  makes your  case worse  and not  be t te r  now le t  me 

show you why.   So i f  you  go to  page 19 th i s  i s  where  you 

f ind  the  augmented op in ion  22  February.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   
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CHAIRPERSON:    What  page,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 19 o f  Bund le  2 .   

CHAIRPERSON:    One n ine?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    One n ine ,  so  the  f i rs t  one and a  ha l f  

pages jus t  se t s  ou t  what  happened dur ing  the  negot ia t ions  

then have a  look a t  and read  in to  the  record  p lease  

paragraph 1 .1 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Parag raph…[ in te rvene]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  now the  augmented improved 

opinion.   Please read that  paragraph.  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .   I  must  read that  

paragraph? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes p lease into the record.  

MR MKWANAZI:    

“There are var ious opinions which have been 

obtained f rom reputable f i rms of  at torneys 

wi th regard to the prospects of  success of  Mr 

Gama in successful ly chal lenging his  

dismissal  by the company.   Al l  the opinion 

including ours which we gave af ter  perusing 20 

documents perta ining to the discipl inary 

inquiry were of  the view that  Mr Gama’s 

chances of  successful ly chal lenging his  

dismissal  are not  good. ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So here you are told.  



16 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 285 
 

Page 242 of 247 
 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  have read.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja.  Wel l  that  is what I  am saying i t  

makes your case so much worse because in the augmented 

opinion now Deneys Rei tz te l l  you about opinions f rom 

reputable f i rms al l  of  which have come to the conclus ion that  

Mr Gama’s prospects of  success are not  good.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Effect ively saying Mr Gama has no case.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  that  st i l l  you carr ied on.  

CHAIRPERSON:   How do you set t le?  How do you reinstate 

him?  How do you give him ful l  back pay?  Of course how do 10 

you even undertake to pay his legal  costs?  I t  is – i t  is just  

something that  is  so d i ff icu l t  to understand Mr Mkwanazi .   

Except  i f  one says there was some other agenda that  the 

board was pursuing in want ing to get  Mr Gama back.   I t  was 

not  the quest ion of  was there some unfai rness in his  

dismissal?  I t  was not  just  a quest ion of  are we l ikely to lose 

the case in the arbi t rat ion?  I t  was other considerat ions.   

Can you understand why – what I  am saying? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  understand what you are saying 

Chairman.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Can you faul t  i t?  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  cannot fau l t  i t  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi  just  to f in ish on this.   I f  

you go to page 21 you say this is an at tempt to augment.    

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  under the heading of  Sanct ion that  

is prec ise ly the same paragraph that  was in – that  was – that  

paragraph there is paragraph 10.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And the last  paragraph was paragraph 

11.   There is no improvement.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  seems that  Deneys Rei tz were not  

able to improve thei r  advice.  

MR MKWANAZI:   But  there is no improvement.   I  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you know why? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree there is no improvement – i t  is the 

same.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  i t  could not  be improved upon 

because i t  seems that  they were not  of  the mind that  the 

dismissal  was unfai r.   In fact  there is a massive cont radict ion 

is there not  between what you f ind in 1.1.  20 

MR MKWANAZI:   There is.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what you f ind in 4.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  despi te that  you pushed on.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct  Chai rman.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Chairperson I  see that  i t  is now s ix 

o’clock.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes how much more t ime do we st i l l  need? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink I  st i l l  need qui te a bi t  of  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Qui te some t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Because I  have yet  to go to the 

essence real ly of  Mr Todd’s evidence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And that  is that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   None of  these three charges were the 

things that  were real ly capable of  being condoned.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And in  order to pursue that  

examinat ion I  would obviously need to analyse the f indings 

of  the Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then go and deal  wi th that .   So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  Mr Mkwanazi  can come back on 20 

Monday.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  let  me – let  me f i rst  check wi th – f rom 

yoursel f .   From your side are you st i l l  ab le to maybe add 

another hour or another th i r ty minutes or you have been 

standing the whole day.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  must  th ink about  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  is becoming increasingly di ff icul t  Mr 

Chair  I  must  be honest .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No,  no that  is f ine.   So you would 

suggest  that  i f  possibly he comes back on Monday? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight  maybe we could start  ear ly? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  would be.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   [ Inaudible] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Mkwanazi  the at torney and Mr 

Mkwanazi  the wi tness i t  seems that  we should adjourn now.  

I  know that  – I  th ink we are al l  seated except  Mr Myburgh he 

is the only one who has been standing the whole day.   We 

need to think about  that .   But  he – he suggests that  we could 

cont inue on Monday morning.   Would that  be f ine wi th you?  

Let  us start  wi th the lawyer.  

ADV MKWANAZI:   Obviously we have not  consul ted on this  

and I  wonder Chai r  i f  perhaps you could give us a f ive 20 

minute break just  to clar i fy our [00:05:18] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

ADV MKWANAZI:   Just  three minutes here nothing longer 

than that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Mkwanazi  the wi tness you are f ine – 
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you would be f ine wi th that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  th ink I  am avai lable Chai rman yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay al r ight .   Okay.  

ADV MKHWANAZI:   Chair  can I  suggest  that  the reason I  

wanted to consul t  was actual ly [not  audible] .   But  i f  he is 

avai lab le Chair  we wi l l  by al l  means avai l  ourselves because 

[not  audible] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja I  do not  know why there is  always 

di ff icul t  in hearing you.   The l ine or  recept ion is bad but  you 

st i l l  require – you st i l l  – you are st i l l  asking for a f ive 10 

minutes break or you say 

ADV MKWANAZI:   No Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is f ine.  

ADV MKHWANAZI:   No Chai r  we are conf i rming that  we wi l l  

avai l  ourselves.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh you are conf i rming okay.  

ADV MKHWANAZI:   In the interest  of  [ inaudible] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .  

ADV MKHWANAZI:   The only suggest ion we would want to 

add Chai r  is that  we would requi re addi t ional  informat ion 20 

f rom the commission.   But  could [ inaudible] .   We wi l l  be 

avai lab le for that  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay shal l  we start  at  9:00 on Monday is  

that  f ine? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes certainly Chai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay al r ight .   We are going to  adjourn then 

and then we wi l l  cont inue on Monday at  n ine o’clock.   We 

adjourn.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Thank you Chai rman.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 19 OCTOBER 2020 


